
 

 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 

BOARD OF VISITORS 

 

BOARD OF VISITORS MEETING 

December 12, 2018 

Merten Hall, Fairfax Campus 

 

AGENDA  

 
 

8:00 a.m. – 8:30 a.m. Continental Breakfast 
(Room 1205) 

 

8:30 a.m. – 8:55 a.m.           Executive Committee 

(Room 1201)     

 

9:00 a.m. – 9:55 a.m.                 Audit Committee 
 (Room 1203)    

     

10:00 a.m. – 10:55 a.m.            Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee 
(Room 1201) 

 

11:00 a.m. – 11:50 a.m.              Development Committee  
(Room 1203)     
 

11:00 a.m. – 11:50 a.m.  Research Committee  
(Room 1204)                           

           

11:55 a.m. – 12:50 p.m.             Finance and Land Use Committee  
(Room 1201)      

 

12:50 p.m. – 1:30 p.m.      Lunch  
(Room 1202)       

     

 

BOARD OF VISITORS MEETING AGENDA 

 

Merten Hall, Room 1201 
 

1:35 p.m.   I. Call to Order 
 

1:35 p.m.  II.        Approval of the Minutes (ACTION ITEMS)  

A. Executive Committee Meeting Minutes for October 10, 2018 

B. Meeting Minutes for October 10, 2018 
 

1:35 p.m. – 1:45 p.m. III. Rector’s Report  
 

1:45 p.m. – 2:05 p.m. IV. President’s Report   

 

2:05 p.m. – 2:20 p.m. V. Provost’s Report    
    



 

 

VI.  Committee Reports  
 

2:20 p.m. – 2:25 p.m.   A.    Development Committee 

             

2:25 p.m. – 2:30 p.m.   B.    Audit Committee 
 

2:30 p.m. – 2:35 p.m.   C.    Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee   

 

2:35 p.m. – 2:40 p.m.   D.   Research Committee  

 

2:40 p.m. – 2:45 p.m.   E.    Finance and Land Use Committee  

1. Schematic Design Review for IABR Clean Room (ACTION ITEM) 
  

2:45 p.m. – 3:30 p.m. VII.   Closed Session  

A. Public Contract  (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.29)  

B. Gifts, Bequests, and Fundraising Activities (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.9) 

C. Consultation with Legal Counsel pertaining to actual or probable litigation (Code of 

VA: §2.2-3711.A.7)  

D. Consultation with Legal Counsel regarding specific legal matters requiring the 

provision of legal advice (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.8)  

E. Personnel Matter (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.1)  

F. Honorary Degrees and Special Awards (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.10)  

3:30 p.m.              VIII.   Adjournment 

 

No public comment will be taken at this meeting. 

 



 

 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 

BOARD OF VISITORS 

 

Meeting of the 

Executive Committee 

December 12, 2018 

8:30 – 8:55 a.m. 

 

           Merten Hall, Fairfax Campus 

         Room 1201 

 

AGENDA  
 

 

I. Call to Order 

 

II. President’s Comments 

 

III. Closed Session  
 

A. Public Contract  (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.29)  

B. Gifts, Bequests, and Fundraising Activities (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.9) 

C. Consultation with Legal Counsel pertaining to actual or probable litigation 

(Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.7)  

D. Consultation with Legal Counsel regarding specific legal matters requiring 

the provision of legal advice (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.8)  

E. Personnel Matter (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.1)  

F. Honorary Degrees and Special Awards (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.10)  
 

 

 

IV. Adjournment 

 

 

 

 

 

No public comment will be taken at this meeting. 

 



 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF VISITORS 

 
Audit Committee 

December 12, 2018 
Merten Hall, Fairfax Campus 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

 

II. Approval of Audit Committee Minutes  
 A. Approval of Committee Minutes for October 10, 2018 Meeting (ACTION)  

 
III. New Business  

 A. Auditor of Public Accounts Discussion 
 

 

 B. Enrollment Update 
 

 

IV. Reports  
 A. Report of Approved Waivers of Contractual Conflicts of Interest 

 
 
 

 B. Office of University Audit Summary Report  
 

V. Adjournment  
 

 



DRAFT – Subject to Revision 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
OF THE BOARD OF VISITORS 

 
October 10, 2018 

Merten Hall 
 

MINUTES 
 
 

PRESENT: Chair Rice; Vice Chair Moreno; Visitors Blackman, Hazel and Petersen. 
 
Rector Davis; Provost and Executive Vice President Wu; Senior Vice President 
Davis; Associate Vice President Dade; Director French; Vice President-Finance 
and Budgeting Kemp; Vice President and Chief Information Officer Smith; 
University Counsel Walther; Chief Ethics Officer Woodley; Assistant Vice 
President-Safety, Emergency, and Enterprise Risk Management Zobel; Student 
Representatives Keatinge and Pettine; University Auditor Dittmeier; and 
Associate University Auditor Watkins. 
 

ABSENT: Visitor Purvis. 
 
 

I. Chair Rice called the meeting to order at 8:31 a.m. 
 

II. Closed Session 
 

 Visitor Hazel MOVED and Visitor Blackman SECONDED that the Committee 
go into Closed Session under the provisions of Section 2.2-3705.2.4 to discuss 
critical infrastructure vulnerability assessment information. There was no 
discussion.  
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE. 
 
Visitor Hazel MOVED and Rector Davis SECONDED that the committee go 
back into public session and it was further moved that by ROLL CALL VOTE 
affirm that only public business matters lawfully exempted from the open 
meeting requirements under the Freedom of Information Act were heard, 
discussed, or considered in the Closed Session, and that only such business 
matters that were identified in the motion to go into Closed Session were heard, 
discussed, or considered in the Closed Session. 
 
Roll call was taken with all present members responding in the affirmative.  
 

III. Approval of Minutes 
 

 Chair Rice called for a motion to approve the minutes of the May 3, 2018 Audit 
Committee meeting.  The motion was MOVED by Visitor Hazel and 
SECONDED by Visitor Blackman.  
 



AUDIT COMMITTEE 
October 10, 2018 
Page 2 
 

 

V. Reports 
 

 A. Office of University Audit Summary Report 
Mr. Dittmeier reviewed with the Committee the Office of University Audit 
Summary Report.  He described the three audit reports and six audit memos 
issued since the last meeting.  Management continues to make progress to 
remediate 21 outstanding audit issues.  He reviewed the status of in-progress 
and planned audit and investigative projects. 
 

 B. Review of Office of University Audit Planning 
Mr. Dittmeier reviewed with the Committee the Office of University Audit’s 
process for determining audit priorities in a flexible, risk-based manner using 
a frequently refreshed audit risk assessment.  The Committee concurred with 
this approach for establishing risk-based audit plans. 
 

VI. Adjournment 
 

 Chair Rice declared the meeting adjourned at 9:23 a.m. 
 

 
  

MOTION CARRIED with four affirmative votes and Vice Chair Moreno 
abstaining. 
 

IV. New Business  
 

 A. Approval of Audit Committee Charter 
The Committee discussed the Audit Committee Charter, including minor 
edits proposed to ensure the charter continues to be fully aligned with the 
Board’s by-laws.  Visitor Blackman MOVED and Vice Chair Moreno 
SECONDED that the Audit Committee Charter be approved.  
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE.  

 
 B. Approval of Office of University Audit Charter 

Mr. Dittmeier reviewed with the Committee the Office of University Audit 
Charter.  He also confirmed the organizational independence of the Office of 
University Audit.  After discussion, the Committee concurred with Mr. 
Dittmeier’s organizational independence confirmation.  Visitor Petersen 
MOVED and Visitor Hazel SECONDED that the Office of University Audit 
Charter be approved.  
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE. 

 



AUDIT COMMITTEE 
October 10, 2018 
Page 3 
 

 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Edward R. Dittmeier 
Secretary pro tem 



ITEM NUMBER:  III.A. 
 

Auditor of Public Accounts Discussion 

PURPOSE OF ITEM: 
 

Brief the Audit Committee regarding the upcoming financial 
statement audit for the year ended June 30, 2018. 
 

NARRATIVE: 
 

The Commonwealth’s Auditor of Public Accounts is 
responsible for auditing the accounts of every state 
department, officer, board, commission, institution, or other 
agency handling any state funds.  Among other things, the 
Auditor of Public Accounts determines that state agencies are 
providing and reporting appropriate information on financial 
and performance measures. 
 
Karen Helderman, Audit Director, is representing the Auditor 
of Public Accounts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACTION: 
 

Receive briefing and discuss. 

 



ITEM NUMBER:  III.B. 
 

Enrollment Update 

PURPOSE OF ITEM: 
 

Brief the Audit Committee regarding the university’s 
processes and approaches for managing enrollment levels. 
 

NARRATIVE: 
 

David Burge, Vice President for Enrollment Management, 
will review with the Committee the university’s approach to 
managing levels of student enrollment.  Among other things, 
he will review historic, current, and projected enrollment 
trends; potential risks which might impact projected levels of 
enrollment; and management’s processes for monitoring and 
limiting the impact of such potential risks. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACTION: 
 

Receive briefing and discuss. 

 



Enrollment Update
Audit Committee  December 12th, 2018



AGENDA:

WHY IS ENROLLMENT IMPORTANT TO MASON?

WHAT ARE THE MARKET REALITIES?

HOW ARE ENROLLMENT LEVELS MANAGED?



Why Is Enrollment Important?

 100,000 Career-Ready 
Graduates

 Access Mission

 Improve financial 
position



What We 
Offer

Tell the 
Market

Deliver on 
Promises

Existing/New 
Programs

Honors 
College

Study Abroad

Washington DC

Purchase 600k+ 
leads

Representatives
(some regional)

Common 
Application

SalesForce CRM

Mason IMPACT

Student Exp. 
Redesign

LifeCycle
CRM

Build Affinity

Mason’s Strategic Enrollment Planning



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

Fall 2018 Census Actuals:

37,757 Overall 30,072 Virginia 7,685 Out-of-State



Students, 
Faculty & Staff

Classrooms, 
Labs, & 
Offices 

Residence 
Halls, Dining, 
& Recreation

Convening 
Space/Parking

Non-Resident InvestmentsRevenue and Resource Implications

Investments Predicated on achieving SmartGrowth Targets



GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 7

FY 2024 – Strategic Plan, Enrollment and Vision for the Future

FY 2018
Base Year

FY 2024
6 Years of Growth

Facilities

Faculty & Staff

Enrollment

100,000 Graduates by 2024
7,000 New Students 
5,300 on Ground

Maintain R1 Status

Maximize Use of Existing Assets
Peterson Hall – 2018
Robinson Hall - 2022

$250M New Gross Revenue
Moderate Tuition Increase



GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 8

FY 2024 – What will it take to get there?

FacilitiesFaculty & Staff

Auxiliary: Student Centers, 
Student Life, Recreation

Transportation & Parking

IT: WiFi, $2.5m per 1,000 
students; $10M, $60M 
infrastructure, $6M base

How Accommodate Growth?
Shared Offices
Off-Campus Leasing

Space Utilization Study 
Class Scheduling

Fridays/Summer
Private Sector Housing
Dining Hall Expansion

Skyline Conversion
The Globe Expansion

Projected 6 Year Growth

Faculty 60 T/TF annually →360

Temp 15 annually → 90

All Other 75 annually → 450

Student Services



WHAT ARE THE MARKET REALITIES?



Market Reality #1
The changing number of high school graduates.



2030
Nation: -4.0%2020

Nation: -0.1%

Compared to 2013
by State

2025
Nation: +4.7%



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

NATIONAL BRAND RECOGNITION, FRESHMEN

Admits, summary of the last three years



Freshmen
Competitors by Market

Northeast Market
Fall 2014 Fall 2015 Fall 2016

1 University of Maryland - College Park University of Maryland - College Park University of Maryland - College Park
2 Penn State Penn State Penn State
3 University of Delaware Towson University Towson University
4 Towson University University of Delaware University of Delaware
5 American University University of Maryland - Baltimore Co. University of Maryland - Baltimore Co.
6 University of Maryland - Baltimore Co. University of Pittsburgh American University
7 University of Pittsburgh Rutgers University Temple University
8 Rutgers University Temple University George Washington University
9 George Washington University American University Rutgers University

10 Temple University George Washington University University of Pittsburgh

Other Out of State Markets
Fall 2014 Fall 2015 Fall 2016

1 American University American University American University
2 North Carolina State University George Washington University George Washington University
3 University of N. Carolina - Chapel Hill University of N. Carolina - Chapel Hill University of Florida
4 George Washington University North Carolina State University Florida State University
5 University of South Carolina Arizona State University Arizona State University
6 Florida State University Florida State University University of Central Florida
7 Clemson University University of Florida New York University
8 The Ohio State University The Ohio State University University of N. Carolina - Chapel Hill
9 University of Florida University of Central Florida University of South Florida

10 University of N. Carolina - Charlotte University of Georgia University of Tennessee



Market Reality #2
A growing interest in STEM.



STEM Interest from Virginia on the rise . . . .

https://www.act.org/content/act/en/research/condition-of-stem-2016.html

Overall Fall 2013 Fall 2014 Fall 2015 Fall 2016 Fall 2017

STEM 34% 37% 39% 40% 43%

Non-Stem 66% 63% 61% 60% 57%

An increase of +800 students annually



Growing Demand in Virginia - Freshmen

10,713 10,746

12,288
12,95336.1% 36.0%

32.5% 31.0%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Fall 2015 Fall 2016 Fall 2017 Fall 2018

Virginia Applicants and Yield

Application Volume Yield %



Freshmen
Competitors by Market

Virginia
Fall 2014 Fall 2015 Fall 2016

1 James Madison University James Madison University Virginia Tech
2 Virginia Tech Virginia Tech James Madison University
3 Virginia Commonwealth University Virginia Commonwealth University Virginia Commonwealth University
4 University of Virginia University of Virginia University of Virginia
5 Christopher Newport University Christopher Newport University Northern Virginia Community College
6 Northern Virginia Community College Northern Virginia Community College Christopher Newport University
7 College of William & Mary Old Dominion University College of William & Mary
8 Old Dominion University College of William & Mary Old Dominion University
9 University of Mary Washington University of Mary Washington University of Mary Washington

10 Radford University Penn State Penn State



Market Reality #3
Volatility in the International Market.



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y



Degree Seeking 

International 

Average by Year 

2013 - 2017



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

ENROLLMENT STRESS ON THE HORIZON



Market Reality #4
The rise of online learning.



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y



HOW ARE ENROLLMENT LEVELS MANAGED?



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

ADMISSIONS FUNNEL



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

A large, single year, 
enrollment spike

Tools for Management:

• Visibility during the recruitment process

• Reduced risk with transfer programs like 
ADVANCE

• Updated Resource Modeling

• College/Unit planning tools to accommodate, 
consistent with the new budget model

• If needed, we have procedural options we can 
leverage to throttle
• Confirmation Deadlines
• Financial Aid Leveraging

SCENARIO 1



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

A large, single-year, 
enrollment drop

Tools for Management:

• Visibility during the recruitment process

• Updated resource modeling

• Adjustments to procedural processes
• Alteration of admit process
• Alteration of financial aid process

• Coordinated effort between units and central 
services
• Enrollment Maximization
• Resource Management

SCENARIO 2



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

A gradual decline in 
enrollment

Tools for Management:

• Tools to monitor multi-year market performance

• Diversified enrollment portfolio reduces the 
university-wide impact
• Traditional offerings
• Investments in online
• New initiatives

• College/Unit planning tools to accommodate, 
consistent with the new budget model

SCENARIO 3



Questions / Discussion?



MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   George Mason University Board of Visitors 
 
THRU:  Ángel Cabrera, President, George Mason University  
 
FROM:  George Mason University Office of the President  

Elizabeth Woodley, University Ethics Officer and Policy Manager 
 
RE:   Contractual Conflict of Interest Waivers 
 
 
 Pursuant to the Board of Visitors Resolution of August 1, 2014, the following is a report 
of existing Contractual Conflict of Interest Waivers at George Mason University between 
12/1/2017 and 12/1/2018:  
 
 
I. Waivers granted by the University Ethics Officer and Policy Manager pursuant to Virginia  

Code § 2.2-3106.C.2, stating that the dual employment of immediate family members is 
in the best interest of the University: 
 

1. Jessica Adams, Fiscal Training Manager, Fiscal Services and Robert Wayne Adams, 
Senior Academic Advisor, Center for Academic Advising, Retention, and Transitions 

2. Peggy Agouris, Dean, College of Science and Anthony Stefanidis, Chair, Department of 
Geography and Geoinformation Science, College of Science 

3. Paul Ammann, Associate Professor, Computer Science and Rebecca Hartley, Director of 
Export Compliance and Secure Research, Research Development, Integrity, and 
Assurance 

4. Jennifer Atkinson, Associate Professor of English/Creative Writing, English and Eric 
Pankey, Professor of English 

5. Kenneth Ball, Dean, Volgenau School of Engineering and Sandra Ball, Clinic Nurse, 
Student Health Services 

6. Chris Burrell, Production Manager, Hylton Performing Arts Center, CVPA and Diane 
Burrell, Operations Coordinator, Hylton Performing Arts Center, CVPA 

7. Michael Buschmann, Department Chair and Professor, Bioengineering and Caroline 
Hoemann, Professor, Bioengineering 

8. Henry N. Butler, Dean and Professor of Law, Antonin Scalia Law School and Paige V. 
Butler, Director, Judicial Education, LEC, Antonin Scalia Law School 

9. Amanda Caswell, Associate Professor, CEHD and Shane Caswell, Professor, CEHD 
10. John Cicchetti, Assistant Director, Student Support and Advocacy Center, University 

Life and Kaitlin Cicchetti, Director of Advancement, University Life 
11. Cody Clarke, Development Coordinator, CVPA and Brianna St. Clair, Event 

Coordinator, Admissions 
12. Aurali Dade, Associate Vice President, Research Development, Integrity, and Assurance   

and Damon Dade, Adjunct Faculty, School of Business 



13. Ed Daniels, Director, Human Resources and Administration, Facilities and Tara Daniels, 
Business Office Manager, ICA General Administration, Intercollegiate Athletics 

14. Rick Davis, Dean, CVPA and Julie Thompson, Executive Director, Center for the Arts 
15. Suzanne de Janasz, Term Visiting Professor of Management and Conflict Analysis and 

Resolution and Maury Peiperl, Dean, School of Business 
16. Nikki Dinh, Senior Database Analyst, Database/Middleware/ERP Support, ITS and 

Robert Peraino, Advisory Systems Engineer, Enterprise Infrastructure Service, ITS 
17. Kevin Dunayer, Asst. Director Event Services/Adjunct Professor SRHT, Theater, Student 

Centers and Laurel Dunayer, Costume Shop Supervisor, CVPA 
18. May Elleisi-Salem, Education Support Specialist, Office of Undergraduate Student 

Services, VSE and Ossama Salem, Chair, Civil, Environmental and Infrastructure 
Engineering, VSE 

19. Joyce French, Director, Office of Risk Management and Roderick French, Adjunct 
Professor, School of Business 

20. Boris Gafurov, Assistant Professor, CEHD and Anya Evmenova, Associate Professor, 
Special Education and disAbility Research, CEHD 

21. Colby Grant, Operations Coordinator, Science and Technology Campus, Executive 
Office and Megan Grant, Fiscal and Grants Technician, National Center for Biodefense 
and Infectious Disease, College of Science 

22. Matthew Green, Assistant Director, Schar School of Policy and Government and Alice 
Magelssen-Green, Development Coordinator, CVPA 

23. Yali Guo, Accounts Payable Accountant, Purchasing and Accounts Payable and Guoqing 
Diao, Associate Professor, Statistics, Volgenau School of Engineering 

24. Donald Paul Haspel, Term Assistant Professor of English, CHSS and Linda H. Mason, 
Professor and Endowed Director, Kellar Institute for Human disAbilities, CEHD 

25. Nicholas Hofmann, ILL Lending & Reserves Coordinator Access Services, Fenwick 
Library and Katara Wright, Reference, Research & Instruction Specialist Information 
Services, Fenwick Library 

26. Houman Homayoun, Assistant Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering and 
Setareh Rafatirad, Assistant Professor, Information Sciences and Technology 

27. Joy Hughes, Professor, Volgenau School of Engineering; Senior Advisor, East Asia, 
Office of the Provost and Kenneth Lee, Chief Statistician, CVPA 

28. Cing-Dao (Steve) Kan, Professor/Director, Center for Collision Safety and Analysis and 
Chi Yang, Professor, Department of Physics and Astronomy 

29. Setarra Kennedy, Strategic Initiatives Coordinator, Communications and Marketing and 
Charles Nicholson, Senior Account Manager, Communications and Marketing 

30. Amir Ali Khan, Research Assistant Professor Bio-engineering, VSE, and Sana Khan, 
Graduate Teaching Assistant, Civil, Environmental and Infrastructure Engineering, VSE 

31. Christopher Koper, Associate Professor, Criminology, Law and Society, CHSS and 
Cynthia Lum, Professor and Director of the Center for Evidence-Based Crime Policy, 
Criminology, Law and Society, CHSS 

32. Alison Landsberg, Professor, History and Art History and Matthew Karush, Professor, 
History and Art History 

33. Clare Laskofski, Director of Accounting and Treasury Operations, Fiscal Services and 
Mike Laskofski, Associate Vice President of Research Operations, Office of Sponsored 
Programs 



34. David Lattanzi, Assistant Professor, Civil, Environmental and Infrastructure Engineering, 
VSE and Elisabeth Lattanzi, Assistant Professor, Mechanical Engineering, VSE 

35. Yi-Ching Lee, Assistant Professor, Department of Psychology and Benoit Van Aken, 
Associate Professor, Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry 

36. Vera Lichtenberg, Director of Mason Game Institute/ Assistant Director Potomac Arts 
Academy and Scott M. Martin, Director Computer Game Design Program Virginia 
Serious Game Institute (VSGI); Associate Dean, Research & Technology; Associate 
Professor, CVPA 

37. David R. Long, Associate Vice President, Office of University Advancement and Alumni 
Relations and Patricia Long, Administrative Assistant to the Director, Special Education 
& disAbility Research, CEHD 

38. Robert Matz, Senior Associate Dean, College of Humanities and Social Sciences and 
Teresa Michals, Associate Professor, English 

39. Kirsten J. McLagan, ELI-CISA Matriculation Advisor and Frank Neville, Chief of Staff, 
Vice President, Communications and Marketing 

40. Tyler G. Parowski, Hylton Performing Arts Center ticket office and Karen L. Parowski, 
Hylton Performing Arts Center ticket office 

41. Tom Perdiou, Financial Aid Counselor, Student Financial Aid and Laurie Schintler, 
Associate Professor and MS Transport Policy Director, Schar School of Policy and 
Government 

42. Kelly Reid, Administrative Coordinator, Student Centers and Linda Reid, Account Clerk, 
Student Centers 

43. Damoon Soudbakhsh, Assistant Professor, Mechanical Engineering, VSE and Elham 
Sahraei Esfahani Assistant Professor, Mechanical Engineering, VSE 

44. Kerone Wetter, Assistant Director, Marketing and Communications, College of Science 
and Ryan Wetter, Senior Grants and Finance Analyst - Lead, College of Science 

 
II. Waivers approved by the President of George Mason University and the Vice President for 

Research or Senior Vice President for Administration and Finance pursuant to Virginia 
Code § 2.2-3106: 

 
1. Yali Chen; Virongy, LLC; waiver period:  1/17/2018 – 1/17/2020 
2. Mychelle DeWoolfson; Oakleaf Farm, LLC; waiver period:  3/22/2108 – 3/22/2019 
3. Liping Di, General Science and Technology Solutions, Inc.(GSTS); waiver period:  

5/1/2016 – 4/30/2019 
4. Elham Sahraei Esfahani; Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT); waiver period:  

7/12/2018 – 7/12/2021 
5. Kenneth Hintz; FirstGuard Technologies (FGT); waiver period:  11/25/2014 – 

11/25/2019 
6. Dmitri Klimov; Parabon Nanolabs (PNL); waiver period: 5/14/2018 – 7/1/2019 
7. Emanuel Petricoin; Perthera, Inc.; waiver period:  9/1/2018 – 9/1/2019 
8. Emanuel Petricoin; Ceres Nanosciences, Inc.; waiver period:  10/17/2018 – 9/30/2020 
9. Amarda Shehu; Catholic University of America; waiver period:  10/10/2018 – 5/31/2023 
10. Ali Weinstein; Inova Health System; waiver period:  10/26/2017 – 11/30/2020 
11. Xinyuan Wang; CyberRock, Inc.; waiver period:  2/16/2018 – 8/31/2019 
 



 
 

Pursuant to the Board of Visitors Resolution of February 4, 2015, the following is a 
report of information regarding Dr. Elizabeth F. “Beth” Cabrera during the fiscal year beginning 
July 1, 2017: 
 
 
I. Total payment to Dr. Beth Cabrera by the University: $9,607.86 

 
II. All graduate, professional and continuing education courses of instruction for which Dr. Beth  
     Cabrera was compensated and the amount of compensation for each course of instruction:  

 
Focused Leadership Webinar (Fall 2017)  $1,500 
Positive Leadership (Fall 2017)   $8,107.86 

 
Details are available at the Board’s request. 
 



 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Office of University Audit 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report to the Audit Committee of the Board of Visitors 
 
 
 

December 12, 2018 
 

 
 
 
  



 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 
• Two audit reports were issued since the last meeting. 

• Two additional memos addressed aspects of management’s monitoring of technology 
server configuration implementations and verified the effectiveness of CEHD processes 
for managing adherence to faculty workload policies; budget planning and management; 
and oversight of academic programs and specialized accreditations. 

 
• Remediation of 29 audit issues is in progress as of November 2018: 

• 17 issues have current target remediation dates in the next five months (through March 
2019). 

 
• Audit Plan status: 

• Substantially on track with 3+6 Audit Plan reviewed at the prior meeting. 
 
• Status of fraud, waste, and abuse investigations: 

• Two completed since the prior meeting; there are two investigations in progress. 
• The completed investigations were isolated in nature. 

 
• Audit staffing: 

• The audit team remains stable with no changes since the prior Committee meeting.  Co-
sourced resources are being used to provide supplemental skilled expertise when needed. 

  



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 

 Topic 
 
 
 

 

1 SUMMARY OF AUDIT REPORTS 
• Department of Homeland Security Criminal Investigations and Network 

Analysis Cooperative Agreement 
• Intercollegiate Athletics 

 
2 SUMMARY STATUS OF AUDIT ISSUES  

 
 

3 STATUS OF AUDIT PLAN 
 
 

4 STATUS OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 
 

5 STAFFING 
 
 

6 APPENDIX: 
• Audit Issue Details 

 
 

 
 
  



 

SUMMARY OF AUDIT REPORTS 
 
 
 
 
• Department of Homeland Security Criminal Investigations and Network Analysis 

Cooperative Agreement 
 
• Intercollegiate Athletics 
 
• Audit Memos: 

• Monitoring Server Configuration Benchmarks and Implementations 
• College of Education and Human Development: Selected Processes 

 
 
  



 

 

 
 
 
Office of University Audit 

 
INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 

 
Report 
Title: 

DHS CINA Cooperative Agreement  Report 
Date: 

October 30, 2018 
Responsible 
Manager: 

Dr. Deborah Crawford 
Vice President of Research 

  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 
Background: 

 
The Criminal Investigations and Network Analysis (CINA) Center is part of a network of 
Department of Homeland Security (DHS) Centers of Excellence.  It was established by an August 
2017 cooperative agreement and is funded by the DHS Science and Technology Directorate’s Office 
of University Programs.  The ten year agreement provides up to $38.5 million in funding.  The 
agreement is intended to bring together researchers and experts to pursue solutions to disrupt 
criminal activities across physical and cyber spaces. It is a Mason-led consortium advancing science 
while pursuing the development of cutting edge outcomes and innovative educational and training 
activities to support workforce needs. 
 
At Mason, the CINA Center has been established through multidisciplinary efforts and research 
across a number of schools or colleges including: 

• College of Humanities and Social Sciences • School of Business 
• College of Science • School of Conflict Analysis and Resolution 
• Schar School of Policy and Government • Volgenau School of Engineering 

 
Partner institutions include: 

• University of Notre Dame • Michigan State University 
• Virginia Tech • Purdue University 
• Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute • Rutgers University 
• Carnegie Mellon University 

 
CINA Center activities are grouped under three broad categories:  research, outreach, and workforce 
development.  Day-to-day management is led by Dr. Anthony Stefanidis, who is situated 
organizationally under the Vice President of Research.  Dr. Stefanidis is supported by a CINA 
Science Manager, who manages project lifecycle, requirements, cost, and milestones follow-up; 
supports coordination efforts among research teams and stakeholders; and provides coordination 
support across center operations, and a CINA Financial and Administrative Specialist who provides 
administrative and logistical support.  Several other groups provide various levels of feedback 
and/or support including, but not limited to, external individuals or groups (e.g., the DHS Program 
Manager and Advisory Board (DHS stakeholders)), internal groups unique to CINA (e.g., the 
Science Leadership team) as well as those that support all Mason research endeavors (e.g., Office of 
the Provost, Office of Sponsored Programs, etc.). 

 
  

https://www.dhs.gov/science-and-technology/centers-excellence
https://www.dhs.gov/science-and-technology
http://chss.gmu.edu/
http://business.gmu.edu/
https://cos.gmu.edu/
https://scar.gmu.edu/
https://schar.gmu.edu/
https://volgenau.gmu.edu/
https://www.nd.edu/
https://msu.edu/
https://vt.edu/
http://www.purdue.edu/
http://www.rpi.edu/
http://www.rutgers.edu/
http://www.cmu.edu/


 

Audit Conclusion: 
 

In our view, Mason has complied with the requirements of the cooperative agreement.  CINA 
management should continue to implement and strengthen oversight and monitoring controls.  
University management should evaluate opportunities to improve research faculty and staff support 
for future large scale research efforts which will be important for meeting Mason’s strategic goals 
relating to research growth and outcomes.  

 
  



 

 

 
 
 
Office of University Audit 

 
INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 

 
Report 
Title: 

Intercollegiate Athletics Report 
Date: 

November 14, 2018 
Responsible 
Manager: 

Brad Edwards 
Assistant Vice President and Director of 
Intercollegiate Athletics 

  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
Background: 
 
The Intercollegiate Athletics program at Mason comprises participation in 22 intercollegiate sports 
programs involving more than 500 student-athletes.  The sports programs participate primarily in the 
Atlantic 10 conference; Mason is also a member of the Eastern Intercollegiate Volleyball 
Association and the Eastern Wrestling League.  Each program is governed by the NCAA through 
bylaws which address, among other areas, eligibility, financial aid, recruiting, and playing and 
practice seasons.  Mason’s Athletics Compliance program supports Athletics in administering sports 
programs compliant with NCAA, Atlantic 10 Conference, and Mason rules and regulations. 
 
FY17 funding for Intercollegiate Athletics totaled $29.6 million.  Primary sources of this funding 
were mandatory student fees ($15.2 million, based on the $552 full-time undergraduate mandatory 
fee); direct and indirect institutional support ($7.1 million); and advertising and sponsorships ($2.9 
million).  Expenditures were primarily directed to coach and support staff compensation ($9.2 
million); student-athlete financial aid ($6.2 million); debt service ($5.4 million); and equipment, 
travel, and game expenses ($4.3 million).  As a comparison, FY17 funding at Virginia 
Commonwealth University totaled $34.3 million, sourced from mandatory student fees ($19.9 
million, based on the $791 full-time undergraduate mandatory fee) and expended on higher levels of 
compensation ($10.6 million) and lower total number of student-athletes (299) and lower levels of 
student-athlete financial aid ($5.8 million) and debt service ($1.2 million). 
 
Brad Edwards, Assistant Vice President and Director of Intercollegiate Athletics, leads the 50 
members of the coaching staff, and 70 support staff. 

 
Audit Conclusion: 
 
In our view, Athletics is generally effective in contributing to the cultural vitality of the Mason’s 
student and local community through its support of student-athlete intercollegiate sports programs.  
The sports medicine and training program adequately provides for student-athlete health and well-
being.  Mason’s Athletics Compliance program is well-designed and, in our view, generally 
operating effectively to provide assurance related to compliance with NCAA rules and regulations.  
Staff and student-athletes receive compliance training, including related to Title IX.  Data analysis 
of 2016-17 student-athlete course schedules and grades concluded that courses attended by student-
athletes were legitimate.  Business office processes, including cash handling procedures, are 
generally adequate, although they are reliant on manual processing and might benefit from 
streamlining and automation.  Processes related to student-athlete usage of social media and 
administration of certain contracts should also be enhanced. 



 

SUMMARY OF AUDIT MEMOS: 
Audit Memos are communications which provide assurance related to a narrow, targeted topic or provide 
interim updates on longer-term assurance activities. 

 
 
Monitoring Server Configuration Benchmarks and Implementations dated October 30, 2018 
• Confidential – Restricted Data: Critical Infrastructure Vulnerability Assessment Information 

(Code of VA: 2.2-3705.2.4). 
 
 
College of Education and Human Development:  Selected Processes dated November 19, 2018 
• Targeted assessment of adherence to faculty workload policies; budget planning and 

management processes; oversight of academic programs and specialized accreditations; and 
certain other processes.  Verified processes were effective; CEHD’s tool for administering 
faculty workload assignments might be beneficial to other colleges. 

 
 
 
 



 

 
 

SUMMARY STATUS OF AUDIT ISSUES AS OF NOVEMBER 20, 2018 
 
There were 29 open audit issues as of November 20, 2018.  Remediation of three audit issues was completed by management since 
September 2018.  
 

Audit Issue Inventory Movement Audit Issues by Type Audit Issues by Current Target 
 

   
   

 
Audit Report Report 

Date 
Open at 
Jun 2018 

New  Closed   Open at 
Sep 2018 

New  Closed   Open at 
Nov 2018 

College of Education and Human Development: Selected Processes 11/19/18 - - - 0  2  (1) 1  
Intercollegiate Athletics 11/14/18 - - - 0  6  - 6  
DHS CINA Cooperative Agreement 10/30/18 - - - 0  3  - 3  
Supplemental Payroll Payments 9/5/18 - 4  - 4  - (1) 3  
Employee Remote Work Agreements 8/29/18 - 1  - 1  - - 1  
Employee Time Recordkeeping at INTO Mason 6/29/18 - 1  - 1  - - 1  
Conflict of Interest in Research Process 4/9/18 1  - (1) 0  - - 0  
Office of the University Registrar 3/7/18 6  - - 6  - - 6  
Athletics Travel Expenditure Documentation 2/10/17 1  - - 1  - (1) 0  
Use of Wiley edu Employees to Process Certain Registration Transactions 10/16/17 1  - - 1  - - 1  
Administrative Management of Sponsored Programs 10/11/17 1  - - 1  - - 1  
IT Governance and Project Prioritization 8/7/17 3  - - 3  - - 3  
College of Health and Human Services 5/11/17 3  - (3) 0  - - 0  
Decentralized IT Management and Security: Office of the Provost 10/23/15 2  - (1) 1  - - 1  
Information Security Management:  Boundary Protection 9/9/13 1  - - 1  - - 1  
Enterprise Project Management Framework and System 3/28/13 1  - - 1  - - 1    

20  6  (5) 21  11  (3) 29  
  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Open at
Jun 2018

Closed New Open at
Sep 2018

Closed New Open at
Nov 2018# 

of
 Is

su
es

5

20

4

Technology Process
Policy/Contract

5

12
11

1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2018-Q4 2019-Q1 2019-Q2 2019-Q3 2019-Q4

# 
of

 Is
su

es

Current Target

21 5 

29 

6 

11 

21 3 



 

 
 

STATUS OF AUDIT PLAN AS OF NOVEMBER 20, 2018 
The 3+6 Audit Plan as of November 15, 2018 (bottom bars) is compared with the status as of the prior report to the Committee (top 
bars).  (Note:  The status of work is shown as follows:  completed = orange bars, in progress = green bars, and planned = yellow bars) 
 

Topic Description  
30       9 

 
30      12 

 
31       3 

 
31 

Aligned with University-Level Risk Areas      
IT Vulnerability and Patch 
Management 

• Assess processes for identifying and remediating IT vulnerabilities.     

Major Research Project Initiation • Assess processes and structures to stand up newly-awarded research project.     
Controlled Unclassified Information 
(CUI) Data and Security Environment 

• Monitor management’s project to establish IT environment for handling CUI data and ensure 
compliance with federal regulations. Validate selected areas once established. 

    

Information Security Program • Monitor projects to further strengthen security of Mason’s technology environment and co-develop 
regular updates to the Audit Committee. 

    

Recruiting Processes • Assess effectiveness and efficiency of processes for acquiring, recruiting, and hiring faculty and staff.      
Data and Security Risk Assessment:  
Colleges – Validation Procedures 

• Validate selected management assertions regarding information security risks in college-managed 
technology environments.  

    

Academic Innovation and New 
Ventures Initiatives 

• Monitor development and implementation of major academic innovation and ventures initiatives.     

Faculty Workload Guideline 
Implementation 

• Assess implementation of faculty workload guidelines across various colleges, including 
management’s oversight processes.  

    

Banner Improvement Upgrade Projects • Monitor management’s multi-year project to study and enhance Banner and suite applications. Assess 
potential project and process risks; communication. 

    

Construction Payments and Change 
Orders 

• Monitor and assess payments related to in-progress Robinson Hall and Utility Distribution 
Infrastructure construction projects. 

    

Additional Areas      
Intercollegiate Athletics 
 

• Assess business and compliance processes relevant to intercollegiate athletics programs.     

Spending of Funding for Reserves and 
Strategic Initiatives 

• Monitor and validate spending of FY19 budgets for institutional reserves ($4 million) and strategic 
initiatives ($4 million).  

    

Travel Advances • Assess travel advance settlement processes and controls.     
Faculty Study Leaves • Assess faculty study leave administrative processes and controls.     
Issue Validation Procedures 
 

• Validate management has remediated audit issues in a comprehensive and sustainable manner.     

Hotline Investigations Referred by 
OSIG 

• Investigate allegations of fraud, waste, or abuse received from the Commonwealth’s Office of the State 
Inspector General. 

    

 
  

6 



 

 
 

STATUS OF INVESTIGATIONS AS OF NOVEMBER 20, 2018 
 
Two investigations were completed since the prior Committee meeting; they were isolated in nature with negligible impact to the 
University. 
 

Nature of Allegation Type Status Remarks 
    
Potential conflict of interest related to 
outside employment 

Abuse Completed  

Potential payroll and leave calculation 
errors 

Fraud Completed  

Potential waste of State funds related to 
procurement activities 

Waste In Progress  

Potential contract compliance issues Waste In Progress  
 
Summary of Types: 
• Fraud = Intentional deception which could result in a benefit to the perpetrator, others, or the Commonwealth or could cause detriment to others or the 

Commonwealth.  Fraud includes a false representation of a matter of fact, whether by words or by conduct, by false or misleading statements, or by 
concealment of that which should have been disclosed, which deceives or is intended to deceive.  E.g., falsifying financial records to cover up theft. 

• Waste = Careless expenditure, mismanagement, use, or squandering of Commonwealth resources to the actual or potential detriment of the Commonwealth.  
Includes unnecessary costs due to inefficient or ineffective practices, systems, or controls.  E.g., unnecessary spending of state funds for no business purpose. 

• Abuse = Excessive or improper use of something contrary to natural or legal rules for its use.  Intentional destruction, diversion, manipulation, misapplication, 
mistreatment, or misuse of Commonwealth resources.  Excessive use as to abuse one’s position or authority.  E.g., Use of state assets for non-state business. 

  



 

 
 

STAFFING 
 
Audit staffing remains stable with no changes since the prior Committee meeting.  Co-sourced resources remain available to provide 
supplemental skilled expertise when needed. 
 
 

Organization Staffing 
 

 

 
 Actual  

Core Audit Team Plan 
a/o July 

2018 
a/o Nov 

2018 
Audit Leadership 2 2 2 
Auditors by Expertise:    
  Operational Audit 2 2 2 
  IT Audit 1 1 1 
  Fraud Audit 1 1 1 
Total Audit Professional Employees 6 6 6 
Cosourced FTE* Supported by Permanent Budget  0.8   0.2  
Total Audit Professionals Supported by Permanent 
Budget 6.8  6.0  6.2  
Cosourced FTE* Supported by FY19 Temporary 
Budget 0.5   
Audit Professionals Supported by FY19 Budget 7.3  6.0  6.2  

 
 

 Note:  * = Cosourced FTE are estimated based on actual hours provided by 
cosourced resources and a 1,500 hour/FTE rate. 

 
 
 
  



 

 
 

APPENDIX:  AUDIT ISSUE DETAILS AS OF NOVEMBER 20, 2018 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

1 Report Name: DHS 
CINA Cooperative 
Agreement 
 
Report Date:  10/30/18 
 
Management: Deborah 
Crawford, Vice 
President of Research, 
Office of the Provost  
 

Finalize Identification and Implementation of 
Technical and Financial Oversight Controls  
Monitoring and oversight procedures assist management 
in identifying and correcting problems timely.  The 
CINA program makes use of several subrecipients and 
Mason’s Subrecipient Monitoring policy (UP #4009) 
requires processes to establish effective monitoring of 
technical and financial performance. 
 
CINA management is actively working to establish a 
more robust monitoring process, in line with DHS 
expectations, to oversee individual research projects.  
Management should continue improving operational 
administration to ensure, at a minimum, oversight is 
established to include regular program and research 
project technical and financial status updates in line with 
DHS expectations, and independent project financial 
review and oversight. 

Periodic program review will now be handled 
through monthly phone meetings between the 
Science Manager and each Principal Investigator.  
Monthly meetings with PIs will be supported 
with a shared, formalized matrix. DHS 
stakeholders and component end users will be 
invited to participate in monthly meetings to 
increase customer focus and oversight. The 
matrix will serve as a record of the meeting, and 
will be easily shareable with stakeholders and 
decision-makers. 
 
CINA’s communications team will be directly 
involved in all events to provide oversight and 
ensure adherence with award terms and 
conditions (e.g., sponsor access to publications 
and recognition). This oversight will be a 
conditional requirement for all sponsored events. 
 
CINA’s Financial and Administrative Specialist 
will monitor expenses from subcontractor 
invoices and compare to remaining funds by 
budget line. The Science Manager will assume 
responsibility for approval of subcontractor 
invoices, verifying there are sufficient funds 
remaining in the budget and confirming the work 
performed is in line with the agreed statement of 
work and relevant milestones. 

11/30/18 11/30/18 

2 Report Name: 
Information Security 
Management: Boundary 
Protection 
 
Report Date: 9/09/13  
 
Management: Marilyn 
Smith 

Review Firewall Configurations: 
Firewall configurations are currently not being reviewed 
and re-authorized on a cyclic basis. Without a formal 
process to periodically review and re-authorize firewall 
configurations, the university cannot ensure that rule 
bases are adequate and/or still required. 
 

After several attempts to appropriately structure 
and remediate firewall configuration management 
processes, including reviews and authorizations, 
ITS management committed to developing a new 
expanded policy and associated procedures to 
define baseline configuration standards, 
minimum password strength parameters, code 
upgrade schedules, and vulnerability scanning 
requirements.  Firewall rules protecting Banner 

1/31/14 12/15/18 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

Vice President/Chief 
Information Officer, 
Information Technology 
Services 

and non-Banner applications have been 
revalidated; by December 15, 2018, ITS will 
develop the plan to complete the revalidation. 

3 Report Name: College 
of Education and 
Human Development: 
Selected Processes 
 
Report Date:  11/19/18 
 
Management: Mark 
Ginsberg, Dean, College 
of Education and 
Human Development 

Assess Purchase Card Assignments 
Six faculty and staff purchase cards had limits exceeding 
$10,000 per month. Approval structures for four cards 
need revision to ensure appropriate separation of duties. 

Management will review purchase card limits and 
reduce limits where not required for reasonable 
business need.  Cardholder – approver 
relationships will be adjusted to ensure 
appropriate supervision and separation of duties. 

12/15/18 12/15/18 

4 Report Name: Office 
of the University 
Registrar 
 
Report Date:  3/7/18 
 
Management: Michelle 
Marks, Vice President 
for Academic 
Innovation and New 
Ventures, Office of the 
Provost 

Implement Regular Family Educational Rights and 
Privacy Act Refresher Training: 
Mandatory FERPA training has been a requirement to 
gain access to the Banner system since late 2016; the 
requirement was not made retroactive.  As a result, there 
are users accessing student information that have never 
been trained on the expectations and requirements of 
FERPA. 

The Office of the University Registrar (OUR), 
with the approval of Human Resources, and the 
Office of Compliance, Diversity and Ethics, will 
create a Mason policy which requires mandatory 
FERPA training for all faculty and staff with 
access to personally identifiable student 
educational records, prior to establishing Banner 
and Microstrategy accounts.  Mason employees 
will be required to complete the training once 
every two years.  Training compliance 
monitoring is expected to be completed by 
December 31, 2018.  In order to ensure that all 
required faculty, staff and employees have access 
and the ability to take the required FERPA 
training, OUR has developed the online FERPA 
training and is fully operational. 

12/31/18 12/31/18 

5 Report Name: DHS 
CINA Cooperative 
Agreement 
 
Report Date:  10/30/18 
 
Management: Marilyn 
Smith, Vice 
President/Chief 

Develop Effective Reporting Capabilities for 
Multidisciplinary Efforts  
CINA is a multidisciplinary agreement with program and 
project financial data recorded in multiple fund accounts 
housed in multiple colleges and schools.  Administrative 
personnel access financial data through the university’s 
main reporting tool, MicroStrategy.  However, 
MicroStrategy’s security architecture is based on unit-
level access.  As a result, compiling reporting to oversee 

Information Technology Services (ITS) has 
engaged the vendor, Ellucian, to perform an 
assessment of Banner, focusing on sponsored 
research reporting.  Ellucian will provide a 
formal report based on their assessment, along 
with recommendations for improvements.  This 
report, along with recommendations identified, 
will be discussed with several groups, including: 
Office of Sponsored Programs, Fiscal Services, 

12/31/18 12/31/18 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

Information Officer, 
Information Technology 
Services  

financial data on multidisciplinary projects requires 
program administrative personnel to rely on central 
Office of Sponsored Programs personnel to provide 
individual fund-level data manually each time it is 
needed, prior to exercising oversight analysis.  While 
this may be manageable for the current level of 
multidisciplinary projects, it is inefficient and is likely 
not scalable at higher levels of volume or complexity. 
 
For several years, the Office of Sponsored Programs has 
had an outstanding ITS Project request to develop and 
implement a solution for this enterprise-wide issue; this 
project has been on hold since at least December 2017.  
In our view, this project should be re-evaluated. 

and Office of the Provost.  Management expects 
these discussions will result in identification of 
improvements that the university is willing to 
invest in, along with management plans for 
implementation, by December 31, 2018.  

6 Report Name: Office 
of the University 
Registrar 
 
Report Date:  3/7/18 
 
Management: Frank 
Strike, Vice President, 
Facilities and David 
Moore, Assistant Vice 
President Budgeting & 
Planning and Chief 
Budget Officer, Office 
of Budget and Planning 

Evaluate Classroom Capacity and Constraints to 
Meet Future Growth Requirements: 
Mason course sections (and use of Mason classrooms) 
are not distributed across timeslots and days of the week 
to efficiently and effectively utilize campus resources.  
Fall 2017 course section data shows significant 
classroom underutilization on multiple days of the week 
and at certain times of day.   Scheduling decisions are 
often made by individual colleges and departments in 
regards to their reserved classrooms and lacks 
transparency when university classrooms `are requested.  
This approach may lead to future difficulties as campus 
resources are strained further with current and planned 
renovations, strategic initiatives are pursued. 

In June 2018, management engaged a consultant 
to benchmark the University’s space allocations, 
identify and outline space utilization, and make 
recommendations.  Interim findings were 
reported in September 2018.  The consultant is 
scheduled to present additional findings by 
December 2018.   

4/30/18 1/15/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

7 Report Name: 
Employee Time 
Recordkeeping at INTO 
Mason 
 
Report Date:  6/29/18 
 
Management: Dr. Todd 
Rose, Executive 
Director, INTO Mason  

Enhance Supervisory Approval of Timesheets:  
University Policy requires supervisors (or designated 
approvers) to ensure the accuracy and completeness of 
hours worked and leave reported by deadlines published 
by Human Resources & Payroll.  49% of timesheets 
submitted by an employee from January 1, 2016 through 
November 10, 2017 were not approved by the 
supervisor; these timesheets were approved via Payroll’s 
override process to ensure the timesheets were included 
in the applicable payroll processing cycles. Management 
should ensure that employee timesheets are approved by 
designated due dates and consider designating an 
additional approver who has first-hand knowledge of 
employee work activities. 

The organizational structure of the academic unit 
of INTO Mason will be reviewed to ensure all 
supervisors have an appropriate level of direct 
reports to give the necessary level of diligence 
and management oversight. 

1/15/19 1/15/19 

8 Report Name: 
Supplemental Payroll 
Payments 
 
Report Date:  9/5/18 
 
Management: Renate 
Guilford, Associate 
Provost, Academic 
Administration, Office 
of the Provost  
 
 

Clarify Supplemental Pay Guidelines for 
Contract Courses: 
Supplemental Pay Procedures are not interpreted to 
cover contract course arrangements.  Contract course 
arrangements are often informally documented (i.e., 
limited to certain Banner data and course budget 
information).  Formal contractual arrangements are not 
made with course instructors, even though contract 
course arrangements fall outside the typically faculty 
contract. Lack of clarity or misinterpretation of Mason 
policy may result in irregularities or unjustified faculty 
workloads (i.e., where faculty or staff are over-extending 
with contract course work, to the detriment of other 
primary or secondary job roles) and inequitable or 
inappropriate pay practices. 

The Provost’s Office will revise and strengthen 
the language in the Supplemental Pay Procedures 
related to compensation for the various types of 
offerings associated with contract courses.  In 
addition, the Provost’s Office will update and 
standardize employment contracts for the 
activities that are associated with contract 
courses.  

1/31/19 1/31/19 

9 Report Name: 
Supplemental Payroll 
Payments 
 
Report Date:  9/5/18 
 
Management: Renate 
Guilford, Associate 
Provost, Academic 
Administration, Office 
of the Provost  

Ensure Units Identify All Instructors for Courses in 
Banner: 
Three units had at least one instance where faculty 
instructing courses were not identified in Banner.  When 
all instructors are not captured for a given course, the 
unit’s and university’s ability to provide efficient 
oversight is limited.  Management’s ability to gain 
insight from course data is also limited (comparing data 
from semester to semester or year to year).  Furthermore, 
any reporting to outside entities may not be accurate, 
depending on the level of information provided. 

The Provost’s Office is working to strengthen the 
language in the supplemental pay procedures, as 
well as other institutional resources (e.g., the 
language on the Registrar’s Site for scheduling 
coordinators) to ensure the appropriate instructor 
has been identified in a timely matter. 

1/31/19 1/31/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

10 Report Name: DHS 
CINA Cooperative 
Agreement 
 
Report Date:  10/30/18 
 
Management: Deborah 
Crawford, Vice 
President of Research, 
Office of the Provost  
 

Develop Infrastructure and Support Needs for 
Significant Research Programs  
The DHS CINA Center of Excellence was established by 
a ten year, $38.5 million cooperative agreement.  
Successfully pursuing and executing large scale, 
complex, multidisciplinary research efforts such as 
CINA are critical to Mason’s strategic goals related to 
research.  However, when initiating program 
management to execute on the cooperative agreement, 
several extensive delays occurred including:  staffing 
turnover and recruiting delays; dedicated workspace 
delays; project management regimen and tool delays, 
which need to be developed prior to implementation; and 
delayed administrative approvals through the Office of 
the Provost (rather than typically through Dean’s 
Offices). 
 
Based on retrospective reviews of newly-established 
large scale research programs, management should 
develop repeatable practices to streamline the stand-up 
and establishment of future, large scale, complex, 
multidisciplinary research efforts. 

Large scale research efforts, both in terms of 
dollar value and complexity, are becoming a 
larger part of the university’s research portfolio.  
Such programs will have certain operational 
and/or administrative similarities, but they will 
also have their differences.   In an effort to learn 
from past experiences in establishing large or 
complex research programs at Mason, a best 
practices guide will be developed to provide 
direction to administrators and faculty for future 
research programs.  The guide will be 
periodically reviewed, at least annually, for 
insights gained from the establishment of new 
research programs and updated, as necessary. 
 

1/31/19 1/31/19 

11 Report Name: Office 
of the University 
Registrar 
 
Report Date:  3/7/18 
 
Management: Michelle 
Marks, Vice President 
for Academic 
Innovation and New 
Ventures, Office of the 
Provost 

Align Mason Administration of Degree Programs 
with State Council of Higher Education for Virginia 
Administrative Requirements: 
Mason has degree and certificate programs that have not 
been established to conform to State Council of Higher 
Education for Virginia (SCHEV) requirements. SCHEV 
requirements limit one degree or certificate program at 
each level (certificate, bachelors, etc.) per classification 
of instructional programs (CIP) code.  The purpose of 
the CIP code is to provide SCHEV with a classification 
scheme to track, assess, and report fields of study and 
program completion activities at the state and federal 
level.  Prior to our audit, management in the Office of 
University Registrar and the Office of the Provost had 
identified this issue; they are working to identify 
impacted programs and developing solutions to align all 
programs appropriately. 

The Office of Accreditation and Program 
Integrity (OAPI) has made substantial progress in 
resolving discrepancies in certificate program 
inventories.  Resolution depends on actions by 
SCHEV subsequent to analyses provided by 
Mason.  Such analyses have been provided to 
support 52 certificate programs; analyses for a 
further 13 certificate programs and seven 
undergraduate or graduate degree programs are in 
progress. 
 
SCHEV is in the process of evaluating and 
refining the certificate and program approval 
processes. While OAPI moves forward under the 
current state, SCHEV approval processes are 
anticipated to change in the near future. An 
update on changes to SCHEV’s approval 
processes will be provided by February 28, 2019. 

9/30/18 2/28/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

 
OAPI is overseeing future changes in program 
inventory.  Going forward, the Office of the 
University Registrar will not activate or 
inactivate any certificate or degree program 
without the express written consent of the OAPI.  

12 Report Name: 
Intercollegiate Athletics 
 
Report Date:  11/14/18 
 
Management: Brad 
Edwards, Assistant Vice 
President and Director 
of Intercollegiate 
Athletics 
 

Create Guidelines for Student-Athlete Social Media 
Usage 
The Mason Guidelines and Best Practices in Social 
Media describe how teams should use their official 
social media accounts. However, there are no specific 
guidelines governing student-athlete usage of social 
media. We compared Mason’s current social media 
policy to policies of other Atlantic 10 universities and 
leading practices, and identified several areas where 
Mason’s policies might be strengthened. 

Athletics Management will benchmark policies 
and practices related to student-athlete usage of 
social media accounts at selected Atlantic 10 
Conference and Commonwealth of Virginia 
colleges and universities.  Based on this analysis, 
policies and practices will be developed 
appropriate to Mason’s environment.  Prior to 
implementation, these policies and practices will 
be reviewed with certain Mason leaders to ensure 
alignment with the overall University 
community. 

3/15/19 3/15/19 

13 Report Name: 
Intercollegiate Athletics 
 
Report Date:  11/14/18 
 
Management: Brad 
Edwards, Assistant Vice 
President and Director 
of Intercollegiate 
Athletics 
 

Streamline Travel Expense Procurement and 
Processing 
The Athletics Business Office had travel expenses of 
over $2.2 million in fiscal year 2017. Processing of 
reimbursements and cash advances is highly manual, 
potentially prone to error, and requires significant 
amounts of administrative review to help ensure 
accuracy and compliance with complex Commonwealth 
travel requirements. 
 
Management has been working with Mason’s 
Procurement Office to enhance processes to strengthen 
compliance with policies and Commonwealth 
requirements. This work is underway and continues.  In 
our view, management should consider additional 
methods of potentially streamlining travel expense 
procurement and processing, including use of prepaid 
cards as opposed to cash, and a checklist of 
documentation that is required for each trip to ensure 
accuracy and completeness. 

Athletics Management will work with Fiscal 
Services Purchasing to evaluate additional 
methods of streamlining travel expense 
procurement and processing; appropriate 
improvements will be implemented. 

3/15/19 3/15/19 

14 Report Name: Office 
of the University 
Registrar 

Update the Academic Course Catalog: 
Mason maintains a University Catalog of over 8,000 
individual courses.   In the Fall 2017, Mason had 832 

The Associate Provost of Undergraduate 
Education has coordinated with school 
representatives to inactivate approximately 100 

4/30/18 3/31/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

 
Report Date:  3/7/18 
 
Management: Bethany 
Usher, Associate 
Provost for 
Undergraduate 
Education, Office of the 
Provost  

(11%) individual courses that have not been offered 
within the last four academic years (AY 2014-2018).  
Furthermore, there were 686 courses in the University 
Catalog which have never been offered to students.   

undergraduate courses.  Opportunities to 
inactivate additional courses will continue to be 
evaluated.  
 
The Associate Provost of Graduate Education is 
leading an effort involving the Faculty Senate 
and Graduate Council to revise the applicable 
policy to provide a more up-to-date course 
catalog. 

15 Report Name: Office 
of the University 
Registrar 
 
Report Date:  3/7/18 
 
Management: Michelle 
Marks, Vice President 
for Academic 
Innovation and New 
Ventures, Office of the 
Provost 

Evaluate and Implement Process and Oversight 
Efficiency and Effectiveness Enhancements: 
Registration transactions that require OUR action (e.g., 
enrollment adjustments, selective withdrawals, and 
program and domicile changes) are manual in nature 
with no secondary review prior to entry in Banner.  OUR 
processes several thousand manual transactions each 
semester which require faculty and staff approval prior 
to processing.  These transactions included, but were not 
limited to: course enrollment adjustments; selective 
withdrawals; domicile appeal changes; and numerous 
program changes.  The established Banner workflow 
does not provide for a secondary review to ensure data 
accuracy and appropriate approval.  Furthermore, the 
ability for post-entry quality assurance is limited since 
underlying Banner data is often limited.  

OUR management is continuing to evaluate 
internal and external, cost-effective solutions that 
offers better approval workflow and automation.  
OUR IT has a mix of MicroStrategy reports and 
other tools which may be appropriate for use.  
The Registrar has implemented manual quality 
control checks for select Banner transactions for 
the Spring 2018 term.  A monitoring log was 
implemented in September 2018, and a monthly 
dashboard will be provided to the Registrar by 
January 31, 2019.  It is anticipated that domicile 
appeals will be tracked as part of the scope of the 
larger Audit Vault initiative by March 2019.   

8/31/18 3/31/19 

16 Report Name: Office 
of the University 
Registrar 
 
Report Date:  3/7/18 
 
Management: Michelle 
Marks, Vice President 
for Academic 
Innovation and New 
Ventures, Office of the 
Provost 

Implement Banner Transactional and Activity 
Logging: 
Mason’s ability to monitor transactional data and log 
activity of staff and third party vendors at various levels 
within Banner is limited.  OUR management identified 
areas where limited or no monitoring exists due to a lack 
of transactional and activity history, including: student 
attributes; registration permits and overrides; student 
holds; academic standing; visa status; segregation of 
duties or unauthorized transactions; grading activity; and 
the Banner tables that control the majority of student 
data where an erroneous or unapproved change can have 
a significant impact. 

In preparation for the installation of “Audit 
Vault” software to capture Banner activity, the 
OUR has documented critical monitoring 
requirements for discussion and implementation 
with ITS.  Even though the software will be 
installed, it will take many months to identify 
what will be monitored and develop the logic 
before the software can be fully deployed.  In the 
interim prior to Audit Vault implementation and 
full usage, the Registrar has dedicated staff to 
quality control check and monitor select Banner 
transactions.  A monitoring log was implemented 
in September 2018, and a monthly dashboard will 
be provided to the Registrar by January 2019. 
 

10/31/18 3/31/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

ITS has begun the process of implementing 
Banner logging capabilities at the database-level.  
Use cases have been developed to determine 
which database tables and records should be 
logged, and events that trigger alerts, in ITSO’s 
Splunk tool.  The OUR is monitoring ITS’ 
progress toward implementing a technical 
solution and has determined that the remediation 
efforts are currently on track for March 31, 2019 
completion. 

17 Report Name: 
Employee Leave 
Reporting and Remote 
Work Agreement 
 
Report Date:  8/29/18 
 
Management: Sue 
Tinsman, Assistant Vice 
President, Payroll, 
Human 
Resources/Payroll 

Clarify Standard Remote Work Agreement on 
Allowable Reimbursable Expenses: 
University Policy #2202, “Flexible Work” and 
University Policy #2113 govern the administration of 
telework and remote work programs offered by the 
university. Any financial arrangements associated with 
these agreements are at the discretion of the employee’s 
work unit and do not require review and/or approval by 
Human Resources. University Policies #2202 and #2213 
should be reviewed to determine if there are any 
provisions requiring additional guidance and 
clarification regarding allowable reimbursable expenses. 

Human Resources/Payroll will work with Fiscal 
Services to review and clarify these policies. 

3/31/19 3/31/19 

18 Report Name: Office 
of the Provost: 
Decentralized IT 
Management and 
Security 
  
Report Date:  10/23/15 
 
Management: Thomas 
Shifflett, Director, 
Information Technology 
Services Enterprise 
Applications 

Design and Document Development Methodologies 
and Procedures: 
The Provost IT Team has only recently begun to develop 
a framework of activities, documentation, and project 
management for system or software acquisition or 
development on behalf of Provost area units requesting 
their services. Project development life cycle or project 
management techniques have been executed ad hoc 
using informally communicated expectations of 
standards. While there are numerous development 
methodologies and none are one size fits all, good 
development and project management standards is the 
strongest control to help avoid primary causes of project 
failures.  

The Provost IT Team’s original intent was to 
leverage Information Technology Services’ 
design documentation and methodology.  The 
Provost IT assets and operations were merged 
with ITS in July 2016.  As part of this transition, 
management is finalizing documentation and 
implementation steps for using the agile 
methodology and, for the Banner team, the 
waterfall methodology.  Final comments on the 
draft standards and templates are being reviewed; 
revisions are due by November 30, 2018.  
 
Enterprise Applications is starting the process of 
developing a standard set of artifacts, processes 
and procedures. Mature processes and procedures 
are expected to be implemented by April 2019.  

4/30/16 4/30/19 

19 Report Name: Use of 
Wiley edu LLP 

Develop Comprehensive Plan to Strengthen 
Technology Environment: 

Management has initiated a number of projects to 
strengthen Mason’s overall technology 

7/15/18 5/15/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

Employees to Process 
Certain Registration 
Transactions 
 
Report Date:  10/6/17 
 
Management: Marilyn 
Smith, Vice President & 
Chief Information 
Officer, Information 
Technology Services  

Management recognizes that Mason’s existing 
technology environment presents certain risks to the 
accomplishment of strategic objectives and to robustly 
controlling transaction processing.   
 
Management should develop and review with executive 
management a comprehensive plan, with timelines and 
resource needs, to improve the capability of the existing 
technology environment to respond flexibly to changes 
in business models, products and services, processes, 
and operations while robustly addressing the risks 
presented. 

environment.  These projects are in various stages 
of study, planning, execution, or implementation.  
They are designed to position ITS to support 
Smart Growth and are included in ITS’ FY19 
operational goals.  Major projects include the 
Banner 9 upgrade; Banner Cloud planning; WiFi 
assessment and planning; IT Security assessment 
and roadmap; implementation of a data 
integration platform; development of a robust, 
secure computing environment to support 
research; and new IT security policies and 
controls. 
 
By April 2019, ITS plans to update the IT 
strategy to support the refreshed Mason Strategic 
Plan.  The revised IT Strategic Plan will include 
milestones, resource requirements, and a three 
year roadmap of major initiatives. 

20 Report Name: 
Intercollegiate Athletics 
 
Report Date:  11/14/18 
 
Management: Brad 
Edwards, Assistant Vice 
President and Director 
of Intercollegiate 
Athletics 
 

Evaluate University Oversight of Camps and Clinics 
University sports camps and instructional clinics are 
designed and operated to improve overall skills and 
general knowledge of the sport.  Camps and clinics are 
governed by NCAA Bylaws which, among other things, 
allow athletics department personnel to serve in any 
capacity in a non-institutional, privately owned camp or 
clinic, provided the camp or clinic is operated in 
accordance with a number of requirements, including 
pricing discounts. 
  
Mason maintains a Camps and Clinics Manual, 
distributed by the Athletics Compliance Office to all 
coaches annually, which contains NCAA rules and 
interpretations regarding camp and clinics and provides 
answers to frequently asked questions. The Athletics 
Compliance Office also meets with camp directors and 
coaches to review rules and engage on specific 
situations.  Even if a camp or clinic is run independently 
of Mason (such as owned by a coach’s own LLC), it is 
still considered an “institutional” camp by the NCAA 
and all applicable rules apply. In these situations, 

Processes will be strengthened to ensure coaches 
operating camps or clinics adhere to Camps and 
Clinics Manual requirements and the provisions 
of Facilities Use Agreements, particularly related 
to the offering of discounts and treatment of 
potential prospects.  Management will continue 
to communicate expectations to coaches 
operating camps or clinics.  Documentation will 
be enhanced to ensure Mason’s ability to 
demonstrate comprehensive compliance. 

5/31/19 5/31/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

coaches also sign a facilities use agreement, which states 
that “occupant (the coach) shall adhere to all applicable 
University policies and procedures”, which would 
include requirements in the Camps and Clinics Manual.  
 
Our review of two camps and clinics determined that 
certain participants received discounts different than 
those promoted as available in brochures.  Also, certain 
documentation to support NCAA compliance and 
required by the Camps and Clinics Manual and executed 
Facilities Use Agreements was not always on file. 

21 Report Name:  
Enterprise Project 
Management 
Framework and System 
 
Report Date:  3/28/13 
 
Management:   Charles 
Spann, Executive 
Director, Information 
Technology Services 

Metrics Based Project Management: 
A cost estimation and tracking mechanism is not in place 
to determine and track time and costs to complete IT 
projects.  Such a mechanism can support improved 
comparative analysis, decision making about future 
projects, and project monitoring and control. 
 

Information Technology Services management 
continues to re-assess the appropriate process for 
making decisions regarding sizing and 
undertaking IT projects, including the appropriate 
level of consideration for time and cost, and 
tracking and reporting actual performance. ITS 
management’s pilot for estimating project costs 
did not yield a viable solution; management will 
identify a new pilot in alignment with the updated 
project management framework once the update 
is completed. 

9/30/13 6/30/19 

22 Report Name: IT 
Governance and Project 
Prioritization 
 
Report Date:  8/7/17 
 
Management: Marilyn 
Smith, Vice 
President/Chief 
Information Officer, 
Information Technology 
Services 

Update IT Project Management Policies and 
Procedures: 
Mason’s university policies address the procurement, 
development, implementation, and management of IT 
projects.  These policies need to be reviewed for 
potential revision as none of the three policies has been 
reviewed since 2014.  Such a review should consider: 
• Distinguishing IT projects requiring technical 

solutions from projects that do not. 
• Identifying the SDLC methodologies to be used when 

developing technical solutions. 
• Aligning with the most current (2015) ISO 9000 

Quality Management Principles standard rather than 
the 2000 version referenced in policy. 

• Developing approaches to manage and deliver 
projects relating to instructional programs, and 
research projects and initiatives.  

The Director-ITS Process and Planning has been 
affixed the responsibility for ensuring that all IT-
related policies are reviewed annually, and 
updated as necessary.  Non-substantive revisions 
have been made and more substantial changes are 
planned to be processed through the university’s 
standard policy update process during 2018.  The 
Project Management Framework Refresh project 
(initiated in January 2018 and target completion 
in June 2019) will satisfy the IT governance audit 
issues.   

12/31/18 6/30/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

23 Report Name: IT 
Governance and Project 
Prioritization 
 
Report Date:  8/7/17 
 
Management: Marilyn 
Smith, Vice 
President/Chief 
Information Officer, 
Information Technology 
Services 

Improve Governance of University IT Projects: 
The university has several processes for evaluating and 
prioritizing IT projects for development.   
• Prioritization of Strategic and Capital projects that 

support strategic objectives, improve service 
capabilities, enhance customer satisfaction, or support 
new building construction or renovations should 
consider the capacity of development resources to 
support the timing and scheduling of the work effort in 
addition to the already-considered project impact and 
effort levels. 

• Prioritization of Maintenance and Mandate projects 
which are required by federal, state, or local 
governments, or university management, or are needed 
to continue daily operations should be formally 
documented.  Portfolio Owners prioritize these projects 
within their respective portfolios and do not always 
document their prioritization decisions. 

• Management should evaluate the process for 
prioritizing IT projects that do not impact or involve 
ITS (i.e., Distributed IT projects); these are prioritized 
by individual departments.   

 
These gaps may result in a scarcity of resources that do 
not fully consider personnel and scheduling 
requirements, or the alignment of project resources with 
university strategic goals.  Decentralized IT project 
spending and activities may not be approved, governed, 
and appropriately implemented by university 
management. 

As part of ITS continuing to enhance, and 
strengthen compliance with, the Project 
Management Framework and the IT governance 
process, standard methods for ITS to track project 
resource usage will be implemented; this is 
expected to be completed by December 2018.  
Formal procedures to document Maintenance and 
Mandate prioritization efforts were implemented 
in March 2018. 
 
While IT Governance processes have been 
developed with an initial focus on projects that 
directly involve ITS, the processes can be broadly 
applied to other administrative and academic 
groups while also acknowledging that project 
control needs may vary depending on category 
and scale, and educating the university 
community will all be critical factors in the 
success of this effort; this effort is expected to be 
completed by June 2019. 
 

6/30/19 6/30/19 

24 Report Name: IT 
Governance and Project 
Prioritization 
 
Report Date:  8/7/17 
 
Management: Marilyn 
Smith, Vice 
President/Chief 
Information Officer, 

Complete Streamline of IT Project Management 
Framework: 
The ITS Portfolio and Project Management Office 
(PPMO) is updating its methodology (last updated in 
May 2010) for managing IT projects to streamline 
project management and system development activities.  
Although not yet documented, the updated methodology 
is practiced when PPMO staff act as, or provide 
guidance to, functional project managers.  Many aspects 
of well-recognized strong methodologies are included in 

The PPMO began a project to formalize the re-
fresh of the project management framework in 
September 2017.  Updated templates and 
procedures, and revised approval processes for 
each phase gates will be phased-in through Q1 
2018. The Project Management Framework 
Refresh project was initiated in January 2018.  
The new framework is targeted for 
implementation within ITS by June 2018, and 

6/30/19 6/30/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

Information Technology 
Services 

the updated methodology; however, there remain further 
opportunities to strengthen controls to reduce areas of 
inconsistency in how projects are planned, managed, and 
executed which may result in scope creep, planning 
enhancement, and insufficient support from the project 
sponsor or manager, among other things.  
 
Also, distributed IT projects are not subject to PPMO 
oversight which may result in projects being developed 
that do not adhere to the university’s IT project 
management methodology. 

communicated and extended to the broader 
Mason community over the next year. 
 

25 Report Name: 
Supplemental Payroll 
Payments 
 
Report Date:  9/5/18 
 
Management: Renate 
Guilford, Associate 
Provost, Academic 
Administration, Office 
of the Provost  
 
 

Evaluate Methods to Improve Unit Timeliness of 
Faculty Contractual Agreements and Banner 
Approvals: 
Seventeen individual faculty members had contractual 
agreements where the unit and/or Office of the Provost’s 
approval of the overload letter was delayed.  106 out of 
186 (57%) of job assignments reviewed had Banner 
approvals (the last required approval) which occurred 
after the job assignment began (based on the job start 
date entered in Banner).  Approvals should be in place 
prior to faculty or staff beginning their assignment.  If 
approvals are significantly overdue, compensation may 
be delayed where work has been performed.   

The Provost’s Office will remind units three 
months prior to the start of the semester to submit 
requests for overloads and work with individual 
HR representatives in the academic units to 
provide guidance on the process.   
 
The Provost’s Office is developing an electronic 
workflow system that should provide access to 
create these assignments and approvals done in a 
timely manner. 

6/30/19 6/30/19 

26 Report Name: 
Intercollegiate Athletics 
 
Report Date:  11/14/18 
 
Management: Brad 
Edwards, Assistant Vice 
President and Director 
of Intercollegiate 
Athletics 
 

Strengthen Process for Categorizing Countability of 
Financial Aid 
During the 2016-17 academic year, the University 
distributed athletic financial aid to ~350 (75%) student-
athletes, totaling over $5.6 million.  Among other things, 
NCAA Bylaws limit financial aid available to be 
provided to student-athletes through specific limits by 
sport.  The Bylaws also require that any aid received 
from the institution must be considered countable aid on 
squad lists, unless the aid meets certain exception 
criteria.   
 
During the 2016-2017 academic year, Mason Out of 
State grant financial aid was categorized as countable aid 
for some student-athletes and as non-countable aid for 
other student-athletes.  Mason’s Financial Aid Office 

Processes will be strengthened to ensure that all 
types of aid are categorized correctly as either 
countable aid or non-countable aid so as to ensure 
that specific limits by sport are not exceeded. 

6/30/19 6/30/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

confirmed that such aid should be categorized as 
countable aid, as it represents institutional aid.  
Categorizing countable aid as non-countable aid impacts 
the ability to monitor compliance with specific limits by 
sport.  We identified two student-athletes where Mason 
Out of State grant financial aid was erroneously 
categorized as non-countable; in each case, the specific 
count limit for the sport had not been exceeded. 
 
Management should strengthen processes to ensure that 
aid is categorized correctly and that specific limits by 
sport are not exceeded. 

27 Report Name: 
Intercollegiate Athletics 
 
Report Date:  11/14/18 
 
Management: Brad 
Edwards, Assistant Vice 
President and Director 
of Intercollegiate 
Athletics 
 

Evaluate Financial Aid Award Statement 
Distribution Process 
Student-athlete financial aid awards are approved by 
Athletics personnel and the university’s Financial Aid 
Office.  Financial aid award statements, signed by both 
Athletics and Financial Aid Office personnel, are sent to 
student-athletes by Athletics personnel, rather than by 
the Financial Aid Office. While the NCAA does not 
prohibit Athletics from sending financial aid award 
statements, leading practice is to centralize the sending 
and retention of statements to enhance segregation of 
duties and record retention.  Athletics and the Financial 
Aid Office were unable to locate the financial aid award 
statement for one of the 25 student-athletes sampled. 

Athletics Management will evaluate the benefits 
of centralizing the sending and retention of 
financial aid award statements.  The Compliance 
Manual will be updated to describe the processes 
and responsibilities, including record retention.   

6/30/19 6/30/19 

28 Report Name: 
Intercollegiate Athletics 
 
Report Date:  11/14/18 
 
Management: Brad 
Edwards, Assistant Vice 
President and Director 
of Intercollegiate 
Athletics 
 

Enhance Contract Administration Processes 
We assessed management’s processes related to vendor 
performance under contracts with Adidas, Learfield, and 
Mission Media.  In our view, contract administrators 
understood the terms and obligations in the contracts, 
and managed overall performance adequately.  These 
processes could be enhanced further by: evaluating 
usage of a tracking tool to document contract 
obligations; tracking spending data by sport team to 
support future negotiations; establishing an approved list 
of vendor subsidiaries and licensees to support Accounts 
Payable invoice processing; and documenting the 
contract revenue reconciliation process for use in future 
contract years. 

Athletics Management will review and enhance 
vendor management processes so as to further 
improve the management of contracts and better 
support future negotiations.  Among other things, 
the review will consider tracking of spending 
data in relation to contract terms, clarifying 
invoice processing, and documenting the revenue 
reconciliation process for future use. 

6/30/19 6/30/19 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

29 Report Name: 
Administrative 
Management of 
Sponsored Programs 
 
Report Date:  10/11/17 
 
Management: Deborah 
Crawford, Vice 
President of Research, 
Office of the Provost 

Plan for Scalable Research Administration to Enable 
Future Growth in Research 
In our view, Mason’s current research administrative 
processes are not adequate nor scalable to support the 
nature and extent of research administrative and 
compliance obligations likely to result from substantial 
future growth in the volume and value of research 
awards.  A 50% growth of the overall research portfolio, 
to ~$150 million, might require an additional $2.4 
million of expenditures (determined on a straight-line 
basis) to support research administration and compliance 
activities.  As management plans for such growth and 
sustaining its R1-Highest Research Activity 
classification, we believe there should be concurrent, 
comprehensive planning for the appropriate mix of 
people, process, and technology resources to effectively 
satisfy the current and future nature and extent of 
research administrative and compliance obligations 
while enabling faculty and researchers to remain focused 
on conducting research.  In conducting such planning, 
management should consider multiple areas, including: 
• Alignment, including ensuring that academic unit plans 

for growing research (and providing appropriate 
administrative support) are fully aligned with Mason’s 
strategic plans and goals. 

• Information technology, including systems, reporting 
capabilities, and interface automation which impact 
work process effectiveness and efficiency. 

• Organizational structures, including the appropriate 
mix of academic unit and centralized employees, job 
roles, workloads, time dedicated to research 
administration activities, and reporting relationships for 
academic unit research administrators. 

• Resourcing, including the appropriate level and mix of 
automation as well as academic unit and centralized 
employees. 

Management continues to work to develop a 
comprehensive, scalable plan for research 
administration to accrue efficiencies offered by 
contemporary enterprise systems that support 
research, to adequately support the administrative 
needs of Mason researchers, and to provide 
research administrative support best delivered 
centrally. This plan is being developed in concert 
with the update of Mason’s Strategic Plan and by 
a working group of stakeholders that includes 
representatives from Mason’s Information 
Technology Services (ITS), Office of Sponsored 
Programs (OSP), Research Development, 
Integrity, and Assurance (RDIA), the Research 
Council, and the OSP Advisory Group.   
 
 
 

7/1/18 7/1/19 

 



II. . Call to OrderCall to Order  

A. Approval of APDUC Committee Minutes from October 10,
2018

 

IIII. . Approval of MinutesApproval of Minutes  

1. Appointment of Faculty  

2. Appointment of Administrative and Professional
Faculty

 

3. Renewals and Reappointments  

4. Separations  

5. Other Announcements  

6. Summary of Faculty Actions and Announcements  

a. 1- BOV Appointment of Faculty December 2018.pdf
 

 

a. 2- BOV Appointment of Admin and Prof Faculty Dec 2018.pdf
 

 

a. 3- BOV RenewalsReappointments December 2018.pdf
 

 

a. 4- BOV Separations December 2018.pdf
 

 

a. 5- BOV Other Announcements December 2018.pdf
 

 

D. Faculty Announcements  

A. Provost's Update S. D. Wu

B. INTO-Mason Joint Venture Update M. Marks, D.
Burge, R.
Pascarell

C. Law School Diversity and Inclusion Project H. Butler, A.
Price

IIIIII. . New BusinessNew Business  

A. 2018-DEC-12 APDUC Agenda Revised.docx
 

 

1. APDUC Meeting MInutes 2018-OCT-10.docx
 

 

a. 6- BOV Summary Sheet December 2018.pdf
 

 

IVIV. . AdjournmentAdjournment  

Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee – December 12, 2018Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee – December 12, 2018

George Mason University Board of VisitorsGeorge Mason University Board of Visitors



GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 

BOARD OF VISITORS 

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee Meeting 

Wednesday, December 12, 2018 

A G E N D A 

I.  Call to Order 

 

II. Approval of Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee Minutes from 

October 10, 2018 (Action Item) 
 

III.   New Business 

A. Provost’s Update (D. Wu) 

B. INTO-Mason Joint Venture Update (M. Marks, D. Burge, R. Pascarell) 

C. Law School Diversity and Inclusion Project (H. Butler, A. Price) 

D. Faculty Announcements 

1. Appointment of Faculty 

2. Appointment of Administrative and Professional Faculty 

3. Renewals and Reappointments 

4. Separations 

5. Other Announcements 

6. Summary of Faculty Actions and Announcements 

  

IV. Adjournment 



GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 

BOARD OF VISITORS 

Academic Programs, Diversity & University Community Committee 

 

MINUTES 

Wednesday, October 10, 2018 

9:30 AM – 10:25 AM 

 Merten Hall, Fairfax Campus 

 

 

PRESENT: Rector: Tom Davis; Chair: Karen Alcalde; Vice Chair: Bob Witeck; Visitors: Horace Blackman, 

Dave Petersen, Nancy Prowitt, Paul Reagan, Edward Rice, Denise Turner Roth, and Lisa Zuccari; Faculty 

Senate Chair: Keith Renshaw; Student Representatives: Becca Keatinge and Bekah Pettine; Faculty 

Representatives: Reeshad Dalal and Christy Pichichero; Staff Representatives: Provost S. David Wu, Rose 

Pascarell and Julian Williams. 

 

ABSENT: Visitor: Anjan Chimaladinne 

 

I. vThe meeting was called to order by Chair Karen Alcalde at 9:30 AM.  

 

II. Approval of Minutes (Action Item) 

It was MOVED by Visitor Witeck and SECONDED by Visitor Blackman that the minutes from the 

May 3 meeting be approved. MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

III. New Business 

A. Provost’s Update 

S. David Wu – Provost and Executive Vice President 

Provost Wu provided updates on key issues and framed the conversation for the meeting. Dr. Wu 

remarked that the University’s enrollment is at its highest level, with over 37,000 students. As 

the university continues to grow, it will be vital to maintain Mason’s academic quality while also 

supporting the mission of access. The ADVANCE Partnership and the Student Experience 

Redesign, along with the university’s R1 research status, support our students’ demand for 

quality and need for affordable access.  

 

B. ADVANCE Partnership Update 

 Michelle Marks – Vice President, Academic Innovation and New Ventures 

With an initial goal of providing 5 curricular academic pathways, we are pleased to report that 

there are 21 ADVANCE curricular pathways in Phase 1.0 of the project that launched Fall 2018 

with 129 students currently enrolled. 189 students are in-process for Spring 2019. The average 

age of students in the first cohort is 22 – 37% are new NOVA students and 63% are continuing 

NOVA students. The average credits at time of enrollment in ADVANCE is 12. Top majors for 

the first cohort include: Management & Accounting, Cyber Security, Engineering, Biology and 

Criminology. Students receive both a Mason and a NOVA ID card upon entering the 

ADVANCE program so they are immersed in the Mason culture and opportunities from the very 

beginning of their academic journey. This week, 160 Mason and NOVA Faculty gathered in 

round-table discussions to design additional pathways and ADVANCE 2.0 anticipates increasing 

the number of programs offered to 50 pathways by Fall 2019. In the days ahead, the ADVANCE 

senior leadership team, including President Cabrera and President Ralls, will be meeting with 

area school superintendents to extol the benefits of the ADVANCE program. 

 

 



C. Student Experience Redesign 

 David Burge – Vice President, Enrollment Management 

Mason is engaged in enrollment planning to support strategic goal #4 of graduating 100,000 

career-ready students, increasing VA and out-of-state enrollments by 2024 to 42,885 students, 

and assuming ADVANCE gains, online programs and new international students.  Enrollment 

growth is bringing a more diverse student body to Mason, and the university’s goal is to scale 

service to support all students, not just campus-based traditional residential students. Mason is 

investing in a 2-tiered Mason Care Network, as well as turnkey technology that will put the 

student in the center of a network of care that better connects students to essential offerings and 

provides support from the very beginning of the student’s journey – whether they enter the 

university through the ADVANCE program; as a first-time freshman; or as a student transferring 

in from an institution other than NOVA. This will improve service, decrease service cost per 

student and improve retention and graduation rates.  

 

 D. New Programs (Action Item) 

It was MOVED by Vice Chair Witeck and SECONDED by Visitor Rice to approve the 

following programs:  

1. LLM in Cyber, Intelligence and National Security Law 

2. MS in Climate Science 

3. PhD in Business 

The MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.  

 

 E. Faculty Actions (Action Item) 

Chairperson Alcalde called for a MOTION to approve the actions; Visitor Witeck MOVED; 

and Visitor Reagan SECONDED the following faculty actions: 

1. Conferral of Emeritus/Emerita Status 

2. Elections of New Tenured Hires 

The MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.  

 

 F. Faculty Announcements 

Faculty announcements were acknowledged for the Committee’s benefit. No further discussion 

was held.  

   

IV. Adjournment 

Chairperson Alcalde called for a MOTION to adjourn the meeting; Vice Chair Witeck MOVED; and 

Visitor Rice SECONDED. The meeting adjourned at 10:16 AM.  

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

 

 

Amber Hannush 

Secretary Pro Tem 

 

 

 

 

 



Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

APPOINTMENT OF FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Arans Olga R. 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Modern and Classical Languages (CHSS)

Guo Liying 8/10/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Center for Spatial Information Science and Systems (COS)

Landoll Christine 1/10/2019  1 year

Title: Term Instructor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business

Additional Title: Professor of Practice and Director of Business Engagement

Lee Steven 1/10/2019  3 years

Title: Term Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Lehman Caitlin 10/10/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Term - Research
Local Acadamic Unit: National Center for Biodefense and Infectious Diseases (COS)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

APPOINTMENT OF FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Mullen Abigail 10/10/2018  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Acadamic Unit: History and Art History (CHSS)

O'Connor Sean M. 1/10/2019  1 year

Title: Term Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School

Pudukotai Dinakarro Sai Manoj 9/25/2018  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (VSE)

Swenson Erik T. 9/25/2018  < 1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Center for Ocean-Land-Atmosphere Studies (COS)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Baird Margaret 10/10/2018   

Title: Director of Donor Relations and Stewardship
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Advancement and Alumni Relations

Baker Kayla 10/1/2018   

Title: Project Manager/Business Analyst for Academic Innovation and New Ventures
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Office of the Provost

Bolno Zachary 9/4/2018   

Title: Deputy Athletic Director, External Affairs
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Bray Laurence 11/10/2018   

Title: Senior Faculty Fellow-Research, Graduate Education and Postdoctoral Training
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Office of the Provost

Brogdon Laurie 10/1/2018   

Title: Director of Alumni Relations
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Advancement and Alumni Relations



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Brumsey Michele 12/10/2018   

Title: Director of Advancement
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Volgenau School of Engineering

Clemons Crystal 10/25/2018   

Title: Director, Classroom and Lab Technologies
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Information Technology Services

Cotton Eboni S. 10/10/2018   

Title: Project Manager, Student Experience Redesign
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Office of the Provost

Dufresne Danielle 10/17/2018   

Title: Assessment Supervisor
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Psychology (CHSS)

Eppert Camden 5/14/2018   

Title: Head Assistant Coach, Wrestling
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Gott Morgan 8/22/2018   

Title: Assistant Coach Women's Lacrosse
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Hannush Amber 11/25/2018   

Title: Operations and Initiatives Manager
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Office of the Provost

Holmes Kimberly 11/25/2018   

Title: Associate Dean of Student Affairs
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Health and Human Services

Hundemer Kellie 11/5/2018   

Title: Assistant Director of Fitness
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Mason Recreation (UL)

Julie Trkula 11/10/2018   

Title: Associate Director of Administration and Finance
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Visual and Performing Arts



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Katopis Chris 10/25/2018   

Title: Assistant Director
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School

Kentish Shamika 11/1/2018   

Title: Assistant Athletic Director, Compliance
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Leonhardt Ayleen M. 9/25/2018   

Title: Assistant Director of Student Involvement
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Student Involvement (UL)

Madigan Kevin 9/10/2018   

Title: Deputy Director
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School

Morris Telliffer 11/12/2018   

Title: Assistant Director of Divisional Operations and Planning
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: University Life



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Morris Bradley 9/25/2018   

Title: Assistant Director of Student Success and Retention
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business

Muñiz Alvaro 10/15/2018   

Title: Project Manager/Business Analyst for Academic Innovation and New Ventures
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Office of the Provost

Nincehelser Stuart 9/10/2018   

Title: Attorneys General Education Program Director
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School

Ogden Jeffrey 10/18/2018   

Title: Assistant Director
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Disability Services (UL)

Powell Karla 10/17/2018   

Title: Assistant Coach, Softball
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Quiles Brandon 9/25/2018   

Title: Associate Director for International Programs
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: International Programs and Services (UL)

Railey Angela 11/25/2018   

Title: Associate Director of Financial Management
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Office of the Provost

Schait Emma 8/27/2018   

Title: Assistant Coach Women's Lacrosse
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Schlam Eli S. 4/30/2018   

Title: Associate University Counsel
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: University Counsel

Shaw Cameron E. 11/10/2018   

Title: Assistant Director, Orientation and New Student Programs
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Orientation and Family Programs and Services (UL)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Smith Jeffery T. 9/10/2018   

Title: Associate Director, Henry G. Manne Programs
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School

Thompson Michelle 10/19/2018   

Title: Director of Marketing and Communications
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Health and Human Services

Vay Peter 12/3/2018   

Title: Research Services Librarian
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School

Woolsey John M. 1/10/2019   

Title: Director of Faculty and Curriculum Development
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Acadamic Unit: Honors College



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Avila Kimberly 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Baker Courtney K. 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Barthold Christine 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Bean Amanda K. 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Berg Scott 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Associate Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: English (CHSS)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Birerdinc Aybike 10/10/2018  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Systems Biology (COS)

Blair Virginia 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Health and Human Services

Breno Alex J. 9/12/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Criminology, Law and Society (CHSS)

Brown Stephen 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Health Administration and Policy (CHHS)

Buckley Martha 10/20/2018  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Center for Ocean-Land-Atmosphere Studies (COS)



Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Burroughs James 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Associate Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Chapman Jeannette 6/25/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Additional Title: Deputy Director of the Stephen S. Fuller Institute/ Senior Research
Associate

Chin Lisa 6/25/2018  At will

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Rehabilitation Sciences (CHHS)

Chung Yoo Sun 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Associate Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Collins John 6/25/2018  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Rehabilitation Sciences (CHHS)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Daigle Delton T. 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Davis Justin B. 10/10/2018  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Center for Applied Proteomics and Molecular Medicine (COS)

Deneva Iulia S. 9/2/2018  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Physics and Astronomy (COS)

Dolci Stefano 11/10/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Collision Safety and Analysis (COS)

Edner Sheldon M 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Full Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government



Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Fisher-Maltese Carley 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Fyock Marcie 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Garrison Victoria 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Nursing (CHHS)

Additional Title: Physician

Goodknight Adrienne 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Instructor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Nursing (CHHS)

Henderson Thomas 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Instructor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Health Administration and Policy (CHHS)



Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Jerome Marci B 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Associate Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Jones Tina 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Instructor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Jones Rebecca 6/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Associate Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Science

Kauzlarich Richard 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Distinguished Visiting Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Additional Title: Co-Director of the Center for Energy Science and Policy and
Director, Peace Operations

Kelly Nancy 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Nursing (CHHS)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Knight Kelly L. 6/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Science

Lerch Jennifer 7/25/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Criminology, Law and Society (CHSS)

Li Sanmei 8/10/2018  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Geography and Geoinformation Science (COS)

Lin MingKuan 10/25/2018  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Systems Biology (COS)

Magni Ruben 11/10/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Center for Applied Proteomics and Molecular Medicine (COS)



Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Malur Michal J. 6/25/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Additional Title: Director of External Programs

Nelson George 8/10/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Physics and Astronomy (COS)

Nelson Mary 6/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Associate Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Science

Nolan Matthew 8/25/2018  3 years

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Computer Game Design (CVPA)

Norden Luanne 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Instructor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development



Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
O'Brien Kristen Merrill 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Pamas Roberto A. 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Associate Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Parham Candace 5/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Perilla German 6/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Instructor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business

Additional Title: Center for Innovation and Entrepreneurship Fellow and Director of
the George Mason University Honey Bee Initiative

Piccione Eric 8/25/2018  3 years

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Computer Game Design (CVPA)



Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Ray Sharon 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Rioux-Bailey Carmen 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Instructor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Secrest Nathan J. 9/25/2018  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Physics and Astronomy (COS)

Seubert Angela K. 9/25/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Criminology, Law and Society (CHSS)

Shafroth Frank 6/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Instructor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Additional Title: Director of the State and Local Government Leadership Center



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Stone Deborah W. 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Stone Victoria J. 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Sweet Colleen A. 6/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Modern and Classical Languages (CHSS)

Talbot Lee 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Environmental Science and Policy (COS)

Taylor Kevin 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Instructor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development



Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Taylor III Eugene A. 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Associate Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: English (CHSS)

Additional Title: Editor of the English Department Newsletter, Fall for the Book
Marketing Director, and Director of the Creative Writing Program

Walker Laura M. 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Associate Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Wang Zhi 10/1/2018  1 year

Title: Research Professor
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Wilkins Terry 6/10/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Criminology, Law and Society (CHSS)

Wise Sandra 7/1/2018  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Research
Local Acadamic Unit: Criminology, Law and Society (CHSS)

Additional Title: Interviewer



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Wolfe James 8/25/2018  1 year

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Classification: Instructional
Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business



Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Abdalla Wagida Retirement 05/24/2018 

Title: Executive Director, Health Services
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Student Health Services (UL)

Ackley Adriane Retirement 08/24/2018 

Title: Director of Alumni Operations
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: University Development and Alumni Affairs

Alisantosa
Tjandrawati
(Bernadette)

Resignation 10/12/2018 

Title: Attending Veterinarian
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Office of Research Integrity and Assurance

Brower Kelly Resignation 10/12/2018 

Title: Resident Director
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Housing and Residence Life (UL)

Chin Lisa Resignation 11/02/2018 

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Research

Local Acadamic Unit: Rehabilitation Sciences (CHHS)



Classification:Tenured (without term) -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Cramton Catherine Retirement 06/01/2018 

Title: Professor without Term
Instructional

Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business

Crone Jamaal A. Contract expiration 04/12/2018 

Title: Counselor
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Counseling and Psychological Services (UL)

Danto Gregory K. Resignation 05/08/2018 

Title: Assistant Coach Women's Lacrosse
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Davis Claudette P. Resignation 02/23/2018 

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Instructional

Local Acadamic Unit: Biology (COS)

Dissauer Elizabeth Resignation 03/21/2018 

Title: Associate Director of Donor Relations and Stewardship
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Advancement and Alumni Relations



Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Tenured (without term) -

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Ferrance Christal Resignation 10/26/2018 

Title: Term Instructor
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: University Libraries

Griesinger Margaret Resignation 12/19/2018 

Title: Metadata Librarian
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: University Libraries

Hardy Thomas W. Resignation 04/23/2018 

Title: Assistant Dean, Chief Housing Officer
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Housing and Residence Life (UL)

Hazen Robert M. Retirement 05/24/2019 

Title: Clarence J. Robinson Professor
Instructional

Local Acadamic Unit: Office of the Provost

Heller Kristin A. Resignation 05/23/2018 

Title: Associate Campaign Director
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School



Classification:

Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Hock Stefan J. Resignation 05/24/2019 

Title: Assistant Professor
Instructional

Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business

Huang Fuxin Resignation 09/24/2018 

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Research

Local Acadamic Unit: Physics and Astronomy (COS)

Hyatt Sarana Resignation 09/05/2018 

Title: Assistant Coach, Men & Women Track & Field, Cross Country
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Imran Muhammad Resignation 04/20/2018 

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Research

Local Acadamic Unit: Center for Excellence in Command, Control, Communications,
Computing and Intelligence (VSE)

MacNeil Bradly Resignation 12/07/2018 

Title: Senior Associate Director
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Counseling and Psychological Services (UL)



Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Mauck Dixie Resignation 04/24/2018 

Title: Lead Teacher
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Child Development Center

McManus Helen Resignation 12/31/2018 

Title: Public Policy, Government and International Affairs Librarian
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: University Libraries

Montoro Mary Elizabeth Resignation 10/31/2018 

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Research

Local Acadamic Unit: Communication (CHSS)

Murphy Timothy Retirement 11/24/2018 

Title: Director, Classroom and Lab Technologies
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Classroom and Lab Technologies

Nagorsen Ted W. Resignation 09/01/2018 

Title: Head Coach, Women's Rowing
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics



Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
O'Brien Alyssa Resignation 10/12/2018 

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Research

Local Acadamic Unit: Criminology, Law and Society (CHSS)

Pope Zachary T. Resignation 08/01/2018 

Title: Director of University Life Safety, Planning and Emergency Management
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Housing and Residence Life (UL)

Potter Penny Resignation 09/24/2018 

Title: Interim Director, Executive Education Programs
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Center for the Advancement of Well-Being (CHSS)

Pullar Robert B. Retirement 04/24/2018 

Title: Accounting and ERP Specialist
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Capital Connection

Quolas Kiana Resignation 08/31/2018 

Title: Assistant Coach, Softball
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics



Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

Classification:Tenured (without term) -

Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Rockwood Jane Retirement 09/24/2018 

Title: Pre-Medical Advisor
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Student Academic Affairs, Advising and Retention

Schneider Edwin Resignation 12/10/2018 

Title: Research Professor
Research

Local Acadamic Unit: Atmospheric, Oceanic and Earth Sciences (COS)

Shack Fred Retirement 07/01/2018 

Title: Associate Professor
Instructional

Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Spooner Daniel Resignation 08/20/2018 

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Research

Local Acadamic Unit: Environmental Science and Policy (COS)

Storie Hollie Resignation 09/28/2018 

Title: Prevention Program Manager
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Criminology, Law and Society (CHSS)



Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Strauss Charlotte Retirement 02/01/2019 

Title: Career Counselor
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: University Career Services (UL)

Tait Tamika T. Resignation 09/07/2018 

Title: Resident Director
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Housing and Residence Life (UL)

Tsiounis Dimitrios Resignation 09/01/2018 

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Research

Local Acadamic Unit: Computer Science (VSE)

Urman Anna Resignation 09/16/2018 

Title: Director of Procurement Technical Assistance Program
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Mason Enterprise Center

Webster Dennis Resignation 05/24/2018 

Title: Associate Dean
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: University Life



Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Westcott Stephanie Contract expiration 12/24/2018 

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Research

Local Acadamic Unit: History and Art History (CHSS)

Wheeler Kathy Resignation 05/24/2018 

Title: President, Community Business Partnership
Admin/Professional

Local Acadamic Unit: Mason Enterprise Center

Young Peter Resignation 11/26/2018 

Title: Research Professor
Research

Local Acadamic Unit: Physics and Astronomy (COS)



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Atienza Lorenzo S.   Title Change

Title: Assistant Director of Funds Management
Local Acadamic Unit: Office of Student Financial Aid

Previous Title:Financial Aid Accounts Manager

Billingham Lisa   Title Change

Title: Director of Graduate Studies in the School of Music
Local Acadamic Unit: Music (CVPA)

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Bowdoin Jessica J.   Title Change

Title: Head, Resource Licensing and Delivery
Local Acadamic Unit: University Libraries

Previous Title:Head of Access Services

Broeckelman- Post Melissa   Title Change

Title: Associate Professor without Term
Local Acadamic Unit: Communication (CHSS)

Additional Title:Basic Course Director

Brown Jacquelyn   Title Change

Title: Area Chair, Business Foundations
Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business

Retained Title-Term Instructor



Note(s):

Note(s): Professor Collins is converting from Research Faculty to Instructional Faculty.

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Buchy Jackie Sanders   Title Change

Title: Senior Assistant Dean, Graduate Enrollment
Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business

Previous Title:Assistant Dean for Graduate Enrollment

Collins John   Conversion

Title: Term Assistant Professor
Local Acadamic Unit: Rehabilitation Sciences (CHHS)

Ford Meggan C.   Title Change

Title: Assistant Dean, Undergraduate Academic Services
Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business

Previous Title:Director, Undergraduate Programs

Freer Jeremy   Title Change

Title: Associate Director of Athletic Bands
Local Acadamic Unit: Music (CVPA)

Previous Title:Assistant Director of Athletic Bands

Gallo Sina   Tenure Track Contract
Extension

Title: Assistant Professor
Local Acadamic Unit: Nutrition and Food Studies (CHHS)



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Garoupa Nuno   Title Change

Title: Associate Dean for Research Faculty Development
Local Acadamic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School

Additional Title:Faculty Director, Graduate Studies

Hess Richard M.   Title Change

Title: Director of Analytics, Assessment, and Accreditation
Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business

Previous Title:Associate Director of Accreditation and Assessment

Jones James B.   Title Change

Title: Associate Director, Advising and Academic Services
Local Acadamic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)

Kelly Anthony E.   Title Change

Title: Associate Dean for Research
Local Acadamic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Kirkpatrick Jesse L.   Title Change

Title: Interim Director of the Institute for Philosophy and Public Policy
Local Acadamic Unit: Philosophy (CHSS)

Retained Title-Assistant Director of the Institute for Philosophy and Public Policy



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
McDonald Heather   Title Change

Title: Writer-in-Residence
Local Acadamic Unit: Theater (CVPA)

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Moorman Barbara S.   Title Change

Title: Associate Director of Academic Services
Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business

Previous Title:Assistant Director, Academic Services

Oetjen Cheryl A.   Title Change

Title: Interim Director, School of Nursing
Local Acadamic Unit: Nursing (CHHS)

Retained Title-Term Assistant Professor and Assistant Dean for MSN and DNP
Programs

Robinson Jennifer W.   Title Change

Title: Assistant Vice President, Advancement Initiatives and Engagement
Local Acadamic Unit: The Office of Advancement and Alumni Relations

Rowan Carl   Title Change

Title: Assistant Vice President for Public Safety and Chief of Police
Local Acadamic Unit: University Police Department

Previous Title:Chief of Police



Note(s):

Note(s):
Professor Snow will be on Leave without Pay for the 2018-2019 Academic Year to teach at
Norwich University in Vermont.

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

December 12, 2018 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Satyapal Shobita   Title Change

Title: COS Dean's Fellow
Local Acadamic Unit: Physics and Astronomy (COS)

Retained Title-Full Professor without Term

Snow Charles   Leave without Pay

Title: Term Associate Professor
Local Acadamic Unit: Information Sciences and Technology (VSE)

Vadakkepatt Gautham Gopal   Tenure Track Contract
Extension

Title: Assistant Professor
Local Acadamic Unit: School of Business



APPOINTMENT OF FACULTY

9-month 12-month 9-month 12-month Research Grant Funded
Instructor

Assistant Professor

Associate Professor

Professor

Administrative/Professional 

Totals

9-month 12-month 9-month 12-month Total
Instructor

Assistant Professor

Associate Professor

Professor

Administrative/Professional 

Totals

SEPARATIONS

Resignation Retirement
Contract

Expiration Deceased Total

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS

Leave with pay Leave w/o pay Title Change Conversion Total

Term Tenure Track
RENEWALS/REAPPOINTMENTS

Faculty and Academic Standards Committee

 SUMMARY OF FACULTY ACTIONS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

Term Tenure Track

Tenure Track 
Contract
Extension

*Summary Excludes Postdoctoral Research Fellows and Research Staff



II. . Call to OrderCall to Order

IIII. . Approval of MinutesApproval of Minutes

A. GMUF Chair Report - Jay O'Brien

B. Fundraising Needs and Priorities - Ken Ball, Dean,
Volgenau School of Engineering

C. Alumni Outreach Program - Chris Clark-Talley

D. Annual Giving Report - Chris Clark-Talley

IIIIII. . New BusinessNew Business

A. Board of Visitors Development Committee Agenda - December 12, 2018
 

A. Board of Visitors Development Committee Minutes - Draft - October 10, 2018
 

E. Campaign and Advancement Report - Janet Bingham

IVIV. . Old BusinessOld Business

VV. . AdjournmentAdjournment

Meeting Book - Board of Visitors Development Committee Meeting - December 12, 2018Meeting Book - Board of Visitors Development Committee Meeting - December 12, 2018

George Mason University Board of VisitorsGeorge Mason University Board of Visitors



 

George Mason University  

Board of Visitors 

 

Development Committee Meeting 

December 12, 2018 

11:00 a.m. – 11:50 a.m.  

Merten Hall, Room 1203, Fairfax Campus  

 

A G E N D A  

 

 
I. Call to Order 

 

II. Approval of Development Committee Meeting Minutes from October 10, 2018 

(ACTION ITEM) 

 

III.  New Business 

A. GMUF Chair Report – Jay O’Brien  

B. Fundraising Needs and Priorities – Ken Ball, Dean, Volgenau School of 

Engineering 

C. Alumni Outreach Program – Chris Clark-Talley 

D. Annual Giving Report – Chris Clark-Talley 

E. Campaign and Advancement Report – Janet Bingham  

 

IV.  Old Business 

 

V.  Adjournment 



 

George Mason University  

Board of Visitors 

 

Development Committee Meeting 

October 10, 2018 

10:30 a.m. – 11:20 a.m. 

Merten Hall, Room 1202, Fairfax Campus 

 

Meeting Minutes  

 

 
Attendees: Chairman Jimmy Hazel, Visitor Lisa Zucarri, Visitor Paul Reagan 

 

Absent: Visitor Wendy Marquez 

 

Guests: Visitor Steve Cumbie, President Ángel Cabrera, Vice President Janet Bingham, Faculty 

Senate Representative Keith Renshaw, Faculty Representative June Tangney, Faculty 

Representative Alan Abramson, Student Representative Becca Keatings, Board of Trustees 

Chairman Jay O’Brien, Dean Ann Ardis, Kathleen Diemer, Rob Riordan, Jennifer Robinson, 

Chris Clark-Talley 

 

I. Call to Order 

 

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Jimmy Hazel at 10:30 a.m. 

 

II. Approval of Development Committee Meeting Minutes from May 3, 2018 (ACTION 

ITEM) 

 

Chairman Hazel called for a motion to approve the meeting minutes from May 3, 2018. A 

MOTION was made, SECONDED, and the MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

BY VOICE VOTE.  

 

III.  New Business 

A. GMUF Chair Report – Jay O’Brien 

 

Mr. Jay O’Brien, Chairman of the George Mason University Foundation Board of  

Trustees, delivered an update regarding activities of the Board of Trustees.  

 

Dr. Cabrera expressed his appreciation for Mr. O’Brien’s leadership on the Board 

of Trustees and asked Mr. O’Brien and Dr. Bingham to provide a short overview 

on the status of the trial with Transparent GMU. 

 

 

 



B. Introduction and Funding Priorities – Ann Ardis, Dean of the College of 

Humanities and Social Sciences 

 

Ann Ardis, new dean of the College of Humanities and Social Sciences, gave an 

overview of her prior work experience and an update on her priorities for the 

college as well as the college’s fundraising priorities. 

 

C. Status Report on Final Campaign Communications and Events – Advancement 

staff 

 

Kathleen Diemer, Rob Riordan and Jennifer Robinson delivered a presentation on 

the plans for the “Faster Farther” campaign closing communications and events. 

The campaign officially closes December 31, 2018. 

 

D. Alumni Weekend Overview – Chris Clark-Talley 

 

Chris Clark-Talley presented an overview regarding the upcoming Alumni 

Weekend, October 11-14, 2018, activities. 

 

E. Campaign and Advancement Report – Janet Bingham  

 

Dr. Janet Bingham provided an update on University Advancement and Alumni 

Relations activities. We have raised $605 million to date for the Faster Farther 

campaign.  

 

IV.  Old Business 

 

No old business was discussed. 

 

V.  Adjournment 

 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 11:18 a.m. 



GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 

      BOARD OF VISITORS 

 

Research Committee Meeting 

December 12, 2018 

Merten Hall 1204 

 

AGENDA 
 

I. Call to Order 

 

II. Approval of Minutes (ACTION ITEM) 

 

A. Meeting minutes for October 10, 2018         

 

III. Presentation, Dr. Deborah Crawford 

 Amazon HQ2, Tech Talent and the Tech Innovation Economy 

 

IV.     Presentation, Dr. Houman Homayoun, Associate Professor, Department of 

Electrical and Computer Engineering 

 Towards Energy-Efficient and Secure Computing 
 

V.    Adjournment 

 



1 
 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 

      BOARD OF VISITORS 

 

Research Committee Meeting 

October 10, 2018 

Merten Hall 1204 

 

 DRAFT MINUTES 

 

Present: Provost S. David Wu; Chairman Horace Blackman; Vice President for Research  

Deborah Crawford; Visitors Edward Rice, Nancy Gibson Prowitt, and Bob Witeck; Student 

Representative Bekah Pettine; Faculty Representatives Christy Esposito-Smythers and Bijan 

Jabbari;; Guests: Edward Maibach 

 

Absent: President Angel Cabrera; Rector Tom Davis; Visitors Shawn Purvis and Anjan 

Chimaladinne; Faculty Senate Chair Keith Renshaw; Student Representative Becca Keatinge  

 

I. Meeting called to order by Chairman Horace Blackman at 

10:30 am 
 

II. Approval of Minutes (ACTION ITEM) 

 

Approval of May 3 2018 meeting minutes motioned by Visitor Witeck, seconded by 

Visitor Rice, approved by Chairman Horace Blackman. 

       

III. State of the Research Enterprise, Dr. Deborah Crawford (Attachments 1 and 2) 

 

Dr. Crawford noted that she feels confident that Mason will remain an R1 university in the 

next cycle of review from Carnegie, but also noted that taking a strategic long view and 

think about how to grow research in alignment with Mason’s growing academic programs, 

external funding opportunities and partners outside of the institution.   

 

Dr. Crawford described the Knowledge Virtuous Circle in our faculty -- researchers, 

scholars, educators and practitioners -- are at the core. Our faculty’s roles as research and 

scholars is what makes Mason a Research University and the Knowledge Circle includes 

knowledge creation through research and scholarship, knowledge sharing through 

education and learning, and knowledge impact through innovation and service. We can 

measure the quality of research and scholarship we create by metrics such as: 

  Articles in Scholarly Literature 

  Citations to Scholarly Literature 

  Sponsored Awards 

  Honors and Awards 



2 
 

Dr. Crawford the provided examples of these metrics from Mason’s faculty. 

 

Smart Growth in the context of Research Initiatives include the following initiatives that 

are funded through the university 

 Provost Multidisciplinary Research Competitions 

 Core Research Facilities (shared facilities and equipment used by multiple faculty 

and students) 

 Centers for Advanced Studies Competition (two centers selected last year) 

Investments made to ensure our faculty remain competitive. 

 

Mason will also be standing up three multidisciplinary research institutes:  

 Institute for Biohealth Innovation (IBI) 

Established in 2016; supports over 200 faculty; supports Core facilities 

such as the new MRI in Peterson Hall 

 Institute for Digital InnovAtion (CoS; VSE; SoB, Law School) 

Planned for 2018-2019 at the Arlington Campus; will focus on innovations 

in computing; graduate education and research opportunities across 

campus 

Currently supported by the College of Science, Volgenau School of 

Engineering, School of Business, and the Law School. 

 Institute for Sustainable Earth  

Planned for 2018-2019; advancing sustainable and resilient development  

Builds on a number of programs at Mason  

 

Dr. Crawford then provided a brief review of the research enterprise at Mason describing 

the university’s smart growth efforts to expand the size and impact of its research and 

scholarship.  These smart growth efforts seem to be working well – sponsored research 

awards increased in value by almost 40% last year (over the year prior), and in Q1 of this 

year, we are on track to increase the dollar value of awards even more.  These are the 

goals we need to maintain to meet our 2024 goals described in the Strategic Plan.  The 

faculty is really making astonishing gains in ability to attract R&D funding for the benefit 

of our students. Mason’s largest sponsors continue to be the Department of Defense and 

National Science Foundation. 

 

We need to continue to recruit, support and celebrate our world-class, tenure-line faculty. 

We also need to continue to support multidisciplinary collaborations with seed funding so 

that faculty can obtain early results to make them more competitive for external funding.   

 

After the presentation, there was discussion regarding the timeline and process for the Carnegie 

R1 Review. We expect an announcement from the Classification Committee in January 2019, 

which will be based on the 2015-2017 academic year data. Mason continues to be focused on 



3 
 

the future rounds and the metrics that Carnegie uses to make that determination.  We continue 

to celebrate the contributions of our social scientists and humanities faculty who have excelled 

at Mason and on whose work we continue to build. While much of the growth comes from our 

STEM programs, but the foundation of the R1 status comes from the work of our humanities 

and social scientist faculty.  

 

Mason’s multidisciplinary approach really sets us apart.  

  

III. Climate Change, Air Pollution, and Health Equity, Dr. Edward Maibach, University 

Professor and Director, Center for Climate Change Communication, College of 

Humanities and Social Sciences (Attachments 3, 4, 5 & 6) 

 

Professor Ed Maibach, Director of Mason’s Center for Climate Change Communications, and a 

distinguished University Professor in the College of Humanities and Social Sciences presented 

the work in which his center has been engaged. Professor Maibach is one of Mason’s most 

highly published and cited scholars.   

 

Dr. Maibach reviewed the research portfolio of his impressive center and the work that he and 

his colleagues are doing with respect to climate change, air pollution and health equity and how 

to communicate climate science and health impacts to the American public and lawmakers.  Dr. 

Maibach’s research is at the forefront of efforts to address the warnings issued last week by the 

UN Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) on the catastrophic impact of climate 

change on the planet and hundreds of millions of people within the next 10 years. 

 

Dr. Maibach described the Center for Climate Change Communication. The Center really has 

four legs: 

 Public Opinion Polling – in collaboration with Yale School of Forestry and Environment 

Climate Change in the American Mind: A nationally representative public opinion 

poll conducted every 6 months. 

Widely cited and used throughout the US 

Finding: American people trust TV weathercasters as a legitimate source of climate 

change information (3rd after scientists and family and friends) 

 Building on that finding, Center is now working with 602 local weathercasters to pair local 

climate changes with their forecasts to help viewers understand climate change. Funded by 

NSF 

 Former Congressman Bob Inglis (former congressman from South Carolina) – Runs a team 

called RepublicEn who tour the country to engage Republican thought leaders on the issue 

of climate change. 

 Climate and Health  

Most Americans do NOT know that climate impacts our health and hurts those at the 

lowest end of the economic spectrum the most. 



4 
 

Surveyed public health professionals and found that health care professionals are 

already seeing the health implications of climate. Public health professionals 

understood that climate change was impacting the people they serve but did not have 

the resources to address the issue. 

Dr. Maibach’s team then surveyed additional physician groups (three different 

medical societies), 70% of which indicated that they were already seeing the effects 

of climate change on the health of their patients. From that, the Center launched 

Medical Society Consortium on Climate and Health, which now has 22 medical 

societies working with the Center at Mason to educate the American public on the 

health effects of climate change. Attachment #s 3-4 describe this work. 

Finally, Dr. Maibach described the connection between fossil fuel and air pollution 

and neurological harm (Attachment #6) 

   

V.    Adjournment 

 

Chairman Blackman requested a motion to adjourn the meeting, motion provided by Visitor 

Witeck and seconded by Visitor Rice. Chairman Blackman adjourned the meeting at 11:12 am. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 
Rebekah K. Hersch 

Research Committee Secretary Pro Tem 

 

Attachment #1: Presentation Slides by Dr. Deborah Crawford 

Attachment #2: Crawford Handout – Sponsored Research Report 

Attachment #3: Maibach Handout 1 - 2017_Medical Society Consortium on Climate and Health 

_Annual Report 

Attachment #4: Maibach Handout 2 - Medical Society Consortium - Medical Alert 

Attachment #5: Maibach Handout 3 - Virginia Clinicians for Climate Action 

Attachment #6: Maibach Handout 4 - The Link Between Fossil Fuels and Neurological Harm 



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

The Mason Research Enterprise
Taking The Long View

Deborah Crawford
Vice President for Research

Research Committee
October 10, 2018



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

IMPACT thru innovation 
and service

SHARING thru education 
and learning 

Faculty as Researchers.. Scholars.. 
Educators.. Practitioners

CREATION thru
research and scholarship

The Knowledge Virtuous Circle



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

Knowledge Creation, Sharing & Impact
Performance & Results

Articles in Scholarly Literature

Citations to Scholarly Work Sponsored Awards

Honors and Awards

Andrew Peterson Ed Maibach

Jill Nelson Ginny Espina



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

SMART Growth
Strategic Research Initiatives

Institute for Biohealth
Innovation (2016)

Institute for Digital InnovAtion
(2018-2019)

Institute for a Sustainable 
Earth (2018-2019)

advancing sustainable and resilient 
development in support of a free, just, 

and prosperous society

advancing the health and wellness of 
humankind – individuals to populations 

– in support of a free, just and 
prosperous society

advancing innovations in computing in support of a 
free, just and prosperous society

Provost’s MDR Competitions Centers for Advanced Studies

Core research facilities



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

 $-

 $50,000,000

 $100,000,000

 $150,000,000

 $200,000,000

 $250,000,000

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
2

2
0

2
3

2
0

2
4

Federal $ Non-Federal $s Total $'s

2024 Goal
Mason Strategic Plan
($225M)

Mason Sponsored Projects
Performance and Projections

2018



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

Mason Sponsored Projects
Year over Year Comparisons

FY17 thru 
Sept

FY18 thru 
Sept

% change 
FY17 

to FY 18
FY19 thru 

Sept
% change FY 
18 to FY 19

Proposal No. 265 317 20% 300 -6%

Proposal $ $97,194,044 $111,764,231 15% $124,089,398 11%

Award No. 301 309 3% 292 -6%

Award $ $36,774,808 $46,106,248 25% $66,372,339 44%

Expenditures $ $31,924,834 $32,727,648 3% $38,366,476 17%

F&A $ $5,693,873 $5,931,645 4% $6,376,583 8%

FY17 FY18 Difference

Proposal No. 1172 1220 4.10%

Proposal $ $464,361,584 $565,918,702 21.87%

Award No. 917 957 4.36%

Award $ $107,873,848 $148,068,293 37.26%

Expenditure $ $100,364,096 $115,380,986 14.96%

F&A $ $16,976,209 $18,087,525 6.55%



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

SMART Growth
Fundamentals

 Recruit, support and celebrate world-class (tenure-line) faculty
• competitive start-up and retention strategies
• exceptional graduate students and postdoctoral fellows
• state-of-the-art research infrastructure
• research development support
• multidisciplinary collaborations and partnerships
• recognize faculty success

 Integrate research into education programs and support research impact
• develop innovative education programs leveraging research strengths 
• effect robust translational partnerships with non-academic partners
• provide valuable community services leveraging research strengths
• support an innovation ecosystem and advanced industries growth

Great vision without great people is irrelevant
Jim Collins, Good to Great







2017 Annual Report

The mission of the Consortium is to organize, empower and amplify the voice of America’s doctors to convey 
how climate change is harming our health and how climate solutions will improve it.



We are delighted to share this annual report with you. 
A year ago, several generous funders helped launch the 
Medical Society Consortium on Climate and Health, 
so we could pursue our mission of informing the 
American public and policymakers about the health 
harms of climate change and the health benefits of 
climate solutions. We identified and began pursuing our 

priorities: namely, developing and implementing strategic communications 
to reach clinicians, the public and policymakers; increasing the capacity of 
national medical societies and their state chapters to engage their members 
in pursuing our joint mission; growing a network of physician advocates; and 
building and strengthening the Consortium infrastructure.

The Consortium will continue to help members of the public and 
policymakers better understand that our health is our most precious asset that 
is at risk as a result of climate change.

Please don’t hesitate to contact me to learn more about what we’re doing and 
the ways we can work together. The time for us to make a difference is now. 
Together, we will.

Thank you for your continued commitment to protecting the health of current 
and future Americans.

With appreciation and excitement,

Mona Sarfaty, MD, MPH
Executive Director 

The Medical Society Consortium publicly 
launched in 2017 and was created to achieve 
several aims: to share clinical practitioners’ 
understanding of the health harms associated 
with climate change and the health benefits 
created by climate solutions; to increase public 
and health professional awareness of the 
climate change and health connections; and to 
encourage life-saving preventive and protective 
action. Three important findings from our 
research thus far include: (1) Most Americans 
are unaware of the health harms associated 
with climate change (and who is mostly likely 
to be harmed); (2) Conversely, most physicians 
are aware of the health harms, and many are 
convinced climate change is already harming 
some of their patients; and (3) People trust their 
physicians to provide them with information 
about climate and health. These findings 
strongly demonstrate that America’s physicians 
have an important role to play by educating 
citizens and policymakers about the human 
health aspects of climate change. 

Thanks to Our Funders

KRESGE FOUNDATION GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY

ENERGY FOUNDATION JOHNSON & JOHNSON



• The Consortium grew from 9 to 20 member societies 

• Our member societies represent over half of U.S. physicians (>550,000 doctors)

• 23 health and climate science organizations have affiliated with the Consortium

• Our web resources have received over 35,500 views

• 1,015 subscribers from 47 states joined the mailing list to receive the monthly newsletter 

• We added two notable Advisory Committee Members: Dr. Camara Jones and Dr. Ana Nunez 

• Since the official launch, the Consortium has been featured in over 100 news media outlets,
including NPR, MedPage Today, Medscape, NBC, CBS, Huffington Post, USA Today, 
International Business Times (Yahoo), JAMA, CNN, The Guardian, Scientific American,
Smithsonian Magazine, and many state and local media outlets. News coverage has included 
national news, health and medicine, science and tech, environment, and trade publications

• Social media activity through Facebook and Twitter has gained traction; the most impactful 
month was March 2017, during the Consortium’s launch, when our tweets earned 37,000 
impressions, averaging 1,200 impressions per day 

We are  
growing fast! 

2017 was  
a year  

of rapid  
progress.

Director, Dr. Mona Sarfaty presenting at the Consortium’s launch on March 15, 2017



• We released the report, Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health, in March 2017 
to widespread press coverage that continued during the ensuing months. We sent the report to 
every member of Congress, the President and Vice President, Secretary of HHS, Administrator of 
the EPA, the US Conference of Mayors, the National Governors Association, every Fortune 500 
company, and every RE100 Company, which is a group of companies pledged to switch to 100% 
renewable energy. The report is available on the websites of the Consortium and a number of 
medical societies and other medical groups, including the UN Office of Disaster Risk Reduction.

• For the first time, all, Consortium societies issued joint statements:
- Endorsing the Lancet Countdown report
- Opposing the President’s decision to leave the Paris Climate Change Agreement 
- Opposing the Administration’s decision to discontinue the Clean Power Plan

• For the first time, all Consortium societies sent joint letters to every US Senator:
- Opposing weakening EPA ozone standards for ambient air
- Opposing weakening auto emissions or fuel economy standards, decreasing the EPA budget, or 

discontinuing the waiver for California’s stricter auto standards

• The Consortium Director testified at EPA hearings:
- Opposing the decision to terminate the Clean Power Plan
- Opposing weakening auto emission or fuel economy standards

• Many member societies spoke out for the first time about climate change and health with these 
letters and statements.

• Each monthly newsletter featured an active and engaged “Champion of the Month” physician. 

• 370 physicians signed up to be Medical Advocates for Climate and Health and are logging their 
activities into our web portal.

We are making 
our voices 

heard! 

4
RESEARCH STUDIES 
AND PUBLICATIONS

47 
MEDIA ACTIVITIES: 
LTES, OP-EDS, TV OR 
RADIO INTERVIEWS

36 
POLICY ACTIVITIES: 
LETTERS, MEETINGS, 
AND TESTIMONIES

147 
PRESENTATIONS: TO 
COLLEAGUES, PATIENTS, 
AND THE PUBLIC

Activities by  medical 
advocates for climate 

& Health



“The health impacts of climate 
change are real, and they are current.  
I see them every day in my practice.  
It’s time we come together as 
physicians to address this threat.”

– Dr. Carlton Heine, Spokane, WA

VA
VIRGINIA

NC
NORTH 
CAROLINA

CA
CALIFORNIA

PA
PENNSYLVANIA

WA
WASHINGTON

MD
MARYLAND

UT
UTAH

FL
FLORIDA

MN
MINNESOTA VT

VERMONT

OH
OHIO

We are building our state footprint.
With Consortium support and encouragement, state activity is poised to take off in a substantial way.  
Critical mass has developed in several states, including Virginia, Maryland, Ohio, Minnesota, California, 
Utah, Washington, Pennsylvania, Vermont, and Florida; work has started in Georgia and Missouri.  
Coalitions with other major health groups, such as hospitals, city and state officials, clean energy 
advocates, and environmental networks in these states have become possible. We have provided an 
array of resources through our website, newsletters, and webinars to physician advocates as the basis for 
participating in climate and health education and advocacy activities. 

“The Consortium is really important to the 
work we are doing; this is a unifying concept 
for public health and healthcare providers.” 
– Dr. Seth Hawkins, Morganton, NC

With Consortium support and 
encouragement, state activity is poised 
to take off in a substantial way.  

- Dr. Mark Mitchell, 
Director for State Programs

“
”

 “The Consortium is supporting the formation of 
the Florida Clinicians for Climate Action, which is 
working to address the health impacts of climate 
change, particularly among vulnerable populations.”
– Dr. Cheryl Holder, Miami, FL

“Ohio Clinicians for Climate Action held an 
advocacy training day hosted by the Ohio 
Environmental Council that included engagement 
with legislators and a visit to the State House.”
– Dr. Aparna Bole, Cleveland, OH

“During the last year, Virginia Clinicians 
for Climate Action has held two medical 
education events at leading health systems 
and an advocacy day to focus attention on 
climate effects and solutions.” 
– Dr. Samantha Ahdoot, Alexandria, VA



2014-16 
Assessments of medical 
society members’ views 
(ATS, NMA, AAAAI)

April 29, 2016 
Briefing for medical societies on the national 
report, The Impacts of Climate Change of Human 
Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment

July 29, 2017
The Consortium begins 
recording live interviews 
with doctors at their annual 
meetings

Sept. 20, 2017
Consortium exhibits at Johnson & 
Johnson Changemaker Expo on the UN 
Sustainable Development Goals, UN 
General Assembly week, New York City

Oct. 25, 2017
Membership reaches 
20 societies

Feb. 2, 2017
Monthly newsletter begins 

March 15, 2017
Public launch and release of Medical 
Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our 
Health; website goes live 

Nov. 1, 2016
Support from the Kresge 
Foundation, the Energy 
Foundation, and Johnson & 
Johnson

Nov. 29, 2016
Webinar for member 
societies

MEDICAL ALERT!

Climate Change 
Is Harming 
Our Health

Dr. Colleen Kraft, President of the American Academy of Pediatrics, speaks 
at the launch of the Consortium.



2017 Financial Summary
CY17 Total Revenue $393,438.35

CY17 Total Expenses $345,661.28

We are optimistic that the Consortium will help members of the public and policymakers better 
understand that the health of all Americans is one of the most precious things at risk as a result of 
climate change. Financial support for Consortium activities has come from several sources over the 
last year and has been crucial in funding the staff that has shaped our success to date. More funding 
will be needed in order to maintain our current level of activity and realize the new opportunities 
that are possible based on the growth of Consortium activity. We would like to thank: The Kresge 
Foundation, George Mason University, the Energy Foundation, and Johnson & Johnson for 
generously supporting the Consortium’s mission. Our work would not be possible without their 
generous support. We look forward to involving them more in our work over the coming months 
and years, while also working with additional philanthropic organizations who support the work 
of our Consortium.

Thanks to Our Funders

KRESGE FOUNDATION GEORGE MASON 
UNIVERSITY

ENERGY FOUNDATION JOHNSON & JOHNSON



Looking forward to 2018
Capacity building activities are needed to ensure that all medical societies participating in the 
Consortium can effectively inform the public and policymakers about the health risks of climate 
change and climate solutions. The Consortium’s inaugural Annual Meeting, scheduled for April 
8-10, 2018, will help build the capacity of the staff and members of each society and strengthen the 
Consortium by creating greater cross society connections.

To that end, at the Annual Meeting we will provide participants with briefings on the most up-
to-date information about the current and potential near-term health harms of climate change 
and about a range of solutions—including options for enhanced energy efficiency, expanding 
production of clean renewable energy, putting a price on carbon, and fostering resilience and 
sustainability. The meeting will include communication training and visits to Congress.

Members of collaborating organizations like Health Care Without Harm, the American Lung 
Association, the Alliance of Nurses for Healthy Environments, the American Public Health 
Association, and many of our other 24 affiliated health and science-based organizations will join us 
at the meeting (see page 11). 

Over the next year, the Consortium will also augment our strategic communication efforts to 
convey our key evidence-based messages, and to share stories about the efforts of our member 
societies, state-level physician coalitions, and individual doctors who are advocating on these 
issues. The overarching aim of this work is to help members of the public and policymakers 
understand that our health is the most precious thing that is at risk as a result of climate change.



Steering Committee members

Beth Gillespie, MD, Society of 
General Internal Medicine

Claude Tellis, MD, National 
Medical Association

Shahnaz Fatteh, MD, 
American Medical Women’s 
Association

Kyle Bruce, DPM, American 
Podiatric Medical Association 

Nitin Damle, MD, American 
College of Physicians

David Peden, MD, American 
Association of Allergy Asthma 
& Immunology

Carissa Caban-Aleman, 
MD, American Psychiatric 
Association

Jerome Paulson, MD, 
American Academy of 
Pediatrics

Linda Van Le, MD, Society of 
Gynecologic Oncology

Julie Wood, MD, American 
Academy of Family Physicians

David Pollack, MD, American 
Association of Community 
Psychiatrists

Peter Yellowlees, MD, 
American Telemedicine 
Association 

Mimi Guarneri, MD, Academy 
of Integrative Health and 
Medicine

Nate Denicola, MD, American 
College of Obstetrics and 
Gynecology

Valencia Porter, MD, 
American College of 
Preventive Medicine



American College of  
Physicians (ACP)

American Academy of  
Family Physicians (AAFP)

American Academy of  
Pediatrics (AAP)

American Congress of Obstetricians  
and Gynecologists (ACOG)

National Medical  
Association (NMA)

American Academy of Allergy Asthma  
& Immunology (AAAAI)

American College of Preventive  
Medicine (ACPM)

American Podiatric Medical  
Association (APMA)

American Geriatrics  
Society (AGS)

Society of General Internal  
Medicine (SGIM)

Academy of Integrative Health  
and Medicine (AIHM)

American Association of Community 
Psychiatrists (AACP)

California Chapter of American  
College of Emergency Physicians

American Telemedicine  
Association (ATA)

Society of Gynecologic  
Oncology (SGO) 

American Medical Women’s  
Association (AMWA)

American College of Lifestyle  
Medicine (ACLM)

American Medical  
Association (AMA)

American Psychiatric  
Association (APA)

American College of Osteopathic 
Internists (ACOI)

Me
mb

er
 So

ci
et

ies
 

Our member organizations are committed to working with officials at all levels to reduce emissions of heat-trapping pollution, as 
well as with health agencies to promote research on effective interventions and ways to strengthen public health infrastructure—all 
with the aim of protecting human health from climate change.



Allergy & Asthma  
Network

Allergy and Asthma  
Foundation of America

American Psychological  
Association (APA)

American Medical  
Student Association

Children’s Environmental 
Health Network

Physicians for Social  
Responsibility

US Climate and  
Health Alliance

Health Care  
Without Harm

Climate for Health /  
ecoAmerica

Alliance of Nurses for  
Healthy Environments

Moms Clean  
Air Force

National Association of  
Social Workers

My Green 
Doctor

Climate Psychiatry  
Alliance

American Geophysical  
Union

American Meteorological  
Society

Virginia Clinicians for  
Climate Action (VCCA)

Health Professionals  
for a Healthy Climate

Utah Physicians for a  
Healthy Environment

Citizen’s Climate Lobby –  
Climate and Health

Association for  
Humanistic Psychology

Union of Concerned  
Scientists

Vermont Climate & Health  
Alliance (VTCHA) 

Affiliates of the Medical Society Consortium on Climate and Health are health and science organizations that are aligned with the 
Consensus Statement regarding the health threats of climate change and the health benefits of solutions.

Af
fil

ia
te

 O
rg

an
iz

at
io

ns



medsocietiesforclimatehealth.org
info@climateconsortium.org

facebook.com/docsforclimate

@docsforclimate

linkedin.com/company/medicalsocietyconsortiumonclimateandhealth
The Consortium is headquartered at the Center for Climate Change Communication, 
on the campus of George Mason University in Fairfax, Virginia. 

4087 University Drive, Suite 3200
Commerce Building, MSN 6A8
Fairfax, VA 22030

Advisory Committee
John Balbus, MD, MPH, National 
Institute of Environmental Health 
Sciences
Richard H. Carmona, MD, MPH, 
FACS, 17th Surgeon General of The 
United States and Distinguished 
Professor University of Arizona
Mike Coburn, Executive Vice 
President & Chief Operating Officer, 
Research!America
Gary Cohen, MBA, President and 
Founder, Health Care Without Harm, 
MacArthur Genius Award Winner
Harvey Fineberg, MD, President, 
Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation, 
Former President of the Institute of 
Medicine
Howard Frumkin, MD, DrPH, 
Professor and former Dean, School 
of Public Health, University of 
Washington

Robert Graham, MD Former CEO 
of the AAFP, and Advisory Board of 
the Robert Graham Center for Policy 
Studies
Bob Inglis, Director, RepublicEn, 
Energy and Enterprise Initiative
Jay Lemery, MD, Chief, Section 
of Wilderness & Environmental 
Medicine, University of Colorado
George Luber, PhD, National Center 
for Environmental Health, CDC
Ana Núñez, MD Associate Dean for 
Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion at 
Drexel University College of Medicine
Camara Jones, MD, MPH, PhD, 
Immediate Past President of the 
American Public Health Association
Jonathan Patz, MD, MPH, Professor 
and Director, Global Health Institute, 
University of Wisconsin



MEDICAL ALERT!

Climate Change 
Is Harming 
Our Health



Most Americans understand that climate change is real and are concerned about it.1 

But most still see climate change as a faraway threat, in both time and place, and 
as something that threatens the future of polar bears but not necessarily people. 
The reality, however, is starkly different: climate change is already causing 
problems in communities in every region of our nation, and from a doctor’s 
perspective, it’s harming our health.2,3,4,5,6,7,8 ,9,10,11 

Most Americans are not aware of the health harms of climate change. A recent survey 
showed that most Americans have not considered how global warming might affect 
people’s health, and few (32%) can name a specific way in which climate change is 
harming our health. Few are aware that some groups of Americans—including our 
children, our elders, the sick and the poor—are most likely to be harmed by climate 
change.12,13 None of these survey findings is surprising. There has been relatively little 
public discussion of the health harms of climate change. But we also know people are 
eager to hear from us. Most survey respondents said, in fact, that their primary care 
physician is a trusted source for information about this topic.14,15,16,17

We—physicians in medical societies representing over half of the nation’s 
doctors—see a need to share our growing understanding and concern about 
the health consequences of climate change with all Americans. We believe all 
Americans should know the following: 

1. There is a scientific consensus about human-caused 
climate change. The reality of human-caused climate change is no longer a 
matter of debate. Based on the evidence, more than 97 percent of climate scientists 
have concluded that human-caused climate change is happening. Many studies have 
proven this fact.18

2. In communities across the nation, climate change is 
harming our health now. Doctors know this because they’re seeing the 
health of their patients being harmed. Public health professionals know this too, 
because they’re seeing increasing rates of health problems associated with climate 
change in their communities. These harms include heat-related illness, worsening 
chronic illnesses, injuries and deaths from dangerous weather events, infectious 
diseases spread by mosquitoes and ticks, illnesses from contaminated food 
and water, and mental health problems.19

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



3. The health of any American can be harmed by climate 
change, but some of us face greater risk than others. Children, 
student athletes, pregnant women, the elderly, people with chronic illnesses and 
allergies, and the poor are more likely to be harmed.20,21

4. Unless we take concerted action, these harms to our 
health are going to get much worse. The sooner we take action, 
the more harm we can prevent, and the more we can protect the health of 
all Americans.22

Outdoor
Air Quality

Extreme Events
Flooding, Hurricanes, 

Storms, Drought

Food-Related
Infection & 
Agriculture 

Water-Related
Infection

Mosquito- and 
Tick-Borne 
Infections

Extreme 
Temperatures

Wildfires Mental Health
& Well-being

HOW OUR HEALTH IS HARMED BY CLIMATE CHANGE

 Impacts Differ by Geographic Region

This graphic illustrates key impacts of climate change on health and is based on reports from 

the U.S. Global Change Research Program. For more information, visit www.globalchange.gov.

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 1



5. The most important action we can take to protect our 
health is to reduce heat-trapping pollution by reducing 
energy waste and accelerating the inevitable transition to 
clean renewable energy. It is well within our power to accomplish this. 
Efficient buildings, neighborhoods that support not just automobiles but many 
ways of getting around, and smart energy policies are all essential and achievable. 
In addition to limiting climate change, accelerating a transition to clean energy 
has the added benefit of immediately cleaning up our air and our water so that we 
can all immediately enjoy better health. Everybody wants clean air and water, and 
better health.23,24,25 

This report will serve as a basis for our efforts to educate the public and policymakers 
in government and industry about the ways climate change is harming our health. In 
particular, this report—along with other materials produced by our Medical Society 
Consortium on Climate & Health and others—will highlight the urgency of this 
challenge and provide direction on how to respond to climate change to improve the 
health of Americans today and in the future. The health harms and risks from climate 
change vary from region to region, but all regions of the country are affected. As 
doctors, we have a unique role to play in issuing this alert and closing the gap in public 
recognition of this danger. Doctors and medical professionals are trusted voices on 
this issue, and we must do everything we can to make sure the public is aware. 

In sum, we are sounding the alarm that the ultimate danger of climate change is 
that it poses a danger to the health of every American now and in the future.

2 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health



The Health Harms of Climate Change

Some of the physical changes in our climate—such as the increased 
frequency of extreme heat events, extreme weather events, and air 
pollution—are causing direct harms to health. The big physical 
changes in our climate are also contributing to the spread of 
disease and threats to our nutrition and mental health. 

While these effects are experienced around the world, in the sections 
ahead we summarize what is happening to our climate, describe how 
these changes are harming our health, and identify the groups of 
Americans who are most likely to experience the harm.

CLIMATE CHANGE IS 
HARMING THE HEALTH 
OF AMERICANS 
ACROSS THE NATION

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 3



DIRECT HEALTH HARMS

Children bear a greater 
burden of climate-associated 

health impacts—and they 
have the most at stake as 

temperatures continue rising.Extreme Heat

WHAT IS HAPPENING?

Climate change is causing more very hot days; 
greater humidity; and longer, hotter, and more 
frequent heat waves. 

HOW DOES THAT HARM OUR HEALTH? 

Extreme heat can lead to heat-related illness and 
death from heat stroke and dehydration. It also 
can make some chronic diseases worse. 

WHO IS BEING HARMED? 

Anyone can be harmed by extreme heat, but some 
people face greater risk. For example, outdoor 
workers, student athletes, city dwellers, and 
people who lack air conditioning (or who lose it 
during an extended power outage) face greater 
risk because they are more exposed to extreme 
heat. People with chronic conditions such as 
cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, and 
those who work or play outside, are especially 
vulnerable to extreme heat. Young children, older 
adults, and people taking certain medications are 
also more vulnerable because they are less able to 
regulate their body temperature. Pregnant women 
are vulnerable too, as extreme heat can cause 
premature birth.

4 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health



FACT Heat illnesses are a 

leading cause of death and 

disability in young athletes. 

Every year, some 9,000 high 

school athletes are treated 

for heat-related illnesses. 

FACT Young men make 

up a third of all heat-

related emergency room 

visits in the US. 

FACT Football players 

may feel the most heat. 

They are 11 times more 

likely to suffer exertional 

heat illnesses than players 

of all other highs school 

sports combined.

My nine-year-old son Isaac was attending his last day of band 
camp when I received a call from the emergency room. He had 
collapsed in the heat, and was rushed to the emergency room. 
When my husband arrived at the hospital, Isaac was on a gurney 
with an IV in his arm, recovering under the watchful eyes of nurses 
and doctors. It was a terrifying experience for him.

That day was part of a record-setting heatwave in Washington, DC, 
one of several days that summer when the heat index reached over 
120 degrees. 

As a pediatrician, I know that Isaac is not alone in his vulnerability 
to the heat. Emergency room visits for heat illnesses increased by 
133 percent between 1997 and 2006. Almost half of these patients 
were children and adolescents. 

In August 2010, another record hot summer, a colleague treated 
Logan, a young football player, in Arkansas. He showed initial signs 
of heat illness—weakness and fatigue—during practice in his un-air-
conditioned gym, but he wasn’t treated right away. He subsequently 
developed heat stroke, kidney failure and pulmonary edema. 
Fortunately, kidney dialysis saved him, but it was a close call.

Every summer, I see the impacts of increasing temperature 
and heat waves on children like Logan, and warn parents of the 
dangers of increasing heat waves. 

I believe it’s imperative that pediatricians on the frontlines of this 
urgent problem speak out for children on issues that will harm the 
health and prosperity of our youngest generations. 

Isaac’s Story
By Dr. Samantha Ahdoot, Lead Author, American 
Academy of Pediatrics’ Policy on Climate Change; 
Pediatric Associates of Alexandria

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 5



Extreme Weather

WHAT IS HAPPENING? 

Climate change is causing increases in the 
frequency and severity of some extreme 
weather events such as heavy downpours, 
floods, droughts, and major storms. 

HOW DOES THAT HARM OUR HEALTH? 

Extreme weather events can cause injury, 
displacement, and death. Extreme weather events 
can knock out power and phone lines, damage 
or destroy homes, and reduce the availability of 
safe food and water. They also can damage roads 
and bridges, impeding access to medical care and 
separating people from their medicines. Stomach 
and intestinal illnesses tend to increase following 
extreme weather and associated power outages. 

WHO IS BEING HARMED? 

Anyone can be harmed by extreme weather events, 
but emergency evacuations pose extra health risks 
to children, older adults, the poor, and those with 
disabilities (if they are unable to access elevators 
and evacuation routes).

DIRECT HEALTH HARMS

When Baton Rouge was 
hit with a “thousand 

year flood,” it rained in 
sheets for days.

6 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health



The damage from the deadly Louisiana flood of 2016, which 
struck my hometown of Baton Rouge and surrounding parishes in 
August, was still visible long after the rains stopped. Months later, 
homes were still gutted, and refrigerators, washing machines and 
armchairs remained piled high on roadsides. 

When Baton Rouge was hit with this “thousand year flood”—a 
storm that has only a one-tenth of one percent chance of occurring 
in any given year—it rained in sheets for days. In the worst natural 
disaster since Hurricane Sandy, 13 people died, the coast guard 
rescued 30,000 people, and 10,000 people ended up in shelters. 
Some 180,000 homes and buildings were damaged.26 

The storm also unleashed a health crisis on survivors. Some fleeing 
their flooding homes lost their medications for hypertension, 
diabetes, and heart problems. Others reported stress, depression 
and anxiety in the weeks and months that followed. And long after 
the storm passed, some teachers reported children who felt so 
anxious and afraid when it rained that they needed counseling.

In the weeks following the storm, pools of standing water provided 
the perfect breeding ground for mold and mosquitoes. This was a 
problem because mosquito born illnesses like West Nile Virus were 
already found in the area. In some homes, mold from water damage 
still makes the air less healthy. We continue to struggle with the 
aftermath of this historic flood.

I believe our lives in Louisiana may never be the same because we 
will see continued suffering from the physical and mental damage of 
extreme weather—which is happening more often and with greater 
strength due to climate change. 

A Battered City
By Dr. Claude Tellis, Vice Chairman, Commission 
on Environmental Health, National Medical 
Association (NMA); Retired Pulmonologist

 22 Louisiana parishes were 

designated as federal disaster 

areas by FEMA in the aftermath 

of the floods of 2016.

Source: https://www.fema.gov/disaster/4277.

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 7



Air Pollution

WHAT IS HAPPENING? 

Climate change reduces air quality because heat 
increases smog, wildfires, and pollen production. 

HOW DOES THAT HARM OUR HEALTH? 

Poor air quality increases asthma and allergy 
attacks, and can lead to other illnesses, 
hospitalizations, and deaths. For example, warmer 
and drier conditions lead to an increase in 
wildfires. Fire smoke, which can travel hundreds 
of miles downwind, exposes people to harmful 
pollutants and increases emergency room visits, 
hospitalizations, and treatments for asthma, 
bronchitis, chest pain, and other heart and lung 
conditions. Warmer temperatures lead to a longer 
pollen season, and increased carbon dioxide in the 
air leads to higher pollen levels and more potent 
pollen. These factors make allergies and asthma 
worse and more common. Higher humidity and 
flooding from heavy downpours can lead to 
dampness and growth of mold indoors,  
increasing allergies and worsening asthma. 

WHO IS BEING HARMED? 

Anyone can be harmed by poor air quality,  
but people with preexisting respiratory  
conditions such as asthma or chronic  
lung disease are most vulnerable. 

AIR POLLUTION GLOBALLY  

Health problems stemming from air 

pollution are a global problem, and the 

burning of coal and other fossil fuels is 

making it worse. Some seven million people 

worldwide die early from lung and heart 

disease and cancer due to pollution.27 That’s 

more people than the population of Arizona 

or Massachusetts. This air pollution crisis, 

made worse by climate change, isn’t limited 

to foreign countries. The United States, 

especially the east coast and greater  

Los Angeles-area, has dangerously  

high levels of pollution, which  

leads to premature death,  

disability, and disease.

DIRECT HEALTH HARMS

8 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health



In June 2008, a wildfire devastated eastern North Carolina. The 
Evans Road Wildfire, which burned more than 45,000 acres and 
cost $20 million to battle, started in the midst of the state’s worst 
drought. As the fire burned for three long months that summer, 
plumes of smoke carrying dangerous particles covered the eastern 
side of the state and beyond. 

Researchers saw this fire as an opportunity to learn more about 
the harms to our health from air pollution resulting from wildfires. 
They studied two sets of counties in North Carolina: those 
that were affected by the smoke and those that were not. They 
tallied respiratory conditions, including asthma, pneumonia, and 
common respiratory infections, as well heart attacks and other 
cardiac conditions. 

Here’s what they found: Those living in counties affected by 
the plume had a 50 percent increase in the trips to emergency 
departments from respiratory illness like Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease (COPD), pneumonia and bronchitis while the 
other counties did not. The smoke also caused a spike in emergency 
department visits for heart disease not seen in the other counties. 
People with heart disease are exceptionally sensitive to the 
particles from wildfires. 

Blazing forests are just as damaging to human health as they are 
to homes and neighborhoods. Increasing temperatures and more 
frequent droughts caused by climate change are set to increase the 
number of wildfires in the US—and worldwide. It’s clear that not 
only our lungs, but also our hearts, are at serious risk.

Fire, Lungs and Hearts
By Dr. John Meredith, Emergency Room Physician, 
East Carolina University

 Aerial map showing counties 

impacted by the Evans Road 

Fire at the Pocosin Lakes 

National Wildlife Refuge, North 

Carolina on June 10–12, 2008.

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 9



SPREADING DISEASE 

Ticks and Mosquitoes

WHAT IS HAPPENING? 

Climate change is causing increasing 
temperatures, too much or too little rain, 
and severe weather events. 

HOW DOES THAT HARM OUR HEALTH? 

Along with the direct harms we’ve described 
above, these changes can lead to an increase in 
the number and geographic range of disease-
carrying mosquitoes, fleas, ticks.28 Mosquitoes 
that carry diseases like West Nile virus and 
dengue fever thrive in conditions that are 
becoming more common, and there is concern 
that malaria could reemerge in the United States. 
Ticks that carry Lyme disease have become more 
numerous in many areas and have expanded their 
range northward and westward.29 The tick that 
carries Lyme Disease is reported in 45.7% of U.S. 
counties, up from 30% in 1998.30 As these insect 
carriers of infection move to new areas, diseases 
not normally found in those areas can spread. 

WHO IS BEING HARMED? 

Anyone can be harmed by these diseases, but 
people who spend more time outdoors—where 
these insects and other disease-carriers live— 
are most vulnerable.

10 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health



It’s not a surprise that over the past five years, my practice has seen 
a rise in the incidence of tick-borne diseases, including Lyme disease 
and other infections. My physician colleagues used to treat two or 
three cases a month during tick season; now each of us sees 40 to 50 
new cases during each tick season.

Those blacklegged ticks, the carriers of Lyme disease, thrive in warm, 
muggy weather. In my home state of Rhode Island, where winters 
have gotten warmer and shorter, these tiny, sesame seed-sized insects 
have more time to bite humans and spread Lyme disease. Tick season 
used to be relegated to summer; it now spans spring and autumn. And 
this isn’t limited to the typical tick hotspot states. 

Across the country, doctors are seeing more patients struck ill by 
serious diseases like Lyme disease and West Nile fever. Because 
of the changing climate and the spread of vectors, we expect that 
Americans will continue to face new diseases and familiar diseases 
in new places. I know that doctors need to be ready for this and 
patients need to understand these dangers.

Four Seasons of Ticks and 
Mosquitoes—and Their Diseases
By Dr. Nitin Damle, President, American College  
of Physicians (ACP); Founder, South County 
Internal Medicine, Inc.

Because of the changing climate and the 
spread of disease vectors, we expect that 
Americans will continue to face new diseases 
and familiar diseases in new places. 

Doctors need to be ready for this and patients 
need to understand these dangers.

 A bull’s eye rash is 

characteristic of Lyme Disease.

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 11



Contaminated Water

WHAT IS HAPPENING? 

Climate change is causing higher water 
temperatures, heavier downpours, rising sea 
levels, and more flooding because of sea level rise 
and heavy downpours. 

HOW DOES THAT HARM OUR HEALTH? 

Each of these conditions can lead to 
contamination of drinking water, recreational 
waters, fish, and shellfish—all of which can make 
people sick. For example, heavy rains can cause 
fertilizers and animal waste from farms to be 
flushed into rivers, lakes, and oceans. There, the 
excess nutrients and warm waters promote the 
growth of algae, viruses, parasites, and bacteria 
such as Salmonella, E. coli and Vibrio. People 
get exposed to these pathogens by drinking or 
swimming in contaminated water, or by eating 
contaminated fish and shellfish. This can cause 
diarrhea and vomiting and, in severe cases, 
paralysis, organ failure, and death.31 A 1993 
Cryptosporidium outbreak in Milwaukee, which 
sickened more than 400,000 people, coincided 
with record high flows in the Milwaukee River, 
a reflection of the amount of rainfall in the 
watershed.32 The toxic algae bloom in Lake Erie 
that required shutting down the water supply in 
Toledo, Ohio, in 2014 is another example. 

WHO IS BEING HARMED? 

Anyone can be harmed by contaminated water, 
but some people—especially children, the 
elderly, people with weakened immune systems, 
people in remote or low-income communities 
with inadequate water systems, and people in 
communities that are dependent on fish and 
shellfish—are at higher risk.

SPREADING DISEASE 

 A couple paddle surfs as algae surfaces on Lake Erie 

in August 2014. Health officials sent samples to several 

laboratories for testing after finding Lake Erie was 

affected by a “harmful algal bloom.” The lake provides 

the bulk of the area’s drinking water. 

u E. Coli bacteria.

12 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health



SPREADING DISEASE 

Contaminated Food

WHAT IS HAPPENING? 

Climate change is causing increases in 
temperature, humidity, and extreme weather 
events like heavy downpours and flooding. 

HOW DOES THAT HARM OUR HEALTH? 

Each of these conditions can lead to food 
becoming contaminated by bacteria and toxins. 
For example, heavy downpours and flooding 
can spread fecal bacteria and viruses into fields 
where food is growing. Higher sea surface 
temperatures can lead to more pathogens and 
greater accumulation of mercury and other heavy 
metals in seafood. Foodborne illness has long 
been known to peak in summer due to the heat. 
Because pests, parasites, and bacteria thrive in 
warmer temperatures, farmers are using more 
pesticides on crops and drugs in livestock, which 
can cause health problems. The geographic range 
of mold and associated toxins is also expanding, 
affecting corn, peanuts, cereal grains, and fruit.33 

WHO IS BEING HARMED? 

Anyone can be harmed by contaminated food,  
but infants, young children, pregnant women,  
the elderly, the poor, agricultural workers, and 
those with weakened immune systems are  
more susceptible.

q A flooded cornfield in Gladstone, Illinois.

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 13



Threats to Mental Health

WHAT IS HAPPENING? 

Climate change is causing increases in the 
frequency and severity of some extreme weather 
events such as heavy downpours, floods, droughts, 
and major storms. These events and other 
changes are creating the direct and indirect 
physical harms we’ve described above.

HOW DOES THAT HARM OUR  

MENTAL HEALTH? 

Many people exposed to the worst extreme 
weather events experience stress and serious 
mental health consequences including 
depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress 
disorder (PTSD), and increases in suicidal 
thoughts and behavior. Such disasters are also 
associated with increases in alcohol or drug 
abuse. Children may also experience prolonged 
separation from their parents. Beyond the 
well-known risks specific disasters pose to our 
mental health, the physical, social, and economic 
stresses created by climate change all increase 
our risk of mental health problems.35

WHO IS BEING HARMED? 

Anyone’s mental health can be harmed by 
a disaster, but people at higher risk include 
children, the elderly, pregnant women and 
women in general, those with preexisting mental 
illness, the poor, homeless, and first responders. 
Farmers and other people who rely on the natural 
environment for their livelihoods are also at 
higher risk. 

DISRUPTING OUR WELL BEING 

u Neighbors embrace after looking through the 

wreckage of their homes devastated by fire and 

the effects of Hurricane Sandy in Queens, NY on 

October 31, 2012.

14 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health



What the Public and Doctors Think 
about Climate Change and Health

FACT Only about one in three Americans are aware 

that people in the US are being harmed “right now” 

by climate change.

FACT Yet, based on several surveys, two out of 

every three doctors think climate change has direct 

relevance right now to patient care.36,37,38

FACT Physicians say the most common ways in 

which climate change is harming their patients’ health 

are through poor air quality, worsening allergies, 

injuries due to storms, heat-related illness, and 

infections spread by mosquitoes and ticks. 

 A woman shops for food in a shelter during Hurricane Sandy.

Physicians in three medical societies* 

were asked the following question: In 

which of the following ways, if any, do 

you think your patients are currently 

being affected by climate change?

 (N=1868-1908)39,40,41

Health Harms
Responded 

“Yes”

Air pollution-related 76%

Allergic symptoms 63%

Injuries due to storms, etc. 57%

Heat effects 45%

Vector-borne infections 

(e.g., infections spread by 

mosquitoes or ticks) 40%

Diarrhea from food or 

water infections 29%

Mental health** 40%

*  The societies are the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma, 

Immunology; the American Thoracic Society; and the National 

Medical Association.

**  Results from one medical society only.

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 15



DISRUPTING OUR WELL BEING 

Threats to Nutrition 

WHAT IS HAPPENING? 

The level of carbon dioxide in our air is increasing, 
and the resulting climate change is causing 
increases in temperature, drought, and extreme 
weather events like heavy downpours and flooding.

HOW DOES THAT HARM OUR HEALTH? 

Rising levels of carbon dioxide in the air decrease 
the nutritional value of important food crops such 
as wheat, rice, barley, and potatoes. This happens 
because in the presence of more carbon dioxide, 
these plants produce less protein and more 
starch and sugar, and they take in fewer essential 
minerals. Higher temperatures can also result in 
more food spoiling. Drought can damage or destroy 
crops, and extreme weather events can disrupt 
food production and distribution by knocking 
out power, damaging infrastructure, and delaying 
food shipments. As a result, food can be damaged, 
spoiled or contaminated, reducing the availability 
of and access to safe and nutritious food.35 

WHO IS BEING HARMED? 

Anyone can be harmed by lack of food or 
malnutrition, but infants, young children, 
pregnant women, the elderly, and the poor are 
particularly vulnerable.

16 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health



In the report What We Know, provided by the American Association for the 
Advancement of Science (the largest scientist organization in the US), climate 
scientists concluded:

We are at risk of pushing our climate system toward abrupt, unpredictable,  
and potentially irreversible changes with highly damaging impacts.4 

The scientists tell us that, even if we somehow stopped adding greenhouse gases 
to our atmosphere tomorrow, more warming is now “baked in” to our climate. But 
the greatest risk is that at some point, warming will set abrupt and irreversible 
changes in motion. Such scenarios include the large-scale collapse of ice sheets in 
Antarctica, creating the potential for 23 feet of rise in sea level.5 The truly disturbing 
thing is that scientists cannot tell us how much warming it would take to trigger 
such scenarios.

As one of our doctors put it, “Even our ‘best-case scenario’ means we’re going to 
be seeing more with demanding health problems. But the worst-case scenarios of 
climate change really worry me. It would mean a level of human suffering we can 
barely contemplate, much less respond to.”42,43

RISK: THE CLIMATE FUTURE 
DOCTORS WORRY ABOUT 

Wall Street, NYC after 4°C of warming Wall Street, NYC after 2°C of warming



One of the key findings in the 2014 National Climate Assessment—the most 
comprehensive assessment to date of the impacts of climate change in the US—
was the following: 

Public health actions, especially preparedness and prevention, can do much to 
protect people from some of the impacts of climate change. Early action provides 
the largest health benefits. As threats increase, our ability to adapt to future 
changes may be limited.

Prevention is a central tenet of public health. Many conditions that are difficult 
and costly to treat when a patient gets to the doctor could be prevented before 
they occur at a fraction of the cost. Similarly, many of the larger health impacts 
associated with climate change can be prevented through early action at 
significantly lower cost than dealing with them after they occur.44

Doctors agree with climate scientists: the sooner we take action, the more 
harm we can prevent, and the more we can protect the health of all Americans.45

We believe the most important action we can take to protect our health 
is to accelerate the inevitable transition to clean renewable energy. 
As explained in the 2014 National Climate Assessment: 

Activities that reduce carbon pollution often also provide co-benefits in the 
form of preventive health measures. For example, reliance on cleaner energy 
sources for electricity production and more efficient and active transport, like 
biking or walking, can have immediate public health benefits, through improved 
air quality and lowered rates of obesity, diabetes, and heart disease. Reducing 
carbon pollution also reduces long-term adverse climate-health impacts, thus 
producing cost savings in the near and longer term. 

WHAT WE CAN DO: 
PREPARE AND PREVENT 

18 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health



In addition to limiting climate change, accelerating the transition to clean energy has 
the added benefit of rapidly cleaning up our air and our water so that we can all enjoy 
better health. Who among us doesn’t want clean air and water, and better health? 

There are economic benefits that flow from better health. These are discussed in 
the next section on health benefits.

In response to this Medical Alert, there are many actions that can be taken. Below 
are specific actions that can be taken by different groups.

DOCTORS First and foremost, physicians need to provide care to patients who 
are experiencing climate-related health effects. Beyond this, doctors can educate 
the public and policymakers to assure they understand the importance of action. 
Reducing heat trapping pollution is a priority, and vital health infrastructure must 
be prepared so health is protected from the risks of climate change including 
floods and storms. Health institutions should focus on reducing energy use, 
relying on clean energy to the extent possible, and avoiding negative impacts on 
the environment. Doctors can also encourage medical education at all levels to 
incorporate climate change-related coursework into curricula.

BUSINESS LEADERS Business leaders can take this opportunity to transition 
their businesses to renewable energy. Many businesses that are already engaged 
in this transformative change are reaping benefits in cost savings, job creation, 
and enhanced reputation. They can share their successful experience with other 
businesses and governmental officials at the federal and state levels. 

PUBLIC HEALTH AND THEIR PARTNERS Public health professionals are 
leaders in monitoring, prevention, preparedness, and public education on health 
issues. Climate change creates the imperative to do all of these. Examples include 
crafting early warning systems for heat and extreme weather events, advising 
hospitals and health system on preparedness, and collaborating with research 
institutions to enhance surveillance and community resilience in the face of inevitable 
climate-related disasters. Public health leaders collect the data and create the 
analyses and reports that keep other stakeholders apprised of how well we’re doing, 
collectively, to prevent and respond effectively to the health harms of climate change.

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 19



GOVERNMENT LEADERS Leaders in local, state, and federal government 
should immediately begin focusing on preparedness, providing the support needed 
to build resilience against damaging climate change impacts. Government leaders 
must also take ambitious steps to prevent the worst health impacts of climate 
change, including fully embracing clean energy, walkable communities, public 
transportation, and green building design. In doing so, they will deliver immediate 
health benefits for their constituents. 

ALL OF US We all should know our risks, especially if we live in areas that are 
particularly vulnerable to disastrous fires, floods, storms, and extreme weather 
events. Beyond that, we all have the opportunity to be part of the solution. We 
can reducing our emissions by reducing automobile use in favor walking and 
cycling, taking steps toward a more plant-based healthy diet, reducing our energy 
consumption, and, as it rapidly becomes more affordable, opting for clean energy 
from state and local utilities. The good news is that taking such steps will improve 
our health and everyone else’s. The final message for “all of us” is to get involved, 
not just as consumers, but also as citizens. Our health depends it.

We believe the most important action we can take 
to protect our health is to accelerate the inevitable 
transition to clean renewable energy. 

20 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health





Success: Reducing Air Pollution in the 
Northeastern States
In 2009, nine states in the northeast came together to reduce CO2 emissions from 
fossil fuel power. They agreed to the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI), 
which places a regional limit on the amount of carbon dioxide that power plants can 
emit and institutes a cap and trade policy. 

In addition to reducing carbon dioxide emissions from fossil fuel use, the RGGI also 
reduces fossil fuels’ well-known disease-causing pollutants: carbon monoxide, lead, 
ground-level ozone, nitrogen oxides, particulate matter, and sulfur dioxide.

A January 2017 study by Abt Associates looking at the environmental and public 
health impact of the RGGI found it “created major benefits to public health and 
productivity, including avoiding hundreds of premature deaths and tens of thousands of 
lost work days.”46 Specifically, this report found that RGGI prevented the following:

• 300–830 early deaths among adults 
• 39,000–47,000 lost work days
• 35–390 non-fatal heart attacks

The total health cost savings from the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative to 
date is estimated to be $5.7 billion.

This is what US doctors want: fewer people going to hospitals, fewer people missing 
work, fewer people coming to our offices and emergency rooms suffering from serious 
health conditions including lung and heart conditions, premature labor, vector-borne 
diseases, mental health problems, and, of course, fewer people dying prematurely.

Along with reducing the health risks of future climate change, these are the 
immediate health dividends—including lower health costs—that moving quickly 
toward renewable energy will bring.

THE HEALTH BENEFITS 
OF ACTING NOW

• 8,200–9,900 asthma flare-ups 
• 180–220 hospital admissions 
• 200–230 asthma ER visits 

22 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health



ENDNOTES

1. Leiserowitz, A., Maibach, E., Roser-
Renouf, C., Rosenthal, S., & Cutler, M. 
(2017). Climate change in the American 
mind: November 2016. Yale University 
and George Mason University. New 
Haven, CT: Yale Program on Climate 
Change Communication. 

2. Sarfaty M, Kreslake J, Casale T, Maibach 
E. Views of AAAAI members on 
climate change and health. Journal of 
Allergy and Clinical Immunology-In 
Practice. Published online December 16, 
2015. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.
jaip.2015.09.018 

3. Koh H. Communicating the 
Health Effects of Climate 
Change. JAMA. 2016;315(3):239-240. 
doi:10.1001/jama.2015.18271

4. Sarfaty M, Bloodhart B, Ewart G, 
Thurston GD, Balmes J, Guidotti TL, 
Maibach E. American Thoracic Society 
Member Survey on Climate Change and 
Health. Annals of the American Thoracic 
Society. Feb 2015; 12(2): 274-278. 

5. USGCRP, 2016: The Impacts of Climate 
Change on Human Health in the 
United States: A Scientific Assessment. 
Crimmins, A., J. Balbus, J.L. Gamble, 
et.al. Global Change Research Program, 
Washington, DC, 312 pp. http://dx.doi.
org/10.7930/J0R49NQX 

6. Wellbery C, Sarfaty M. The Health 
Hazards of Air Pollution-Implications 
for Your Patients. American Family 
Physician. Feb 1, 2017. 

7. Crowley RA. Climate Change and Health: 
A Position Paper of the American College 
of Physicians. Health and Public Policy 
Committee of the American College of 
Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2016 May 
3;164(9):608-10. doi: 10.7326/M15-2766. 
Epub 2016 Apr 19. 

8. Ahdoot S, Pacheco SE. ; Council 
on Environmental Health. Global 
Climate Change and Children’s Health. 
Pediatrics. 2015 Nov;136(5):e1468-84. 
doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-3233. Epub 2015 
Oct 26. 

9. Sarfaty M, Mitchell M, Bloodhart 
B, Maibach E. A Survey of African 
American Physicians on the Health 
Effects of Climate Change. Int. J. 
Environ. Res. Public Health 2014, 11(12). 
12473-12485. 

10. Policy of the American Medical 
Association, 2008 reaffirmed 2014; 
H-135.938 Global Climate Change and 
Human Health; https://searchpf.ama-
assn.org/SearchML/policyFinderPages/
search.action 

11. Policy of the American Medical 
Association, 2016; H-135.923; 
AMA Advocacy for Environmental 

Sustainability and Climate; https://
searchpf.ama- assn.org/SearchML/
searchDetails.action? uri=%2 
FAMADoc%2 FHOD- 135.923.xml

12. Gamble JL, Balbus J, Berger K, et. al. 
Ch. 9: Populations of Concern. The 
Impacts of Climate Change on Human 
Health in the United States: A Scientific 
Assessment. U.S. Global Change 
Research Program, Washington, DC, 
247–286. http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/
J0Q81B0T 

13. http://climatecommunication.yale.edu/
publications/public-perceptions-of-
the-health-consequences-of-global-
warming/ Accessed February 19, 2017. 

14. Leiserowitz, A., et al. “Public 
perceptions of the health consequences 
of global warming: October, 2014.” New 
Haven: Yale Project on Climate Change 
Communication (2014). 

15. Leiserowitz, A., et al. Climate Change 
in the American Mind. November, 
2011. Yale Program on Climate 
Communication and George Mason 
University Center for Climate Change 
Communication 

16. Gallup Poll 2014.

17. Krygsman, K., Speiser, M., Lake, 
C., and Voss, J. (2017). American 
Climate Metrics Survey 2016: National. 
ecoAmerica and Lake Research 
Partners. Washington, D.C.

18. Cook, J. et al. (2016). Consensus on 
consensus: a synthesis of consensus 
estimates on human-caused global 
warming. Environmental Research 
Letters, 11(4), 048002.

19. USGCRP, 2016: The Impacts of Climate 
Change on Human Health in the 
United States: A Scientific Assessment. 
Crimmins, A., J. Balbus, J.L. Gamble, 
et.al. Global Change Research Program, 
Washington, DC, 312 pp. http://dx.doi.
org/10.7930/J0R49NQX 

20. Ibid. 

21. Gamble JL, Balbus J, Berger K, et. al. 
Ch. 9: Populations of Concern. The 
Impacts of Climate Change on Human 
Health in the United States: A Scientific 
Assessment. U.S. Global Change 
Research Program, Washington, DC, 
247–286. http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/
J0Q81B0T 

22. American Association for the 
Advancement of Science. What 
We Know: The Risks, Reality, and 
Responses to Climate Change. 
Page 8. http://whatweknow.aaas.
org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/
whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed 
February 19, 2017.

23. Nick Watts, et. al. Health and climate 
change: policy responses to protect 
public health. The Lancet, Vol. 386, No. 
10006, http://www.thelancet.com/
climate-and-health 

24. Climate Change in the United States: 
Benefits of Global Action. United States 
Environmental Protection Agency, 
Office of Atmospheric Programs, EPA 
430-R-15-001. 

25. Helena Wang, Richard Horton. 
Tackling climate change: the greatest 
opportunity for global health. The 
Lancet; 22 June 2015. 

26. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2016_
Louisiana_floods Accessed February 
20, 2017.

27. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/
news/releases/2014/air-pollution/en/ 
Accessed February 20, 2017

28. Beard CB, Eisen RJ, Barker CM, 
et.al. Ch. 5: Vectorborne Diseases. 
The Impacts of Climate Change on 
Human Health in the United States 
2016: A Scientific Assessment. U.S. 
Global Change Research Program, 
Washington, DC, 129–156. http://
dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0765C7V https://
s3.amazonaws.com/climatehealth2016/
low/ClimateHealth2016_05_Vector_
small.pdf Accessed February 24, 2017.

29. https://www.lymediseaseassociation.
org/resources/cases-a-other-statistics. 
Accessed February 24, 2017

30. Eisen R, Eisen L, Beard CB. County-
Scale Distribution of Ixodes scapularis 
and Ixodes pacificus (Acari: Ixodidae) 
in the Continental United States. J Med 
Entomol (2016) 53 (2): 349-386. 

31. Trtanj J, Jantarasami L, et. al. Climate 
Impacts on Water Related Illness 
Chapter in Impacts of Climate 
Change in the United States: A 
Scientific Assessment. 2016. Global 
Change Research Program. https://
s3.amazonaws.com/climatehealth2016/
low/ClimateHealth2016_06_Water_
small.pdf Accessed February 24, 2017

32. Patz, J.A., S.J. Vavrus, C.K. Uejio, and 
S.L. McLellan, 2008: Climate change 
and waterborne disease risk in the 
Great Lakes region of the US. American 
Journal of Preventive Medicine, 35, 
451-458.

33. Ziska L, Crimmins A., Auclair A, et. 
al. Ch. 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and 
Distribution. The Impacts of Climate 
Change on Human Health in the United 
States: A Scientific Assessment. U.S. 
Global Change Research Program, 
Washington, DC, 189–216. 

34. Ibid. 

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 23

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2015.09.018
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2015.09.018
http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0R49NQX
http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0R49NQX
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27089232
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27089232
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27089232
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26504134
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26504134
https://searchpf.ama-assn.org/SearchML/policyFinderPages/search.action
https://searchpf.ama-assn.org/SearchML/policyFinderPages/search.action
https://searchpf.ama-assn.org/SearchML/policyFinderPages/search.action
http://climatecommunication.yale.edu/publications/public-perceptions-of-the-health-consequences-of-global-warming/
http://climatecommunication.yale.edu/publications/public-perceptions-of-the-health-consequences-of-global-warming/
http://climatecommunication.yale.edu/publications/public-perceptions-of-the-health-consequences-of-global-warming/
http://climatecommunication.yale.edu/publications/public-perceptions-of-the-health-consequences-of-global-warming/
http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0R49NQX
http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0R49NQX
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed February 19
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed February 19
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed February 19
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed February 19
http://www.thelancet.com/climate-and-health
http://www.thelancet.com/climate-and-health
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2016_Louisiana_floods
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2016_Louisiana_floods
http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2014/air-pollution/en/
http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2014/air-pollution/en/
https://www.lymediseaseassociation.org/resources/cases-a-other-statistics
https://www.lymediseaseassociation.org/resources/cases-a-other-statistics
https://s3.amazonaws.com/climatehealth2016/low/ClimateHealth2016_06_Water_small.pdf
https://s3.amazonaws.com/climatehealth2016/low/ClimateHealth2016_06_Water_small.pdf
https://s3.amazonaws.com/climatehealth2016/low/ClimateHealth2016_06_Water_small.pdf
https://s3.amazonaws.com/climatehealth2016/low/ClimateHealth2016_06_Water_small.pdf


35. Dodgen, D, Donato D, Kelly N, et.al. 
Ch. 8: Mental Health and Well-Being. 
The Impacts of Climate Change on 
Human Health in the United States 
2016: A Scientific Assessment. U.S. 
Global Change Research Program, 
Washington, DC, 217–246. http://dx.doi. 
org/10.7930/J0TX3C9H

36. Sarfaty M, Kreslake J, Casale T, Maibach 
E. Views of AAAAI members on 
climate change and health. Journal of 
Allergy and Clinical Immunology-In 
Practice. Published online December 
16, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.
jaip.2015.09.018 

37. Sarfaty M, Bloodhart B, Ewart G, 
Thurston GD, Balmes J, Guidotti TL, 
Maibach E. American Thoracic Society 
Member Survey on Climate Change and 
Health. Annals of the American Thoracic 
Society. Feb 2015; 12(2): 274-278. 

38. Sarfaty M, Mitchell M, Bloodhart 
B, Maibach E. A Survey of African 
American Physicians on the Health 
Effects of Climate Change. Int. J. 
Environ. Res. Public Health 2014, 11(12). 
12473-12485. 

39. Sarfaty M, Kreslake J, Casale T, Maibach 
E. Views of AAAAI members on 
climate change and health. Journal of 
Allergy and Clinical Immunology-In 
Practice. Published online December 
16, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.
jaip.2015.09.018 

40. Sarfaty M, Bloodhart B, Ewart G, 
Thurston GD, Balmes J, Guidotti TL, 
Maibach E. American Thoracic Society 
Member Survey on Climate Change and 
Health. Annals of the American Thoracic 
Society. Feb 2015; 12(2): 274-278. 

41. Sarfaty M, Mitchell M, Bloodhart 
B, Maibach E. A Survey of African 
American Physicians on the Health 
Effects of Climate Change. Int. J. 
Environ. Res. Public Health 2014, 11(12). 
12473-12485. 

42. http://nca2014.globalchange.
gov/report/sectors/human-
health#statement-16522 

43. American Association for the 
Advancement of Science. What 
We Know: The Risks, Reality, and 
Responses to Climate Change. 
Page 8. http://whatweknow.aaas.
org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/
whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed 
February 19, 2017. 

44. 2014 National Climate Assessment. 
Global Change Research Program. 
http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report 

45. American Association for the 
Advancement of Science. What 
We Know: The Risks, Reality, and 
Responses to Climate Change. 
Page 8. http://whatweknow.aaas.
org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/
whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed 
February 19, 2017.

46. Abt Associates. Analysis of the 
Public Health Impacts of the 
Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, 
2009–2014. http://abtassociates.com/
AbtAssociates/files/7e/7e38e795-
aba2-4756-ab72-ba7ae7f53f16.pdf 
Accessed February 20, 2017. 

Photo credits: jpbcpa/iStock (cover); Bim/iStock (p3); DenisKot/iStock (p4); jpbcpa/iStock (p5); Peter Stinson/Flickr (p6); 615 Collection/Alamy (p7); Science Photo 

Library/Alamy (p8); graffoto8/iStock (p9); OlyaSolodenko/iStock (p10); Jens Lambert Photography/iStock, Kevin Shields/Alamy (p11); Joshua Lott/Reuters (p12);  

Eric Thayer/Reuters, Jezperklauzen/iStock (p13); Shannon Stapleton/Reuters (p14); Andrew Burton/Reuters/Alamy (p15); Camrocker/iStock (p16); Climate Central (p17); 

yangphoto/iStock, xavierarnou/iStock, ThalBW/iStock, Mimadeo/iStock, Richard Levine/Alamy, omada/iStock (p21); Hero Images Inc./Alamy (back cover).

This report was revised on August 15, 2017.

24 / Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2015.09.018
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2015.09.018
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2015.09.018
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2015.09.018
http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report/sectors/human-health#statement-16522
http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report/sectors/human-health#statement-16522
http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report/sectors/human-health#statement-16522
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed February 19
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed February 19
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed February 19
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf Accessed February 19
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf  Accessed February 19
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf  Accessed February 19
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf  Accessed February 19
http://whatweknow.aaas.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/whatweknow_website.pdf  Accessed February 19


We are sounding the alarm that 
climate change poses a risk to the 
health of every American.

Medical Alert! Climate Change is Harming Our Health / 25



A REPORT FROM:

Academy for Integrative Health & Medicine

American Academy of Asthma, Allergy, 

Immunology

American Academy of Family Physicians

American Academy of Pediatrics

American Congress of Obstetricians and 

Gynecologists

American College of Physicians

American College of Preventive Medicine

American Geriatrics Society

American Medical Women’s Association

American Podiatric Medical Association

National Medical Association

Society of General Internal Medicine

The mission of the Medical Society Consortium 

on Climate and Health is to inform the public and 

policymakers about the harmful health effects 

of climate change on Americans, and about 

the immediate and long-term health benefits 

associated with decreasing greenhouse gas 

emissions (i.e., heat-trapping pollution) and other 

preventive and protective measures.

medsocietiesforclimatehealth.org

Center for Climate Change Communication 

George Mason University 

4400 University Ave, 6A8 

Fairfax, Va 22030

This report was prepared for the Consortium by Mona Sarfaty, Robert J. Gould, 

Edward W. Maibach, and the communications firm Burness.



	  
	  
Education	  
	  
VCCA	  is	  bringing	  educational	  events	  on	  climate	  and	  health	  to	  medical	  centers	  and	  
hospitals	  throughout	  Virginia.	  	  Our	  first	  event	  at	  Inova	  Fairfax	  Hospital	  in	  April	  2017	  
was	  entitled	  "What	  Climate	  Change	  Means	  for	  the	  Health	  of	  Virginians".	  	  This	  event	  
drew	  over	  50	  attendees	  and	  featured	  speakers	  from	  Virginia	  Department	  of	  Health,	  
USDA	  and	  University	  of	  Stonybrook	  Pediatric	  Infectious	  Diseases.	  	  
	  
In	  the	  past	  year	  we	  have	  coordinated	  Internal	  Medicine	  and	  Pediatrics	  lectures	  at	  
Inova	  Fairfax,	  University	  of	  Virginia	  and	  Virginia	  Commonwealth	  University	  Schools	  
of	  Medicine,	  as	  well	  as	  a	  presentation	  at	  a	  conference	  for	  school	  nurses.	  Our	  second	  
conference,	  "Health	  in	  A	  Changing	  Climate,	  Understanding	  the	  Impacts	  on	  
Virginians",	  was	  held	  in	  Richmond	  on	  February	  10,	  2018	  at	  St.	  Mary's	  Bon	  Secours	  
Hospital	  and	  drew	  over	  80	  attendees.	  	  We	  are	  currently	  planning	  our	  third	  
conference,	  to	  be	  held	  this	  October	  in	  Hampton	  Roads.	  
	  
Advocacy	  
	  
VCCA	  is	  working	  to	  increase	  understanding	  of	  the	  public	  and	  state	  legislators	  on	  the	  
critical	  intersections	  between	  health	  and	  climate.	  	  We	  are	  working	  with	  leaders	  
from	  regions	  across	  the	  state	  to	  help	  ensure	  that	  policies	  are	  made	  with	  the	  health	  
of	  our	  citizens	  and	  communities	  as	  the	  top	  priority.	  In	  alliance	  with	  the	  Virginia	  
Chapter	  of	  the	  American	  College	  of	  Physicians,	  we	  coordinated	  the	  first	  ever	  Health	  
and	  Climate	  Lobby	  Day	  for	  physicians	  during	  the	  2018	  legislative	  session.	  	  Our	  
group	  of	  almost	  20	  physicians	  met	  with	  legislators	  as	  well	  as	  Virginia	  State	  Health	  
Commissioner	  Dr.	  Marissa	  Levine	  to	  discuss	  how	  legislation	  that	  protects	  the	  
climate	  is	  critical	  to	  protecting	  the	  health	  of	  our	  patients.	  	  
	  
Community	  Outreach	  
	  
VCCA	  is	  working	  with	  community	  leaders	  to	  educate	  and	  empower	  the	  public	  
around	  local	  and	  state	  climate-‐related	  policies	  that	  impact	  their	  health	  and	  welfare.	  
We	  have	  published	  letters	  to	  the	  editor	  and	  participated	  in	  numerous	  public	  
hearings.	  VCCA	  was	  recently	  invited	  by	  Virginia’s	  Department	  of	  Environmental	  
Quality	  (DEQ)	  to	  participate	  in	  their	  stakeholder	  group	  pertaining	  to	  Executive	  
Order	  6,	  a	  review	  of	  DEQ	  regulations	  to	  protect	  air,	  water	  and	  public	  health.	  
	  



STEERING	  COMMITTEE	  
Chairperson:	  Samantha	  Ahdoot,	  MD,	  FAAP	  is	  a	  practicing	  pediatrician	  at	  Pediatric	  
Associates	  of	  Alexandria	  in	  Virginia	  and	  an	  Assistant	  Professor	  of	  Pediatrics	  at	  
Virginia	  Commonwealth	  University	  School	  of	  Medicine.	  	  
	  
Muge	  Akpinar-‐Elci,	  MD,	  MPH	  is	  the	  director	  of	  the	  Center	  for	  Global	  Health	  and	  the	  
chair	  of	  the	  School	  of	  Community	  and	  Environmental	  Health,	  both	  at	  Old	  Dominion	  
University,	  Norfolk	  VA.	  
	  
Gail	  Bush,	  BS,	  RRT-‐NPS	  is	  currently	  a	  Clinical	  Manager	  of	  Respiratory	  Care	  Services	  
at	  INOVA	  Health	  System	  for	  the	  Heart	  and	  Vascular	  Institute	  and	  IMC	  (long	  term	  
care)	  areas.	  	  
	  
Janet	  Eddy,	  MD	  is	  the	  Medical	  Director	  of	  the	  Bon	  Secours	  Care-‐a-‐Van,	  which	  is	  a	  
mobile	  free	  clinic	  for	  uninsured	  low-‐income	  people	  in	  Richmond	  VA.	  
	  
Robert	  Kitchen,	  MD,	  FAAFP	  is	  a	  family	  physician	  that	  retired	  in	  April	  2018	  after	  
thirty-‐nine	  years	  of	  practice,	  most	  recently	  with	  Kaiser	  Permanente	  in	  No.	  Virginia.	  
	  
Susan	  Miller,	  MD,	  FAAFP,	  PSF	  is	  a	  retired	  Family	  Physician	  who	  spent	  39	  years	  in	  
both	  private	  and	  academic	  family	  medicine	  in	  Richmond,	  VA.	  
	  
Tim	  O'Mara,	  MD	  has	  practiced	  general	  pediatrics	  in	  No.	  Virginia	  for	  15	  years.	  	  	  
	  
Jerome	  Paulson,	  MD,	  FAAP	  is	  the	  medical	  director	  of	  the	  Pediatric	  Environmental	  
Health	  Specialty	  Unit-‐East	  Program	  and	  of	  the	  Climate	  Change	  Initiative	  for	  the	  
American	  Academy	  of	  Pediatrics.	  	  
	  
Kathleen	  Price,	  MD	  retired	  from	  rheumatology	  practice	  after	  more	  than	  30	  years	  in	  
private	  practice	  in	  Northern	  Virginia.	  
	  
Nila	  Rafiq,	  MD	  is	  an	  internist	  who	  has	  practiced	  in	  the	  Inova	  system	  for	  over	  10	  
years.	  	  
	  
Sergio	  Rimola,	  MD	  is	  an	  Ob/Gyn	  and	  has	  been	  an	  attending	  physician	  at	  Inova	  
Fairfax	  Hospital	  since	  1997.	  	  
	  
Krupal	  Shah,	  MD,	  MPP	  has	  been	  a	  member	  of	  the	  clinical	  faculty	  at	  Inova	  Fairfax	  
Hospital	  since	  2017	  and	  practices	  as	  an	  inpatient	  Internal	  Medicine	  physician	  
(Hospitalist)	  with	  additional	  part	  time	  responsibilities	  in	  Pediatrics.	  	  He	  also	  serves	  
co-‐medical	  director	  of	  the	  Cardiac	  Telemetry	  Unit	  North	  in	  the	  Inova	  Heart	  and	  
Vascular	  Institute.	  	  
	  
Homan	  Wai,	  MD,	  FACP	  practices	  as	  an	  inpatient	  Internal	  Medicine	  physician	  at	  
Inova	  Fairfax	  Hospital	  and	  joined	  the	  faculty	  in	  2009.	  Dr.	  Wai	  also	  is	  the	  Internal	  
Medicine	  Clerkship	  Director	  at	  the	  VCU	  School	  of	  Medicine	  –	  Inova	  Campus.	  	  



SUMMARY

Burning fossil fuels produces harmful air pollution and increases 
people’s exposure to toxic chemicals that can harm their brains 
and nervous systems. There is an emerging scientific consensus 
that air pollution from fossil fuel use is harmful to children’s 
developing brains and may also affect the cognitive functioning 
of older adults—although not all studies have found these 
results. In children, exposure to air pollution has been linked to 
development delays, reduced IQ, cognitive deficits and autism 
spectrum disorder. In adults, exposure to air pollution has been 
linked to higher rates of dementia and Alzheimer’s Disease. 

The very young, the elderly and people with low household 
income are especially vulnerable to the harmful impacts of 
exposure to toxic chemicals in the air. 

WHAT ARE FOSSIL FUELS AND HOW ARE THEY USED?

Fossil fuels – including oil, coal and natural gas – are non-
renewable resources formed from the remains of prehistoric 
plants and animals buried deep in the Earth, subjected to 
immense pressure and heat over millions of years. The world’s 
reliance on burning fossil fuels to produce electricity, heat, 
transportation and industry began during the Industrial 
Revolution. 

Today, fossil fuels remain the world’s primary energy source. 

WHAT IS THE LINK BETWEEN FOSSIL FUELS 
AND AIR POLLUTION?

Burning fossil fuel releases hundreds of toxic pollutants, 
including fine particulate matter (PM), black carbon, polycyclic 

aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), mercury, lead, nitrogen oxides, 
sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide. People breathe in these 
toxic chemicals when they are exposed to air pollution.

MOST AIR POLLUTION IS CREATED BY THE BURNING 
OF FOSSIL FUELS. 

According to the U.S. Department of Energy, over the past 
20 years, three-fourths of human-caused emissions were 
produced from burning fossil fuels.1  

Almost everyone in the world is affected by air pollution; only 
one person in 10 lives in a city with air clean enough to meet 
World Health Organization (WHO) air quality guidelines.2

Fuel combustion creates 85 percent of airborne particulate 
pollution.3 Inhaling these tiny particles can be extremely 
harmful to human health and development, particularly early in 
life. An estimated 2 billion children live in areas exceeding WHO 
guidelines for fine particle exposure.

HOW DOES EXPOSURE TO AIR POLLUTION HARM 
THE BRAIN?

While much is known about how polluted air affects the lungs 
and heart, we are just beginning to learn about how it can also 
harm the brain. Over the past decade, many studies have 
linked exposure to outdoor air pollution to harmful impacts 
on the brain.

Air pollution contributes to neurodevelopmental damage to 
the growth and functioning of the brain and nervous system. In 
addition, an emerging body of scientific evidence suggests that 
air pollution may also be a factor in neurodegenerative 
disorders that many older adults experience.4 

The Link Between Fossil Fuels 
and Neurological Harm

www.hbbf .org



As the evidence mounts about the harmful effects of air 
pollution on people’s brains, the world’s health professionals 
and health organizations are becoming increasingly 
concerned.

 ■ In 2013, WHO cited emerging evidence of links between exposure 
to fine particles and problems with neurodevelopment and 
cognitive function. The report cited longitudinal cohort studies 
in Asia, Canada, Europe and the U.S.5

 ■ In 2016, Environmental Health Perspectives published 
a joint public statement issued by 14 scientific or 
medical associations and 50 scientists representing the 
disciplines of pediatrics, toxicology, public health and 
neurobiology. The Project TENDR (Targeting Environmental 

Neurodevelopmental Risks) Consensus Statement noted 
evidence of danger to children in the United States due to air 
pollution, listing fossil fuel-related air pollutants (including 
particulate matter, PAHs, and nitrogen dioxide) as  “prime 
examples of toxic  chemicals that can contribute to learning, 
behavioral, or intellectual impairment, as well as specific 
neurodevelopmental disorders such as ADHD [attention 
deficit hyperactivity disorder] or autism.”6 

 ■ In its 2017 report, the Lancet Commission on Pollution and 
Health stated that “pollution is now understood to be an 
important causative agent of many non-communicable 
diseases including … neurodevelopmental disorders.” 
Specifically, it noted “emerging evidence” of causal 
associations from air pollution exposure to fine 
particulate matter and decreased cognitive function, 
attention-deficit or hyperactivity and autism in 
children, as well as dementia in adults.7

THE VERY YOUNG, THE ELDERLY AND THOSE 
LIVING IN POVERTY ARE MORE VULNERABLE TO 
TOXIC EXPOSURES THAN OTHERS.

Prenatal and early childhood exposures to air pollution 
and toxic chemicals in general can be especially 
damaging, as these are critical periods of development. 

The overwhelming majority of brain development occurs 
during the prenatal period, when most of the brain’s 86 
billion neurons are formed.8 Critical brain development 
continues from infancy through age 6. What’s more, 
because of their smaller size, higher breathing rate and 
unique behaviors, children experience greater exposure 
to air pollutants than adults. 9 Neurological damage that 
occurs during childhood may continue to cause harm over 
the course of a person’s lifetime.10

CHILDREN IN LOW-INCOME POPULATIONS ARE ALSO 
DISPROPORTIONATELY HARMED  
BY EXPOSURE TO AIR POLLUTION.

In the United States, people in low-income communities and 
communities of color experience disproportionately high 
exposure to particulate air pollution and air pollution from coal-
fired power plants.11 Poor children living in developing countries 
are also disproportionately exposed to air pollution.12 The effects 
of toxic exposure may be further magnified by poor nutrition, 
lack of social support, and psychosocial stress due to poverty or 
racism.13

While children are especially vulnerable to toxic exposures from 
air pollution because they are still developing, the elderly may 
also be at increased risk from environmental exposures due to 
deterioration associated with the aging process.14



EVEN EXPOSURES BELOW WHAT ARE CURRENTLY 
CONSIDERED “SAFE” LEVELS OF RESIDENTIAL AIR 
POLLUTION HAVE BEEN SHOWN TO CAUSE HARM.

A 2018 Dutch study published in Biological Psychiatry found 
that prenatal exposure to outdoor air pollution – even at 
levels currently considered safe in European Union policies – 
was associated with brain abnormalities later in childhood. 
Specifically, children exposed in utero exhibited a thinner outer 
layer of the brain (the cortex) at ages six to ten years. These 
abnormalites were associated with impaired impulse control.15

MANY RIGOROUS STUDIES HAVE DOCUMENTED THAT 
AIR POLLUTION HARMS PEOPLE’S BRAINS.

 ■ A longitudinal study of mothers and children in New York 
City’s North Harlem produced some of the earliest evidence 
linking PAH exposures in pregnant women to cognitive 
defects and behavioral disorders in their children at ages 
three and five. Three-year-olds exposed prenatally to high 
levels of PAHs exhibited lower mental development scores on 
standardized tests and a higher risk for cognitive delays.16 At 
age five, they performed lower on IQ tests than children with 
lower exposure rates.17

 ■ As these children grew older, they continued to exhibit 
adverse neurological impacts – including anxiety, depression 
and hyperactivity – compared to children less exposed before 
birth to PAHs.18

 ■ A review of 31 studies published between 2006 and 2015 
found that traffic-related air pollution has been associated 
with cognitive impairment. Pollution exposure in utero 
was associated with increased risk of neurodevelopmental 
delay. Exposure during childhood was associated with 
poor neurodevelopmental outcomes in younger children 
and decreased academic achievement and neurocognitive 
performance in older children. In older adults, exposure to 
traffic pollution was associated with cognitive decline.19

 ■ In a study of 263 children ages 8 to 12, higher exposure 
to urban traffic pollution was linked to slower brain 
maturation.20

 ■ Four studies investigating prenatal exposure to PAHs 
found links to delayed verbal, psychomotor and/or general 
development in children.21

 ■ A 2014 cross-sectional study in the U.S. found an association 
between postnatal exposure to PAHs and special education 
needs in boys.22

 ■ Three studies that investigated prenatal exposure to air 
pollutants found increased exposure was associated with an 
increased risk for autism spectrum disorder.23

 ■ The 2013 Nurses Health Study II found an increased risk for 
autism disorder related to perinatal (late pregnancy and 
newborn) exposure to diesel exhaust, particulates, lead, 
manganese and nickel.24

 ■ Four studies investigating pre- and postnatal exposure to 
nitrogen dioxide and fine particulates showed an association 
with autism spectrum disorder.25

 ■ A study of 524 children enrolled in the Childhood Autism 
Risks from Genetics and the Environment study in California 
found exposure to traffic-related air pollution (nitrogen 
dioxide and fine particulate matter) during pregnancy and 
the first year of life was associated with autism.26

 ■ While fewer studies have investigated the potential harms 
of outdoor air pollution on the brains of older adults, the 
evidence is growing stronger that air pollution experienced 
by many older adults is one cause of neurodegenerative 
problems. 

 ■ A 2017 study from the University of Southern California 
found living in areas where fine particle levels exceed EPA 
standards increased the risks for global cognitive decline 
by 81 percent and all-cause dementia by 92 percent in 
people with a genetic risk for Alzheimer’s Disease.27

 ■ A large population-based study in Ontario, Canada found 
that living close to heavy traffic was associated with a higher 
incidence of dementia.28

 ■ A 2017 meta-predictive analysis found increased air pollution 
levels may impact susceptibility to Alzheimer’s Disease.29

CONCLUSION

Scientists and health professionals have long known that 
exposure to air pollution causes respiratory damage, such 
as asthma. A growing body of science now indicates that air 
pollution from burning fossil fuels is contributing to serious 
neurodevelopmental problems in the very young that may be 
life-altering, as well as to neurological decline in aging adults. 
These health consequences of fossil fuel use inflict major 
economic and societal costs that will continue to increase until 
we shift course toward clean energy sources. 



ENDNOTES
1 https://www.energy.gov/science-innovation/energy-sources/fossil

2 https://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/ehp299/

3 http://www.thelancet.com/commissions/pollution-and-health

4 Neurotoxicology. 2016 Sep;56:94-106. doi: 10.1016/j.
neuro.2016.07.007. Epub 2016 Jul 19.

5 http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/193108/
REVIHAAP-Final-technical-report.pdf

6 Project TENDR: Targeting Environmental Neuro-Developmental 
Risks.  The Consensus Statement, Environmental Health Perspectives, 
volume 124/number 7/July 2016. http://dx.doi.prg/10.1289/EHP358.

7 http://www.thelancet.com/commissions/pollution-and-health

8 Crelin ES. 1973. Functional Anatomy of the Newborn. New Haven, 
CT:Yale University Press.

9 WHO. 2006. Principles for Evaluating Health Risks in Children 
Associated With Exposure to Chemicals. Environmental Health 
Criteria 237. Geneva:WHO. http://www.who.int/ipcs/publications/
ehc /ehc237.pdf

10 https://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/ehp299/#r114

11 Bell and Ebisu 2012. Environmental Inequality in Exposures to 
Airborne Particulate Matter Components in the United States. 
Environmental Health Perspectives; DOI:10.1289/ehp.1205201.

12 Mehta S, Sbihi H, Dinh TN, Xuan DV, Thanh LLT, Thanh CT, et al. 2014. 
Effect of poverty on the relationship between personal exposures 
and ambient concentrations of air pollutants in ho chi minh city. 
Atmospheric Environment 95:10. 

13 Wood D. 2003. Effect of child and family poverty on child health in 
the United States. Pediatrics 112(3 pt 2):707–711.

14 https://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/1206334/

15 Guxens, et al. 2018. Air pollution exposure during fetal life, brain 
morphology, and cognitive function in school-age children. 
Biological Psychiatry, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.01.016.

16 Perera FP, Rauh V. Effect of prenatal exposure to airborne polycyclic 
aromatic hydrocarbons on neurodevelopment in the first 3 years 
of life among innercity children. Environmental Health Perspectives. 
August 2006;114(8):1287-92.

17 Perera FP, Li Z. Prenatal airborne polycyclic aromatic 
hydrocarbon exposure and child IQ at age 5 years. Pediatrics. 2009 
Aug;124(2):e195-202.

18 Perera FP, Chang H-w, Tang D, Roen EL, Herbstman J, et al. (2014) 
Early-Life Exposure to Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and ADHD 
Behavior Problems. PLoS ONE 9(11):e111670 https://doi:10.1371/
journal.pone.0111670.

19 Clifford A, Lang L, Chen R, Anstey K, Seaton, A. Exposure to air 
pollution and cognitive functioning across the life course – A 
systematic literature review. Environmental Research, Vol 147, May 
2016.  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.01.018

20 Pujol, J.; Martinez-Vilavella, G.; Macia, D.; Fenoll, R.; Alvarez-Pedrerol, 
M.; Rivas, I.; Forns, J.; Blanco-Hinojo, L.; Capellades, J.; Querol, X.; 
et al. Traffic pollution exposure is associated with altered brain 
connectivity in school children. Neuroimage 2016, 129, 175–184. 

21 Jedrychowski WA, Perera FP, Camann D, et al. Prenatal exposure 
to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and cognitive dysfunction 
in children. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. 2015;22(5):3631–3639; 
Lovasi GS, Eldred-Skemp N, Quinn JW, et al. Neighborhood social 
context and individual polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon exposures 
associated with child cognitive test scores. J Child Fam Stud. 
2014;23(5):785–799; Tang D, Lee J, Muirhead L, et al. Molecular and 
neurodevelopmental benefits to children of closure of a coal burning 
power plant in China. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e91966; Tang D, Li TY, 
Chow JC, et al. Air pollution effects on fetal and child development: a 
cohort comparison in China. Environ Pollut. 2014;185:90–96.

22 Abid Z, Roy A, Herbstman JB, Ettinger AS. Urinary polycyclic 
aromatic hydrocarbon metabolites and attention/deficit 
hyperactivity disorder, learning disability, and special education in 
U.S. children aged 6 to 15. Journal of Environmental Public Health. 
2014;2014:628508. 

23 Von Ehrenstein OS, Aralis H, Cockburn M, Ritz B. In utero exposure 
to toxic air pollutants and risk of childhood autism. Epidemiol 
Camb Mass. 2014;25(6):851–858.; Becerra TA, Wilhelm M, Olsen 
J, Cockburn M, Ritz B. Ambient air pollution and autism in Los 
Angeles county, California. Environmental Health Perspectives. 
2013;121(3):380–386.; Volk HE, Kerin T, Lurmann F, Hertz-Picciotto I, 
McConnell R, Campbell DB. Autism spectrum disorder: interaction of 
air pollution with the MET receptor tyrosine kinase gene. Epidemiol 
Camb Mass. 2014;25(1):44–47. 

24 Roberts AL, Lyall K, Hart JE, et al. Perinatal air pollutant exposures 
and autism spectrum disorder in the children of Nurses’ Health 
Study II participants. Environmental Health Perspectives. 
2013;121(8):978–984. 

25 Kalkbrenner AE, Windham GC, Serre ML, et al. Particulate matter 
exposure, prenatal and postnatal windows of susceptibility, and 
autism spectrum disorders. Epidemiol Camb Mass. 2015;26(1):30–42.; 
Raz R, Roberts AL, Lyall K, et al. Autism spectrum disorder and 
particulate matter air pollution before, during, and after pregnancy: 
a nested case-control analysis within the Nurses’ Health Study II 
Cohort. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2015;123(3):264–270; 
Volk HE, Lurmann F, Penfold B, Hertz-Picciotto I, McConnell R. 
Traffic-related air pollution, particulate matter, and autism. JAMA 
Psychiatry. 2013;70(1):71–77; Talbott EO, Arena VC, Rager JR, et al. 
Fine particulate matter and the risk of autism spectrum disorder. 
Environ Res. 2015;140:414–420. 

26 Traffic-Related Air Pollution, Particulate Matter, and Autism. Heather 
E. Volk, PhD, MPH; Fred Lurmann; Bryan Penfold; et alIrva Hertz-
Picciotto, PhD; Rob McConnell, MD. JAMA Psychiatry. 2013;70(1):71-
77. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.266.

27 http://www.nature.com/tp/journal/v7/n1/full/tp2016280a.html 
(January 2017)

28 Chen, et al. Living near major roads and the incidence of dementia, 
Parkinson’s disease and multiple sclerosis: a population-based 
cohort study. The Lancet 2017; 389: 718–26. 

29 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public 
Health. 2017 Jan 11;14(1). pii: E63. 

https://www.energy.gov/science-innovation/energy-sources/fossil
https://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/ehp299/
http://www.thelancet.com/commissions/pollution-and-health
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27448464
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/193108/REVIHAAP-Final-technical-report.pdf
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/193108/REVIHAAP-Final-technical-report.pdf
http://dx.doi.prg/10.1289/EHP358
http://www.thelancet.com/commissions/pollution-and-health
http://www.who.int/ipcs/publications/ehc /ehc237.pdf
http://www.who.int/ipcs/publications/ehc /ehc237.pdf
https://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/ehp299/#r114
https://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/1206334/
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.01.016
https://doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0111670
https://doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0111670
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.01.018
https://jamanetwork.com/searchresults?author=Heather+E.+Volk&q=Heather+E.+Volk
https://jamanetwork.com/searchresults?author=Heather+E.+Volk&q=Heather+E.+Volk
https://jamanetwork.com/searchresults?author=Fred+Lurmann&q=Fred+Lurmann
https://jamanetwork.com/searchresults?author=Bryan+Penfold&q=Bryan+Penfold
https://jamanetwork.com/searchresults?author=Irva+Hertz-Picciotto&q=Irva+Hertz-Picciotto
https://jamanetwork.com/searchresults?author=Irva+Hertz-Picciotto&q=Irva+Hertz-Picciotto
https://jamanetwork.com/searchresults?author=Rob++McConnell&q=Rob++McConnell
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23404082
http://www.nature.com/tp/journal/v7/n1/full/tp2016280a.html
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28085050


GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY – THE COMMONWEALTH’S TECH GIANT

Deborah Crawford, Vice President for Research
Board of Visitors Research Committee
December 12, 2018



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

Washington Post, November 22, 2018



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y

VEDP 
Convenes VA 

HEIs to 
Discuss 

Amazon RFP 
Strategy

HEIs Provide 
VEDP with 

Capabilities 
Analyses

Amazon 
Announces 
Downselect
to 20 Sites

VEDP Solicits 
Data to Guide 

VA 
Investments to 
Expand Degree 
Production in 

Computing 
Programs

Amazon Site 
Visit Team 

Visits NoVA

VEDP Solicits 
Refined Data 
from HEIs to 

Expand Degree 
Production in 

Computing 
Programs

Amazon 
Announces 
New HQs

Sept. 2017 Jan - Feb 2018 Sept - Nov 2018

Timeline



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y4

Mason’s TECH Talent

~5,000 computing undergraduates - in computer science, 

computer engineering, information technology, systems 

engineering, cybersecurity engineering, and information 

systems and operations management

Largest TECH cohort BY FAR of any Virginia 

public institution - 2,000 more students than VT

~1,100 masters students in computing programs, the 

largest cohort of any Virginia public institution
Amazon HQ Higher Ed Incentive 
Package to support Mason in-
state student enrollment & 
graduation growth in computing 
at BS and MS levels (faculty 
recruitment and start-up 
packages, operating dollars for 
in-state students)

Mason committed to create the Commonwealth’s first 

School of Computing, with plans to double computing 

enrollment to 10,000 at the undergraduate level and 

increase enrollment at the masters level to 5,000



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y5

Strategic Expansion of Arlington Campus

Launch new Institute for Digital InnovAtion

(IDIA) and operate out of Arlington graduate campus    

a few miles from the new Amazon HQ

Add a 400,000+ SQF IDIA tower in Arlington to   

house graduate education programs for its new 

School of Computing, as well as the Schar

School of Policy and Government, the School of 

Business and the Scalia Law School, creating the     

largest (7,500+ student) graduate campus in     

the Greater Washington Region

IDIA tower to house tech business 

incubator/accelerator programs, tech start-ups    

and established businesses, venture capital    

firms, and Mason faculty and student researchers 

and innovators, turbo-charging the tech 

innovation economy in the Greater Washington   

Region

Amazon HQ Higher Ed Incentive 
Package For IDIA Tower
$125M from Commonwealth
$125M from Mason



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y
From Market Watch, 2018, https://www.marketwatch.com/story/its-not-just-amazon-and-
whole-foods-heres-jeff-bezos-enormous-empire-in-one-chart-2017-06-21

Amazon - Bezos Portfolio



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y7

More than $20 million annually in computing 

research expenditures in FY 19, with goal to reach 

$50 million by 2024 

Work with partners in the private sector to advance 

entrepreneurship and Virginia’s high tech 

innovation economy

World class contributions in a range of fields,  

including Computer & Data Science,  Internet of 

Things, Autonomous Vehicles, Cyber Security & 

Trust, etc. 

as well as...... 

Digital Economics, TECH Education and Learning,    

Smart Cities, Autonomous Organizations,  Health 

IT, Computational Sustainability.....

Planning for Strategic Growth 



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y8

Partnership-Based Implementation

• Northern Virginia Community College (NOVA) - the 

Mason-NOVA ADVANCE partnership ensure Virginia 

students and their families have access to high quality, 

affordable education and high-paying tech career paths

• Partnerships with Marymount University, George 

Washington University, the University of Maryland 

College Park, the University of Maryland Baltimore 

Campus and our sibling institutions in Virginia to 

advance the tech innovation economy in the Greater 

Washington Region

• Coordination and collaboration with local and city 

government, community leaders, and the private sector, 

to enhance the quality of life for all Virginians



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y9

Working Together to Advance the Innovation Economy in 

Virginia and the Greater Washington Region



Towards Energy-Efficient and Secure 
Computing

Houman Homayoun

Accelerated, Secure, Energy-Efficient, Computing (ASEEC) Lab

Center for Hardware and Embedded Systems Security and Trust (CHEST)

George Mason University, Fairfax, VA

1

December 2018



Accelerated, Secure, Energy-Efficient, Computing 
(ASEEC)

2

Auto Tuning Big Data Frameworks

Architecture and System

Security Machine Learning Accelerator

HW Security – Reverse Engineering

Adversarial Machine Learning

LUT Obfuscation Fabrication



3

CHEST Research Topics



4

CHEST Team 



5

100+ participants
• 6 member universities 

• 32 companies

• 4 government research labs

• 4 industry research labs

CHEST Planning Meeting (August 2018)



6

NSF: CHEST IUCRC Planning Grant Meeting 

 

CHEST Meeting Attendees 



7

ASEEC Lab Research

Energy-Efficient Computing



NSF-CPS: A Novel Biomechatronic Interface Based 
on Wearable Dynamic Imaging Sensors

 Recognizing human functional 
activity & controlling prosthetic 
devices
 Learn and predict different dexterous 

tasks based on sonographic patterns of 
muscle activity

 Develop a wearable image-based 
biosignal sensing system by integrating 
multiple ultrasound imaging sensors 
with a low-power heterogeneous 
embedded processor

8



NSF-CNS: Heterogeneous Accelerators for 
Biomedical Data Computing

 Build the foundation of the next 
generation of biomedical signal and 
imaging processing platforms

 Implement an accelerator architecture 
in hardware

 Power Efficient Nano Clusters (PENC)
 multi-channel seizure detection, multi-

physiological stress detection and stand-alone 
tongue drive system (sTDS)

 21 GOPs and energy efficiency of 4 GOP/J

Best Paper Award at GLSVLSI 2016

9



NSF: Auto-Pilot Computing: Auto Tuning, 
Mapping, and Co-scheduling Data-Intensive 

Applications for Energy-Efficiency

10

• Emerging big data frameworks such 

as Spark, Tez, Flink, and Petuum are 

complex

• Many tuning parameters at the 

software layer

• Interdependency with other tuning 

parameters at the system and 

architecture level

IISWC’17, DATE’17, ISPASS’16, CCGRID’15, IEEE Big Data’15



Iterative Version of 
Alexnet

NSF CNS:  Evolution of Computer Vision for Low Power 
Devices, Breaking its Power Wall and

Computational Complexity

8

DATE’18, FCCM’18 and ’15, IEEE Big Data’15



12

ASEEC Lab Research

Computer System Security



GM: Enhancing the Security in Embedded 
Automotive Systems

 MirrorLink App Reverse Engineering
 Decompiling DriveLink app to .Smali code and xml files (apktool)

 Modification of DriveLink App, Head Unit accepts modification

13



DARPA SSITH: Detecting Malware Using HPC and Machine 
Learning 

• Go back to the HW: Inspect the traces applications leaves on the HW

14

Backdoor

Virus

Trojan

Rootkit

Worm

Principle Components 
Analysis (PCA)

Attribute Evaluation

1

2

Capturing 
HPCs via Perf

Tool

Training Applications
(Malware/Benign)

Feature 
Extraction

HW Performance 
Counters

Malware

Benign

Feature 
Reduction

ML Binary 
Classifiers 

General vs. Specialized 
Detectors 

Predictive 
Models

Malware vs. Benign 
Classification

Benign

Malware

Malware Detection Process

MLR  

Application
Class

Data Collection Process 

Every 
10ms



15

ASEEC Lab Research

Hardware Security



Why Hardware Security?
• Security is built as multilayer foundation encompassing a protected asset

• Hardware is at the foundation

Apps

Software Security

Encryption Cryptography

Transport security

Network security

Operating Systems

Hardware Security

No matter how secure your system is at 

app, software, network and other layers, 

if there is no secure hardware

11



Hardware Security – IC Design Flow

IC (SoC) Design Flow
Design

Synthesis & Verification

Fabrication

Testing

Packing

System Integration

In-house 

Design 

Teams

Integration 

Team

IP Vendor 1

IP Vendor 2

D
es

ig
n
 

In
te

g
ra

ti
o
n

R
T

L
 N

et
li

st

In-house 

Design 

Teams

Integration 

Team

IP Vendor 1

IP Vendor 2

D
es

ig
n
 

In
te

g
ra

ti
o
n

R
T

L
 N

et
li

st

Design

R
T

L
 V

er
if

ic
at

io
n

L
o
g
ic

 S
y

n
th

es
is

G
at

e-
L

ev
el

 

N
et

li
st

P
h
y

si
ca

l 
S

y
n
th

es
is

L
ay

o
u
t 
V

er
if

ic
at

io
n

L
ay

o
u
t 

(G
D

S
II

)

R
T

L
 V

er
if

ic
at

io
n

L
o
g
ic

 S
y

n
th

es
is

G
at

e-
L

ev
el

 

N
et

li
st

P
h
y

si
ca

l 
S

y
n
th

es
is

L
ay

o
u
t 
V

er
if

ic
at

io
n

L
ay

o
u
t 

(G
D

S
II

)

Synthesis & Verification

Foundry

Fabrication

W
af

er

T
es

t

W
af

er

T
es

t

Testing

P
ac

k
ag

e 
&

A
ss

em
b
ly

Packing

P
C

B
 A

ss
em

b
ly

S
y

st
em

Recycle/Repackage for Outdated

System Integration

SoC Design Flow System Design

13



Hardware Security – Why Today?

ICs become more complex compared to decades ago
In the past, IC design and fabrication typically handled by 
the same entity, not anymore!

Fab cost 5~10+billions, third party fab facilities

High Cost of Manufacturing in ASIC1,2

Making Major U.S. High-Tech Companies Fabless!
AMD, Broadcom (Avago), Marvell, Nvidia, Qualcomm, …

Using untrusted facilities technology including 
fab, third party designs, test and etc

[1] DIGITIMES, “Trends in the global ic design service market,” online http://www.digitimes.com/news/a20120313RS400.html?chid=2

[2] U. Guin, D. Forte, and M. Tehranipoor, “Anti-counterfeit techniques: From design to resign,” in 2013 14th International Workshop on

Microprocessor Test and Verification, Dec 2013, pp. 89–94.
14

http://www.digitimes.com/news/a20120313RS400.html?chid=2


Global Foundry Map

19



Intel and Apple Fab-Assembly-Test map

20



Hardware Security Threats

Huge Shift in Design Paradigm -
Globalization Came to Rescue

Using Untrusted Off-shore Fabrication

Introducing Security Threats into the Supply 
Chain 

Trojan Insertion

Overproduction & Intellectual Property (IP) Theft

Reverse Engineering (RE)

Counterfeiting

21
18



Is this real!?

22



• Definition: a malicious addition to modify or observe a circuit’s functionality. 

• Trojan Trigger:  a set of combinational signals, or a sequence of events that activated the 
Trojan
• By relying on rare events, the Trojan could skip detection at functional test time.

• Detection Methods:
• Functional Testing

• Side Channel Testing (Delay, Dynamic Power, Leakage Power)

• Our solution: Using Convolutional Neural Networks

DARPA OMG: HW Trojan Detection

23

Crypto 

Hardware

Crypto 

Hardware



DARPA SSITH: IoT Malware Propagation and Confinement

• An infected node in IoT can infect whole network

• In addition to detection, confinement is non-trivial

• Isolating infected node is not effective and can hobble
performance

• Challenges: a) None of the epidemic control works consider
performance constraint; b) No malware detection works
consider confinement and has no perfect yield

• Solution: Depending on the malware propagation estimate
and node-level infection information are combined and
formulated as a stochastic optimal control problem and solved

Machine learning 

classifier1 – benign or 

malware (Probability)

...Hardware performance 

counters

Feature reduction

Machine learning 

classifier1 – benign or 

malware (Probability)

Probability of 

malware of 

device 1

Probability of 

malware of 

device 2

Probability of 

malware of 

device n

...

Decision maker 

(Malware confiner)

...

...

...

1

2

3

2

A
 r

a
n
d
o

m
 d

e
v

ic
e
 i
n

 a
n
 I

o
T

 n
e
tw

o
rk

 

e
m

b
e
d

d
e
d

 w
it

h
 m

a
lw

a
re

 d
e
te

c
ti

o
n

Decision maker

IoT network

X

4

Optimal sensor selection 

stochastic optimal controller

Modifying network to preserve network integrity and 

meet performance goals

Device 

1

Device 

2

Device 

n

T
y

p
e
 o

f c
la

ssifie
r a

n
d

 p
a
ra

m
ete

rs 

to
 u

s
e fo

r m
a
lw

a
re

 d
e
te

c
tio

n

Performance goals met or not
Network connectivity

Network 

connectivity 

information

Connectivity update

4

3

Machine learning 

classifier1 – benign or 

malware (Probability)

Malware detection accuracy/area for 

different ML classifiers 

Technique Proposed Imm.
disc

After 
1 cycle

No
disc

Greedy 
1

Greedy
2

Throughput 
(Mbps)

596.05 460.96 418.9
1

182.14 310.63 243.22

# of 
infected 
nodes (avg)

1.27 2.48 3.32 - 14.79 2.71

• Proposed technique keeps performance 
under bounds when confining malware

• Throughput as well as infected nodes are 
reduced



DARPA SHEILD: Logic Obfuscation to Prevent Reverse Engineering

EPIC, 2009
• Adding Random-based XOR/XNORs gates

FPGA Barriers, 2010
• Hiding inside FPGA (SRAM) LUTs

Strong Locking (SLL), 2012
• Using Interference Graphs + less 

observable/Controllable

Defenses! Attacks!

Sens/Justif, 2012
• Using Sensitization + Justification

SAT, 2015
• SAT-based De-obfuscation
• SAT-based De-camouflaging

SPS, 2016
• Using Signal Probability Skew (SPS)
• Can detect Flip-based Circuit + remove it
• Obtain Original Circuit

STT-based LUTs, 2016
• Using Non-Volatile STT-based LUTs
• No Overhead

Approximate-based Attacks, 2016-2017
• Appsat, Double-DIP, Approximate 

Investigation
• Finding the application of Keys

• SAT keys or Traditional keys
• Find Traditional Keys! then SPS or 

Bypass!

Attacks to Outsourced Fabricated ICs
• Before 2008
• IP Piracy
• Overproduction

• Counterfeiting
• Reverse Engineering

SARLock, 2016
• using Flip-based Structure
• At-most one Wrong Key for each DIP

Anti-SAT, 2016
• Adding Custom Logics to Flip Outputs
• At-most one Wrong Key for each DIP

And-Tree Insertion, 2016
• Adding And-Trees for Flipping the Outputs!
• At-most one Wrong Key for each DIP

Camoperturb, TTL, 2017
• Adding Custom Logics to Flip Outputs
• At-most one Wrong Key for each DIP

Cyclic Obfuscation, 2016
• Adding Loops in the Circuit

CycSAT, 2016
• Modifying SAT for Detecting Loops

• Delete or Ignore the Loops

HARDCycle Obfuscation, 2018
• Adding Hard Cycles + Non-removable 

Cycles 

• No Vulnerable against Attacks!

STT-based LUT Specified 

Placement Obfuscation, 2018
• Using Placement Methodologies for defensing 

against Different Attacks

• No Vulnerable against Attacks! 35



26

Sponsors



 

 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 

BOARD OF VISITORS 

 

Finance and Land Use Committee Meeting 

December 12, 2018 

 

AGENDA 

 

 

 

I. Call to Order 

 

II. Approval of Minutes for October 10, 2018 (ACTION) 

 

III. Strategic Matters 

A. FY 2020 Financial Outlook 

B. Room and Board Rates Preview 

 

IV. Operational Issues 

A. Schematic Design Review for IABR Clean Room (ACTION) 

B. Core Campus Project Update 

 

V. Police and Public Safety Update 

 

VI. Adjournment 

 

 

 

APPENDIX   Capital Projects Review (Stoplight)  

 
 











 

 

ITEM NUMBER III.A.: FY 2020 FINANCIAL OUTLOOK 

 

 

PURPOSE OF ITEM: To brief the Board of Visitors on updates to the FY 

2019 operating budget as well as to update the Board 

of Visitors on key budget assumptions that will be 

included in the development of the FY 2020 financial 

plan. 

 

 

APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE: FINANCE AND LAND USE 

 

 

BRIEF NARRATIVE:  The Interim Senior Vice President for 

Administration and Finance will provide an update 

on the FY 2019 operating and capital budget.  

Primarily those updates will be a review of the 

Commonwealth General Funds and Capital support.   

 

In addition, the presentation will include key budget 

development assumptions that will be shared and 

discussed with the Board of Visitors.  These key 

assumptions will be included in the development of 

the FY 2020 financial plan. 

 

  Further, there will be a discussion regarding 

upcoming financial matters that will come before the 

Board of Visitors for consideration and deliberation 

in the February 2019 – May 2019 timeframe. 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: For Board information only. 

 



 

 

ITEM NUMBER III.B.: ROOM AND BOARD RATES PREVIEW  

 

 

PURPOSE OF ITEM: To brief the Board of Visitors on the process and 

proposed changes to room and board rates for FY 

2020. 

 

 

APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE: FINANCE AND LAND USE  

 

 

BRIEF NARRATIVE:  The Board of Visitors will be provided an overview 

of the process of setting room and board rates for fall 

2019 and spring 2020.  Final proposed room and 

board rates will be provided in their entirety to the 

Board for discussion and approval at the next 

meeting on February 27, 2019. 

 

  Students are provided proposed rates prior to Board 

approval so that they may determine their level of 

interest in living on-campus, and the type of room 

and meal plan they would like to select.  Room and 

board rates are user specific and not mandatory for 

all students. 

 

 The room and board rates reported to SCHEV are for 

a freshman Traditional Double room with 

Independence meal plan.  Combined, these will be 

between 2.0%-3.0% increase over the FY 2019 rates.  

The full range of proposed rates will be provided at 

the February meeting. 

 

  

 

  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: For Board information only. 

 



ITEM NUMBER: IV.A.:   SCHEMATIC DESIGN REVIEW (ACTION) 

 

PURPOSE OF ITEM: This item requests BOV approval of the Schematic 

Designs for one capital project.  

 

APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE: FINANCE AND LAND USE  

  

 Under delegated capital authority procedures adopted by 

the BOV, staff shall present all capital projects to the 

Board at conclusion of the Schematic Design phase.  At 

this stage, the Board will assure themselves that each 

project remains on track to deliver the project previously 

authorized.   

 

 Under the procedures adopted by the board, staff is to 

present a detailed review of each project to two members 

of the Finance and Land Use Committee.  Staff will then 

make a shortened, summary presentation at the next 

scheduled full board meeting. 

 

 The capital project that has progressed through the 

Schematic Design phase.  Project data sheet follows. 

 
IABR Third Floor Fit-Out (Life Sciences Lab 

Building) Clean Room 

 

 Prior to the December BOV meeting, staff will have 

presented project as outlined above.  At the December 

meeting, staff will summarize the renovation project. 

 

  

 STAFF RECOMMENDATION: After reviewing the respective schematic design, staff 

recommends Board approval of the above listed project to 

proceed through design and into construction. 



 
 

 
Title:    IABR Third Floor Fit-Out (Life Sciences Lab Building) Clean Room 

 

Brief Description: Mason is currently in the process of fitting out the 3rd floor of the Institute for 

Advanced Biomedical Research on the Science & Technology campus.   

 

Approximately 15,000 SF of space was completed in May 2018 providing BSL-2 

wet labs, shared lab support spaces, offices, and collaboration areas to support life 

sciences research. This area supports the work of the Institute and its partners 

provides functionalities such as light organic/synthetic chemistry.  The newly 

completed area also provides additional space to support the co-location of bio-based 

bioengineering with CAPMM and other life sciences research. 

 

In October of 2017 the Board of Visitors approved a major  modification to the 

project that added a 3rd floor clean room solution to meet programmatic needs for a 

Nanofabrication Clean Room capable of supporting the fabrication of micron and 

sub-micron microelectronic, photonic, micromechanical and microfluidic devices 

and systems. The 2,785 SF Clean Room Solution includes the following 

programmatic areas: 

 960 SF Class 1,000 (ISO 6 Equivalent) Non-sterile clean room with four (4) 

fume hoods 

 95  SF Class 100,000 (ISO 8 Equivalent) vestibule with gowning/lockers 

 587 SF characterization lab  

 507 SF of support spaces 

      

The clean room location on the 3rd floor of the Institute for Advanced Biomedical 

Research and within the footprint of the 3rd floor fit-out project means there will be 

directly adjacent wet lab bench space that may be used as shared open lab space to 

support clean room or compatible activities and research. 

 

 

Scope SF: 2,785 SF  

 

Total Project Cost:  $3,256,930.00  
 

Funding Sources: $848,431 General Funds  

 $716,069 Base Building Funds 

 $1,692,430 Institutional Funds 

 

 

Schedule: Contractor Prequalification Submission Due December 2018  

 Issue for Bid   December 2018 

 Notice to Proceed   February 2019 

 Occupancy    February 2020 

 

Justification: The clean room function is critical to support the research that will be performed 

within the Third Floor Finish Out project area.  

 

  

 



 

 
 

 



ITEM NUMBER IV.B. CORE CAMPUS PROJECT UPDATE 

  

 

PURPOSE OF ITEM: This item updates Core Campus Project. 

 

 

APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE: FINANCE AND LAND USE  

 

 

BRIEF NARRATIVE: Construct/Renovate Robinson Hall, New Academic and 

Research Facility and Harris Theater - Phase 1B work 

which includes Robinson B and Harris Theater enabling 

projects, asbestos abatement and demolition of Robinson A, 

site utility relocations and mass excavation and sheeting 

and shoring for the new academic building site, is about 

30% complete and will be complete by March 1, 2019.  

Phase 2/3 working drawings is in the permit process with 

DEB (formerly BCOM), permit approval is anticipated 

prior to start of Phase 2 construction in spring 2019.  Full 

GMP is trending within 1% of approved budget and we 

anticipate award of full GMP by December 19, 2018.  We 

anticipate construction work on Phase 2 will begin March 

1, 2019. 

 

Improve Utility Distribution Infrastructure Fairfax -  

Construction work is approximately 50% complete on  

phases 1A (near Thompson Hall), 1B (south of Johnson 

Center) and 1C (Patriot Circle to Eagle Bank Arena).  Phase 

1A is slightly behind schedule due to unforeseen 

underground utility conflicts which requires revised pipe 

alignment.  We are currently assessing schedule impacts for 

Phase 1A.  Phases 1B and 1C is projected to be completed 

by end of this calendar year.  Fencing has been erected for 

start of work in phase 2A (south of College Hall and 

Buchannan Hall).  Phase 2B (south of West Building) work 

will be started and substantially completed during winter 

break 2018/2019.  Fencing for Phase 3 (Wilkins Plaza 

extension from clock tower to Southside) will be erected 

over winter break 2018/2019. Work in Phase 3 is targeted 

for completion in late 2019.   

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: For Board information only 



ITEM NUMBER V.:                                 POLICE AND PUBLIC SAFETY UPDATE 

 

 

PURPOSE OF THE ITEM:  To highlight the programs, achievements and goals  

                                                                       of the George Mason University Police and Public 

                                                                       Safety Department. 

 

 

APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE:             FINANCE AND LAND USE      

 

 

BRIEF NARRATIVE:                              The George Mason University Police and Public  

      Safety Department continues to enhance its training,  

      technology, and outreach to the Mason community  

      in order to increase our professional capabilities and  

      to help us improve our effectiveness and  

      transparency within the campus community. 

   

  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   For Board information only.  

                                                                         

 



 

Appendix:  Capital Projects Review 

 

This section provides the regular report on the status of capital construction projects on all three university 

campuses.  The project “stoplight” chart provides a summary review.  For purposes of black and white printing, all 

stoplights are “Green” unless otherwise noted. Scoring definitions: 

 

 “Red”: Likely to exceed approved budget, schedule, or scope 

 “Yellow”: At risk to exceed approved budget, schedule, or scope, but can still recover 

 “Green”: Within approved budget, schedule, or scope 

 “White”: on-hold 

 

 

Changes/updates since the October 2018 report include: 

 Health Sciences – Academic VII –We are currently in the closeout phase of the main project. The 

construction of the MRI suite is completed and is in the close-out phase.  

 

 Construct/Renovate Robinson Hall, New Academic and Research Facility and Harris Theater - 

Phase 1B work which includes Robinson B and Harris Theater enabling projects, asbestos 

abatement and demolition of Robinson A, site utility relocations and mass excavation and sheeting 

and shoring for the new academic building site, is about 30% complete and will be complete by 

March 1, 2019.  Phase 2/3 working drawings is in the permit process with DEB, permit approval 

is anticipated prior to start of Phase 2 construction in spring 2019.  Full GMP is trending within 

1% of approved budget and we anticipate award of full GMP by start of winter break 2018/2019.  

We anticipate construction work on Phase 2 will begin late February 2019. 

 

 Improve Utility Distribution Infrastructure Fairfax - Construction work is approximately 50% 

complete on phases 1A (near Thompson Hall), 1B (south of Johnson Center) and 1C (Patriot Circle 

to Eagle Bank Arena).  Phase 1A is slightly behind schedule due to unforeseen underground utility 

conflicts which requires revised pipe alignment.  We are currently assessing schedule impacts for 

Phase 1A.  Phases 1B and 1C will be completed by end of this calendar year.  Fencing has been 

erected for start of work in phase 2A (south of College Hall and Buchanan Hall).  Phase 2B (south 

of West Building) work will be started and substantially completed during winter break 2018/2019.  

Fencing for Phase 3 (Wilkins Plaza extension from clock tower to Southside) will be erected over 

winter break 2018/2019. 
 

 PPEA Discovery Hall Ph. II & Fit-out/Clean Room –The Certificate of Occupancy for the Fit-out 

project was received May 2018. The Clean Room Project is in design. Occupancy is estimated for 

February 2020.  

 

 Into Phase II –The project was completed by the Fall 2018 semester.  

 

 Eagle Bank Arena – The lighting replacement and scoreboard projects have been completed and 

closed. The roofing replacement project is under construction but the schedule has been hampered 

by weather delays. The media and dressing rooms renovations are substantially complete. The 

locker room replacement is under construction and is expected to be complete during December 

2019.   

 



 Hylton Performing Arts Center Addition – Construction is in progress and is scheduled to be 

completed by August 2019.   

 

 Telecom Infrastructure – The University has selected an Architect/Engineer for this project 

specializing in IT infrastructure projects and is in the negotiation phase of procurement.  Design 

work should commence soon.   

 

 Bull Run Labs (Mech and BioChem) – Mech Lab is complete and operational. BioChem Lab 

renovations will be completed for the Spring 2019 semester.  

 

 Life Sciences Bull Run Hall IIIB – The University anticipates issuing an RFP for 

Architect/Engineer selection in early 2019. The funding amount approved by the Commonwealth 

is $58,946,302 which is significantly below the $67M estimate of probable cost developed by 

Mason based upon DEB historical project costs.  
 

 

 

  



 

Project # Project Name
Scope(sf) 

New

Scope(sf) 

Reno
Total Budget

Budget 

Status
Schedule Scope

Construction 

Start date
Occupancy date

Construction 

% Complete

Construction

17999-000 Health Sciences - Academic VII (Peterson Hall) 164,880 74,163,039$      6/2/2015 1/8/2018 99%

A6247-020 Into Phase II 16,555 3,400,000$        12/15/2016 7/15/2018 99%

Varies Bull Run Labs (Mech and BioChem) 7,204 3,000,000$        3/15/2017 1/15/2019 80%

Varies Eagle Bank Arena Upgrades 82,000 4,845,000$        12/1/2016 12/15/2018 90%

18011-000 Hylton Center Addition* 17,082 360 13,481,383$      8/1/2018 8/1/2019 25%

18207-000 Renovate Robinson Hall and Harris Theater (Phased)* 217,726 23,161 119,631,000$    7/1/2018 12/31/2021 11%

18208-000 Improve Utility Distribution Infrastructure Fairfax (Phased)* 51,539,000$      8/1/2018 12/31/2021 9%

Design

17848-000 PPEA Discovery Hall Ph II & Fitout/Clean Room 18,000 6,115,000$        3/15/2019 2/15/2020 N/A

Planning    

18000-000 Life Sciences - Bull Run Add DPB* 100,000 5,000 58,946,302$      TBD TBD N/A

18339-000 Telecom Infrastructure* 10,053,000$      TBD TBD N/A

A8247-027 Johnson Center HVAC Repairs 3,049,500$        TBD TBD N/A

A8247-024 Hylton Center HVAC Repairs 112,352 4,025,000$        TBD TBD N/A

Grand Total This Report 517,688 246,632 352,248,224

Data as of November 2018

* Pool Funded Project; will require DPB/BCOM approval for release of funds after Preliminary Design

Page 1 of 1

FUND SOURCE KEY

RB: Revenue Bond Red: Likely to exceed approved budget/schedule/scope

GF: General Fund Yellow: At risk to exceed approved budget/schedule/scope

VDOT: Virginia Dept of Transportation Green: Within approved budget/schedule/scope

CNTY: Fairfax County

SGR: Self Generated Revenue

SF: Student Fee

UM: University Mall

GIFT: Private Gifts

MR: Maintenance Reserve

ICR: Research Indirect Cost Recovery

Facilities Projects Listing 

STOPLIGHT KEY

Y

v



Board of  Visitors

Finance and Land Use Committee
George Mason University

Office of  the Senior Vice President
December 12, 2018



Slide 2

Happening @ MASON!
EXCELLENCE: 

Thousands of  hours of  
practice paid off  

when College of  Visual 
and Performing Arts

student Crystal Golden 
placed first in the 

graduate/advanced college 
women category of  the 2018 

National Association of  
Teachers of  Singing vocal 

competitions.

RESEARCH: The Chronicle of  Higher 
Education recognized George Mason University 
as a Top 10 recipient of  funding from 
the National Endowment for the Humanities in the 
past decade, receiving funding for 37 projects 
amounting in a total of  $5,801,343.

SUSTAINABILITY: Ranked in 
the Top 25 dining programs in the 
country by the Daily Meal, Mason 
Dining has emphasized composting 
and recycling, as well as strawless
dining halls, vegan and vegetarian 
options, an on-campus greenhouse, 
and local farmers market events.



Slide 3

We’re Primed!

&



Slide 4

FY 2020 Financial Outlook
Tom Calhoun

Interim Senior Vice President



Slide 5

Operating, $136.1

Financial Aid*, 
$22.6

Capital Improvements, 
$33.7

Mason Capital Funds, 
$17.1

Tuition, $409.3

Mandatory Student 
Services & Activity Fees, 

$97.1

Room & Board, $76.5

Community & User 
Service Fee, $86.2

Sponsored Research, 
$115.3

Philanthropic Activities, 
$65.0

pie chart $ in  millions
Capital,   

2%

All Other Activities, 
25%

VA State Funding, 
18%

Enrollment 
Related Fees, 55%

*Commonwealth budget approved an additional $4.2M for in-state, undergraduate financial aid

FY 2019 Revenue Budget $1.06B



Slide 6

*Commonwealth budget approved an additional $4.2M for in-state, undergraduate financial aid

FY 2019 Expense Budget $1.06B

pie chart $ in  millions

Educational & General, 
$570.3

Student Services & 
Activity Fees, $97.1

Room & Board, $76.5

Financial Aid*, $22.6

Capital Improvements, 
$46.4

Research Contracts and 
Grants, $115.3

Community & User 
Service (Non-E&G), 

$65.7

Foundation Support for 
Mason, $65.0

Enrollment Related, 
72%

All Other Activities, 
23%

Capital,   5%



Slide 7

In-State

80%

Fall 2018 Head Count~37,000
Undergraduates Full Time

70% 69%

Mason Student Demographics

In-State Undergraduates Full Time



Slide 8

Mason Student Demographics

First

36%

Under A

51% 13%

Underrepresented 
Racial/Ethnic

Age 25 or older
At Entry

First
Generation

Fall 2018 Undergraduates ~26,000



Slide 9

Growing Student Enrollment

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019*

Fall Headcount Annualized FTE
Source: Office of Institutional Research & Effectiveness, GMU      *preliminary 2019 data 



FY 2019 Financial Disparity

$8,729
$8,062 $7,396 $7,188 $7,057 $7,686

$5,687

$14,148 $17,570

$12,247 $11,595 $7,047

$12,521

$9,060

$0

$5,000

$10,000

$15,000

$20,000

$25,000

$30,000

General Fund In-State Tuition

$25,632
$22,877

$19,643 $18,783

$14,104

$20,208

$14,747

Average 
w/o 

Mason

Note:  Enrollment numbers per Submission Summary, 2017 Enrollment Projections & Degree Estimates 
(http://research.schev.edu/enrollment/projections/submissionsummary.asp) and General Fund Appropriations Per Chapter 2.  Due to a strong demand, George Mason 
University has exceeded its original enrollment projections.Slide 10

http://research.schev.edu/enrollment/projections/submissionsummary.asp


Compensation – Proposed strategic retention, 
Promotion & Tenure, Healthcare & Pension Liability

Contract escalation

President’s Strategic Funds –Allocations toward goals in 
the university’s strategic plan 

Budget Requests – Investments in critical programs

Mason needs to make investments to attract and retain 
students, faculty and staff and to advance its strategic 
priorities…

Door Openers ~$32 - 35M

Estimated GF FY2020 ~$11 - 13M

Estimated Budget Gap ~$21 - 24M

FY 2020 Macro Expense Outlook

Slide 11



Slide 12

Mason prioritizes accessibility, affordability and quality for our students.

INCREASING INVESTMENTS REVENUES

Compensation
Promotion & Tenure

Health Care
Pension

Operating Expenses

Critical Retention
Strategic Initiatives

IT Infrastructure
Student Experience

Undergrad Financial Aid
Research

COMMMONWEALTH 
SUPPORT

TUITION

OTHER ACTIVITIES
Philanthropy

Research
Auxiliary Enterprises

Self Supporting Activities

FY 2020 Macro Budget Drivers



Slide 13

Tuition & Fees

Books & 
Supplies 

Room & Board

Budgeting for College

Life



WEDNESDAY
February 27, 2019 

THURSDAY
May 2, 2019 

*Room & Board 
Rates
Commonwealth 
Budget Update
Human Resources & 
Payroll Annual Report
FY 2020 Financial Plan

*Operating Budget, 
Tuition & Fees
*Six Year Capital Plan
*Span of  Control 
Audited Financial 
Statements

WEDNESDAY
April 3, 2019 

Informational Only
Commonwealth 
Budget Update
FY 2020 Financial Plan
Tuition Strategy

Finance & Land Use Committee Meetings

*Action Items require Board ApprovalSlide 14



Slide 15

Room & Board Rates



Slide 16

Mason Housing & Dining Fast Facts

38 residence halls
Over 6,350 beds @ ~100% occupancy
762 students in 13 Living Learning Communities
Grad housing at SciTech

More than 6,750 student meal plans
Over 3.6 million meals served
Three Fairfax dining halls, one SMSC dining hall
24 hour dining available
27 retail dining options
Locally sourced food including Mason Greenhouse
Sustainable dining



Housing and Dining 
staff develop 

proposed rates

Review proposed 
rates with Student 

Government 
representatives

Upperclass 
students apply for 
housing in January 
and select rooms 

in February

Final presentation 
of rates/plans to 
BOV for approval 
February 27, 2019

September

November

January/February
February

Setting Room & Board Rates

Slide 17



Well-BeingSense of CommunityInvolvementAccessibilityAffordability

Slide 18

Guiding Principles



Slide 19

Rising Cost Pressures
Housing & Residence Life and Mason Dining

are self-sustaining entities without any Commonwealth or Tuition Support

INCREASING COSTS REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES
Contractual Food & Labor Costs

Compensation Increases
Health Care & Pension
Deferred Maintenance
Materials & Grounds

Debt Service

HOUSING RATES
DINING PLANS

Fees are user specific and
not mandatory.



FY 2019 Room & Board Rates Comparison

7,248 7,258 
6,240 6,970 6,364 6,063 

5,220 

5,090 4,800 
5,350 4,490 

4,190 4,140 
4,872 

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

 14,000

 16,000

ODU CWM UVA MASON VCU VT JMU

FY
 2

01
9 

RO
O

M
 &

 B
O

AR
D 

RA
TE

S

FY 2019 Room & Board Rates
Freshmen Traditional Double and 

Independence Plan

Room Board

12,338 12,058 11,590 11,460 10,554 10,203 10,092

Slide 20

Some Commonwealth of  Virginia Universities Some Regional Universities

10,582 9,996 
11,100 

7,425 7,400 6,970 

5,897 
6,104 4,600 

5,064 4,520 
4,490 

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

 14,000

 16,000

Georgetown
University

American
University

George
Washington
University

University of
Maryland

University of
Maryland,
Baltimore

George Mason
University

FY
 2

01
9 

RO
O

M
 &

 B
O

AR
D 

RA
TE

S

FY 2019 Room & Board Rates
Freshmen Traditional Double and 

Independence Plan

Room Board

16,479 16,100 15,700 11,46012,489 11,920



Slide 21

Operational Issues
Frank Strike

Vice President, Facilities



Schematic Design Review

Slide 22

Institute for Advanced Biomedical Research (IABR) 
Third Floor Fit-Out (Life Sciences Lab Building) 

Clean Room – Schematic Design

Brief  Description: Nanofabrication Clean Room capable of  supporting the fabrication 
of  micron and sub-micron microelectronic, photonic, 
micromechanical and microfluidic devices and systems. 

Scope SF: 2,785 SF 

Total Project Cost: $3,256,930

Funding Sources: $848,431 General Funds
$716,069 Base Building Funds
$1,692,430 Institutional Funds

Schedule: Prequalification's Due December 2018
Issue for Bid December 2018
Notice to Proceed February 2019
Occupancy February 2020



Board Recommendation

Slide 23

The Finance & Land Use Committee recommends
approval by the Board of Visitors of the University’s
schematic design for the Institute for Advanced
Biomedical Research (IABR) Clean Room as outlined
in the Board Book.

MOTION: 

SECOND: 



Slide 24

Core Campus Project
Cathy Pinskey, AIA

Program Director, Facilities



Slide 25

• The new building, to be constructed on the site of the existing Robinson Hall, will be a state-of-the-
art, six-story, 218,000-square-foot structure with classrooms, workplaces, meeting rooms, 
community space and the Mason Innovation Exchange. It also will be the central academic center 
for the Colleges of Humanities and Social Sciences.

• The Harris Theater will become a standalone building. A terraced courtyard/amphitheater will sit 
between the theater and the new building.

• Classrooms, equipped with white boards and video screens, will hold between 27 and 120 students.

• The largely state-funded $170 million undertaking, which also includes the rebuilding of the Wilkins 
Plaza and much-needed underground utility work, started on schedule in the summer of 2018 with 
the vacating and demolition of Robinson Hall A to be complete by Spring of 2019.

• The utility work will upgrade the university’s heating and cooling systems, and some IT 
infrastructure.

• The new building is to be completed in the spring of 2021. 

Fast Facts



Robinson Hall Replacement



Slide 27

Notes:                                  
• 98% State Funded – about $2M funded by Mason

• Phase 1B GMP was awarded August 30, 2018

• Full GMP to be awarded within established budget by December 19, 2018

Budget and Schedule – Robinson Hall Replacement

July 2016 - Capital 
Budget Request

March 2017 - BCOM 
Target

July 2017 - BCOM 
Approved Schematic

June 2018 - BCOM 
Approved Final 

Budget
SCOPE SF: 241,000 GSF 241,000 GSF 240,887 GSF 242,918 GSF
Budget $112,000,000 $108,337,000 $113,040,000 $119,631,000 
Schedule

Design Complete: Phased Fall 2018 January 2019
Construction Start: April 2018 October 2018 Fall 2018 Summer 2018
Occupancy: Summer 2021 January 2021 Spring 2021 Spring 2021
Demo & Harris Complete: May 2022 Fall 2021 Spring 2022 Spring 2022



Slide 28

Major Milestones – Robinson Hall Replacement



Southeast view



Slide 30

Relocation of site utilities at new building footprint New Transformer and Generator for Harris Theater

New Chilled Water, High Temp Hot Water and Domestic Construction Laydown area in site of removed Student Apts.



Utility Infrastructure Improvements





Slide 33

Notes:
• 43% State Funded – 57% funded by Mason

• Phase 1 Early Release GMP was awarded August 2018

• Full GMP was awarded within established budget September 28, 2018

July 2016 - Capital 
Budget Request

March 2017 - BCOM 
Target

July 2017 - BCOM 
Approved Schematic

Mason Scope Change 
to add HTHW at 

Housing May 2018

May 2018 - BCOM 
Approved Final 

Budget
SCOPE SF: N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Budget $49.3M $46M $48.8M $2.4M $51,539,000 
Schedule

Design Complete: June 2019 June 2019 Fall 2018 Fall 2018 Summer 2018
Construction Start: August 2018 Phased Phased Phased Phased 
Construction Complete September 2021 Phased Phased Phased Phased 
Final Completion: December 2021 December 2021 December 2021 December 2021 December 2021

Budget and Schedule – Utility Infrastructure



Slide 34

Major Milestones – Utility Infrastructure







Slide 37

Phase 1A – New Chilled Water loop at Aquia Lane Phase 1B – New Chilled Water Alignment to EBA

Phase 1C – Existing Chilled Water S/R replaced to EBA Phase 2A – New Chilled Water Alignment to EBA



Slide 38

• Safety of Faculty, Staff and Students – extensive construction site radiating from middle of campus –
very large fenced perimeter. 

• Clear communication is essential - especially as coordinated between the two projects - with the 
university marketing & communications department and all stakeholders.
Website established: construction.gmu.edu 

• Tight construction footprint throughout the campus, impacting pedestrian paths, fire access and 
service/repair.

• High likelihood of encountering unknown conditions in conjunction with underground utilities (= budget 
and reliability risk)

• Complicated schedule with a multitude of phases and sub-phases.

• Campus growing fatigued with ongoing construction activities – 3 years of construction – working with 
Events Management to schedule activities around project milestones.

Core Campus Project - Challenges



Slide 39

Police & Public Safety
Carl Rowan, Jr.

Chief  of  Police and Assistant Vice President for Public Safety



Slide 40

George Mason Department of  Police & Public Safety

Established 1981

Staffing:
52 Sworn Officers
45 Civilian Positions

Jurisdiction:
Fairfax, Arlington, and 
Prince William Counties

Annual Budget: $7.6M



New Community Policing & Safety Initiatives

We have placed a priority on obtaining Crisis Intervention Training 
(CIT) for officers to stress the value of  de-escalation strategies when 
interacting with students and staff  in challenging situations.

Emergency first aid training is also a priority because we are often the 
first to respond to the scene of  an injury or illness.

I am working with University Life to create the Community Policing 
Council (CPC) comprised of  key campus stakeholders to improve 
communications with the Mason Police and help us get candid feedback 
on our programs.

Slide 41



Security Technology Updates

The entire communications infrastructure is being replaced (radios, 
CAD, phones) with upgraded digital equipment that should serve us 
well  for the next 15 years or more.

Officer-worn body cameras have been issued, providing additional data 
for officer training and accountability.

The Mason Police continue to take a leadership role in developing new 
strategies for the effective use of  drones in support of  law enforcement.

Slide 42



Enhanced Capabilities & Recognitions

GMU is becoming known as 
a training hub for the 

region’s law enforcement 
agencies such as VSP, Metro 
Transit, Arlington County 
PD,  FBI HRT.  Intense, 
realistic Active Threat 

training has also included 
students from GMU’s 
Forensics Program.

We now operate three K9 
Teams, one explosives dog and 

two patrol dogs. Numerous 
agencies have sent their K9 

teams to train at Mason. Over 
Spring Break, we will host the 

Iron Dog program at the 
Fairfax campus.

Captain Emily Ross recently 
became the first-ever Mason 
Police Officer to be selected 
by the FBI to attend the FBI 

National Academy, a 
residential 10 week program 

that is the global gold 
standard for law enforcement 

executive training.

Training Hub K9 Teams FBI Select

Slide 43



Crime Report Data

*(Crime statistics include all reported crimes from all campuses combined; including anonymous reports)

Slide 44

https://police.gmu.edu/central-records/annual-security-report/



Thank You!

Slide 45

Winter Graduation
Thursday, December 20, EagleBank Arena

Winter Break
Last Day in Office: Friday, December 21, 2018
Return to Office: Monday, January 7, 2019



Slide 46

Appendices



Capital Projects Review – Stoplight Chart

Slide 47

Project # Project Name Scope(sf) 
New

Scope(sf) 
Reno

Total Budget Budget 
Status

Schedule Scope Construction 
Start date

Occupancy date Construction 
% Complete

Construction
17999-000 Health Sciences - Academic VII (Peterson Hall) 164,880 74,163,039$      6/2/2015 1/8/2018 99%
A6247-020 Into Phase II 16,555 3,400,000$        12/15/2016 7/15/2018 99%
Varies Bull Run Labs (Mech and BioChem) 7,204 3,000,000$        3/15/2017 1/15/2019 80%
Varies Eagle Bank Arena Upgrades 82,000 4,845,000$        12/1/2016 12/15/2018 90%
18011-000 Hylton Center Addition* 17,082 360 13,481,383$      8/1/2018 8/1/2019 25%
18207-000 Renovate Robinson Hall and Harris Theater (Phased)* 217,726 23,161 119,631,000$    7/1/2018 12/31/2021 11%
18208-000 Improve Utility Distribution Infrastructure Fairfax (Phased)* 51,539,000$      8/1/2018 12/31/2021 9%

Design
17848-000 PPEA Discovery Hall Ph II & Fitout/Clean Room 18,000 6,115,000$        3/15/2019 2/15/2020 N/A

Planning    

18000-000 Life Sciences - Bull Run Add DPB* 100,000 5,000 58,946,302$      TBD TBD N/A
18339-000 Telecom Infrastructure* 10,053,000$      TBD TBD N/A
A8247-027 Johnson Center HVAC Repairs 3,049,500$        TBD TBD N/A
A8247-024 Hylton Center HVAC Repairs 112,352 4,025,000$        TBD TBD N/A

Grand Total This Report 517,688 246,632 352,248,224
Data as of November 2018

* Pool Funded Project; will require DPB/BCOM approval for release of funds after Preliminary Design
Page 1 of 1

Red: Likely to exceed approved budget/schedule/scope
Yellow: At risk to exceed approved budget/schedule/scope
Green: Within approved budget/schedule/scope

Facilities Projects Listing 

STOPLIGHT KEY

Y

v






















































































	Board of Visitors Meeting Agenda for December 12, 2018 - Draft
	Full Board Agenda - 12.12.2018 - Final.pdf

	Continental Breakfast
	Executive Committee
	Executive Committee Agenda
	Executive Committee Agenda - 12.12.2018.pdf


	Audit Committee
	audit committee - december 12, 2018.pdf

	Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee
	academic programs, diversity and university community committee ￢ﾀﾓ december 12, 2018.pdf

	Development Committee
	development committee  - december 12, 2018.pdf

	Research Committee
	research committee - december 12, 2018.pdf

	Finance and Land Use Committee
	finance and land use committee - december 12, 2018.pdf

	Lunch
	I.  Call to Order
	II.  Approval of Minutes (ACTION ITEMS)
	A.  Executive Committee Meeting Minutes for October 10, 2018
	Minutes-October 10, 2018-Executive Committee.pdf

	B.  Meeting Minutes for October 10, 2018
	Minutes-October 10, 2018 - Full Board.pdf


	III.  Rector's Report
	IV.  President's Report
	V.  Provost's Report
	VI.  Committee Reports
	A.  Development Committee
	B.  Audit Committee
	C.  Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee
	D.  Research Committee
	E.  Finance and Land Use Committee
	1.  Schematic Design Review for IABR Clean Room (ACTION ITEM)

	VII.  Closed Session
	VIII.  Adjournment

	lblFacultyTerm9Assistant: 1
	lblFacultyTerm9Instructor: 0
	lblFacultyTerm9Total: 3
	lblFacultyTerm9Admin: 0
	lblFacultyTerm9Professor: 2
	lblFacultyTerm9Associate: 0
	lblRenewTerm9Assistant: 17
	lblRenewTerm9Instructor: 6
	lblRenewTerm9Total: 32
	lblRenewTerm9Admin: 0
	lblRenewTerm9Professor: 3
	lblRenewTerm9Associate: 6
	lblFacultyTerm12Instructor: 2
	lblFacultyTenure9Instructor: 0
	lblFacultyTenure12Instructor: 0
	lblFacultyResearchInstructor: 1
	lblFacultyGrantInstructor: 1
	lblFacultyTerm12Assistant: 3
	lblFacultyTenure9Assistant: 0
	lblFacultyTenure12Assistant: 0
	lblFacultyResearchAssistant: 3
	lblFacultyGrantAssistant: 3
	lblFacultyTerm12Associate: 1
	lblFacultyTenure9Associate: 0
	lblFacultyTenure12Associate: 0
	lblFacultyResearchAssociate: 1
	lblFacultyGrantAssociate: 1
	lblFacultyTerm12Professor: 0
	lblFacultyTenure9Professor: 0
	lblFacultyTenure12Professor: 0
	lblFacultyResearchProfessor: 0
	lblFacultyGrantProfessor: 1
	lblFacultyTerm12Admin: 34
	lblFacultyTenure9Admin: 0
	lblFacultyTenure12Admin: 0
	lblFacultyResearchAdmin: 0
	lblFacultyGrantAdmin: 3
	lblFacultyTerm12Total: 40
	lblFacultyTenure9Total: 0
	lblFacultyTenure12Total: 0
	lblFacultyResearchTotal: 5
	lblFacultyGrantTotal: 9
	lblRenewTerm12Instructor: 12
	lblRenewTenure9Instructor: 0
	lblRenewTenure12Instructor: 0
	lblRenewTerm12Assistant: 13
	lblRenewTenure9Assistant: 0
	lblRenewTenure12Assistant: 0
	lblRenewTerm12Associate: 3
	lblRenewTenure9Associate: 0
	lblRenewTenure12Associate: 0
	lblRenewTerm12Professor: 1
	lblRenewTenure9Professor: 0
	lblRenewTenure12Professor: 0
	lblRenewTerm12Admin: 0
	lblRenewTenure9Admin: 0
	lblRenewTenure12Admin: 0
	lblRenewTerm12Total: 29
	lblRenewTenure9Total: 0
	lblRenewTenure12Total: 0
	lblRenewInstructorTotal: 18
	lblRenewAssistantTotal: 30
	lblRenewAssociateTotal: 9
	lblRenewProfessorTotal: 4
	lblRenewAdminTotal: 0
	lblRenewTotalTotal: 61
	lblSepResignation: 32
	lblSepRetirement: 9
	lblSepContract: 2
	lblSepDeceased: 0
	lblSepTotal: 43
	lblOtherAnnLeavePay: 0
	lblOtherAnnLeavewithoutPay: 1
	lblOtherAnnTitleChange: 19
	lblOtherAnnConversion: 1
	lblOtherAnnTenureClock: 2
	lblOtherAnnTotal: 23
	lblBOVDate: December 12, 2018


